

# Evidence for a biological control-induced regime shift between floating and submerged invasive plant dominance in South Africa

Emily Frances Strange January 2017

THESIS

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Philosophy

at

Rhodes University

### Abstract

South Africa has a long history battling the establishment and spread of invasive floating macrophytes. The negative consequences of these are costly both economically and ecologically. They form dense mats on the water's surface that deplete resources such as light and oxygen to the submerged community, which creates anoxic conditions, reduces biodiversity and limits access to freshwater. The past thirty years of South African invasive plant research and the implementation of nationwide biological control programmes has led to widespread control of these species in many degraded systems. Such initiatives are aimed at restoring access to potable freshwater and increasing native biodiversity. However, in recent years, where there has been a decline in floating invasive plant species has been observed. Species such as Brazilian waterweed (*Egeria densa* (Planch.) (Hydrocharitaceae)) and Eurasian watermilfoil (*Myriophyllum spicatum* (L.) (Haloragaceae)) have been recorded in South African freshwater systems, posing significant threats to aquatic ecosystems.

This thesis proposes that the biological control of floating invasive plants, which occurs in numerous dams and rivers nationwide, is the catalyst of a regime shift from floating invasive to submerged invasive plant dominance. Regime shifts are large and often sudden changes in the key structure and functioning of ecosystems, and studies into their occurrence and driving mechanisms broadens understanding of community structures and can guide effective resource management. In order to explore the existence of this new regime shift, a multi-platform approach using controlled experiments and ecological modelling techniques was employed. A model system was created consisting of a floating invasive (*Pistia stratiot*es L. (Araceae)), a submerged invasive (*E. densa*) and an ecologically analogous submerged

i

native plant species (*Lagarosiphon major* (Ridl.) Moss (Hydrocharitaceae)). A suite of experiments was conducted to explore the interactions between the floating and submerged plants under varying regimes of floating plant biological control and levels of nutrient loading.

These experiments revealed a competitive advantage of the invasive *E. densa* over the native *L. major* that increased by 86% under heavy nutrient loading. The relative growth rate and accumulated biomass of *E. densa* was significantly higher for plants grown in the presence of biologically controlled *P. stratiotes* (compared to insect free plants). This demonstrates a high capacity for the invasive *E. densa* to capitalise on resources made newly available through the biological control of the floating plants. In contrast, the native *L. major* fared poorly when grown in the presence of the floating *P. stratiotes*, regardless of applied biological control measures. The experimental observations were then used to parameterise a mathematical model, built to provide a holistic understanding of the individually assessed interactions which work together as the driving mechanisms underpinning the newly identified regime shift.

This thesis utilised a multi-platform approach to build the first body of evidence in support of a newly recognised regime shift between floating invasive and submerged invasive plant dominance, as driven by biological control. The results indicate that a reduction in the nutrient loading of South Africa's freshwater systems will reduce negative impacts of submerged invasive macrophytes, whilst increasing system resilience against future invasion. The evidence presented has the potential to better inform management of South Africa's freshwater systems and highlights the importance of integrating multi-trophic interactions when considering future invasive plant management. This research also opens up a multitude of possibilities for studies into submerged plant invasion mechanisms and resilience of native macrophyte communities in South Africa, and further afield.

ii

# Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Table of contents	iii
Acknowledgments	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Invasive species	1
1.1.1. Establishment	2
1.1.2. Management	5
1.2 Vulnerable systems	7
1.2.1. Aquatic invasions	7
1.2.2 South African freshwater systems	9
1.3 Regime shifts	13
1.3.1 Theory of regime shifts and hysteresis	12
1.3.2 Resilience	16
1.4 Competition	17
1.4.1 Competitive interactions	17
1.5 <i>Egeria densa</i> (Planch.) (Hydrocharitaceae)	19
1.5.1 Ecology, physiology and origins	18
1.5.2 Invasive distribution and negative impacts	20
1.6 Lagarosiphon major (Ridl.) Moss (Hydrocharitaceae)	21

1.7 Pistia stratiotes (L.) (Araceae)	23
1.8 Hypotheses, aims and objectives	24
Chapter 2: Competition between two Hydrocharitaceae; The nat	ive
Lagarosiphon major (Ridl.) Moss and the invasive Egeria densa (Planch)	28
2.1. Introduction	28
2.2 Materials and methods	32
2.2.1 Experimental design	33
2.2.2 Data analyses	35
2.3 Results	37
2.4 Discussion	43
Chapter 3: A mesocosm study exploring the shift between floating a	nd
submerged invasive plant dominance	51
3.1. Introduction	51
<ul><li>3.1. Introduction</li><li>3.2 Materials and methods</li></ul>	51 57
<ul><li>3.1. Introduction</li><li>3.2 Materials and methods</li><li>3.2.1 Experimental design</li></ul>	51 57 57
<ul> <li>3.1. Introduction</li> <li>3.2 Materials and methods</li> <li>3.2.1 Experimental design</li> <li>3.2.2 Measurements</li> </ul>	51 57 57 60
<ul> <li>3.1. Introduction</li> <li>3.2 Materials and methods</li> <li>3.2.1 Experimental design</li> <li>3.2.2 Measurements</li> <li>3.2.3 Data analyses</li> </ul>	51 57 57 60 62
<ul> <li>3.1. Introduction</li> <li>3.2 Materials and methods</li> <li>3.2.1 Experimental design</li></ul>	51 57 57 60 62 63
<ul> <li>3.1. Introduction</li></ul>	51 57 57 60 62 63 77
<ul> <li>3.1. Introduction</li></ul>	51 57 57 60 62 63 77 <b>84</b>

4.2 Materials and methods	87
4.2.1 Plant and insect cultures	87
4.2.2 Experimental design	89
4.2.3 Measurements	90
4.2.4 Data analyses	91
4.3 Results	93
4.4 Discussion	106
Chapter 5: Dynamic modelling of the regime shift	111
5.1. Introduction	111
5.2. Methods	116
5.2.1 Model building	116
5.2.2 STELLA model overview	116
5.2.3 Model parameters	117
5.3 Results	119
5.4 Discussion	124
Chapter 6: General discussion	127
References	145
Appendices	177

### Acknowledgements

The Working for Water programme of the South African Department of Environmental Affairs are gratefully acknowledged for the funding of this project. Thanks are also extended to Rhodes University for providing financial assistance for the attendance of conferences and workshops that helped inform the research.

To my supervisor Associate Professor Julie Coetzee, who first conceptualised this project, how lucky I am to have been mentored and befriended by such an accomplished scientist and all round wonder woman. I consider myself privileged to have been supervised by yourself and Dr. Jackie Hill who are flying the flag for female researchers very high indeed. Thank you both for your time, advice, friendship and the many helpful corrections.

To Professor Martin Hill, your unshakeable faith in this department is inspirational and I am proud to have been a member of your team that will undoubtedly continue to move forward and push the boundaries of South African science.

Thanks to Professor Cang Hui and Dr. Pietro Landi of the department of mathematical sciences at Stellenbosch University, with your generous offers of time and advice you helped transform plants in dustbins into mathematical equations.

I would like to thank the many friends, colleagues and relatives whose support have allowed me to follow my ambitions all around the world. I am grateful for the advice, assistance and time of all the research staff in the biological control research group, particularly those who helped with plant collection and experimental set up as well as the technicians and all members of the Waainek Research facility.

And lastly, to Graham. My number one supporter, proof-reader, best friend and husband. Throughout my academic pursuits there have been both opportunities and obstacles in my path, to each and every one you have offered unwavering enthusiasm, constant encouragement and endless cups of tea, all of which got me this far. This thesis is dedicated to Kit Strange (1954-2011), a giant in the world of sustainability, and a much missed man who taught me the equal values of learning and laughter.

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

#### 1.1 Invasive species

The past century has witnessed exponential growth of the human population on a global scale. This has inevitably coincided with dramatic changes to natural environments as the need for resources and space has increased. For example, agriculture has undergone enormous expansion in the last 100 years, bringing changes to nutrient and water cycling. These disturbances to key ecosystem processes are also occurring at a time where advancing urbanization, trade and technology mean that opportunities for species across all taxa to spread worldwide is at an all-time high (Westphal *et al.* 2008; Finnoff and Tschirhart 2005).

The terminology surrounding invasive species can be variable and complex, with terms such as 'alien invasive', 'non-native', 'exotic' all commonly used. For the purpose of this study the term 'invasive species' is used in accordance with the definition presented by Richardson *et al.* (2000): Alien species that sustain self-replacing populations over multiple life cycles; produce reproductive off spring, often in large numbers at considerable distances from the parent and/or site of introduction; and have the potential to spread over long distances.

The establishment of invasive species is often credited as the second biggest threat to global biodiversity after habitat loss, and the negative ecological effects of invasions can be substantial and long lasting (Keane and Crawley 2002). These include hybridization, predation, competitive exclusion that leads to reductions in native species diversity and a

breakdown in ecosystem function, as well as changes to nutrient availability, disturbance regimes and species assemblages (Ayers *et al.* 2004; Kandori *et al.* 2009; Levine *et al.* 2003; Vila *et al.* 2011; Ehrenfeld 2003). Studying invasions can expand current knowledge of ecosystem functioning, extinctions and species' responses to climate change (Sax *et al.* 2007).

Furthering knowledge in this field can also help cut costs to the global economy. In South Africa alone, it has been estimated that invasive plants cost the economy approximately US\$646 million per year (de Lange & van Wilgen 2010).

#### 1.1.1 Establishment

A commonly accepted driver behind many exotic plant invasions is termed the enemy release hypothesis (ERH) (Williams, 1954). ERH states that exotic species that arrive in new ranges are free from their natural enemies and this lack of regulation facilitates an increase in their distribution and abundance (Keane and Crawley 2002). Whilst logical, it has been proposed that the evidence for ERH in the field is not always as clear-cut as the theory suggests. A review published in 2012 (Jeschke *et al.* 2012) looks at six major hypotheses that attempt to explain and predict biological invasions, including ERH. They found that not only was the level of empirical support for ERH left wanting (54% of all ERH based studies), but that alternative theories of invasional meltdown and novel weapons were proportionally more supported (Fig.1.1). When broken down further by taxonomic groupings, only 50 percent of botanical based ERH studies substantiated the theory (Fig.1.2).



**Fig. 1.1** Overall levels of empirical support for six major invasion biology hypotheses. Reproduced from Jeschke *et al.* (2012).



% Studies questioning
 % Studies undecided
 % Studies supporting

**Fig. 1.2** Levels of empirical support for enemy release hypothesis sub-divided by taxonomic group. Reproduced from Jeschke *et al.* (2012).

As a further development of ERH Blossey and Nötzold (1995) proposed the evolution of increased competitive ability (EICA) theory. The theory states that in the absence of natural enemies, specifically herbivores, costly chemical defenses become reduced in some invasive plant species. Again, this theory has produced publications of mixed findings that both support and oppose it (Hull-Sanders et al. 2007). Not all plants introduced to new ranges succeed in establishing, and it is a smaller fraction of those that cause severe negative impacts to their invaded ecosystems. Efforts to predict invasive success have led to the development of several theories on the subject. The 'Tens Rule' states that approximately ten percent of species successfully transition from being imported into a new region to becoming invasive (Williamson and Fitter 1996). This theory has been rebuked, with one study claiming it to be a dangerous assumption with little evidence that promotes the public image of invasive species being of little concern (Jarić and Cvijanović 2012). In agreement, the study into evidence for theories of invasion biology (Fig. 1.1, Jeschke *et al.* 2012) report less than a third of the 'Tens Rule' literature supports the theory.

Another theory used to explain the disparity between species introduced and species that become invasive is phenotypic plasticity, whereby species with genotypes that are able to express different phenotypes under varying environmental conditions are better equipped to adapt to novel environments, leading to an increased likelihood of establishment. This was first proposed by Baker (1965), and a review in 2006 (Richards *et al.* 2006) suggests that two primary hypotheses now underlie studies into successful establishment of invasive species; the first one is that successful invasive species are intrinsically more plastic than native ones, and the second is that invasive populations evolve higher plasticity once in their new range. It has also been suggested that whilst biological features such as phenotypic plasticity may indicate which species have relatively higher invasive potential, propagule pressure (the number of seeds introduced and the number of introduction opportunities) may ultimately override such features and be the most important factor in determining invasive plant success (Holle and Simberloff 2005; Colautti 2006; Berg *et al.* 2016). Whilst ERH and EICA play significant roles in the explanation behind some species' successes, the continuing

development of these additional theories highlights the complexity of invasive species establishment and encourages continued research in this field. A disparity between the theories we have a strong understanding of and the theories that are used as a basis for invasive species management increase chances of inefficiency and wasted resources (Suding *et al.* 2004; Dick *et al.* 2013).

#### 1.1.2 Management

When faced with the management of invasive species, there are three strategies to consider: eradication, control, or allowing the species to become integrated within its new range without intervention (Hussner et al. 2017). In many cases, eradication is either impractical or only achievable through costly and/or labour intensive methods. However, leaving a species to establish can often lead to unpredictable ecological and economic problems in the future, and consequently the best approach is often that of control: maintaining low, manageable levels of invasive populations (Van Driesche *et al.* 2010).

Classical biological control (CBC) is the method of purposefully introducing co-evolved enemies, termed biological control agents, of an invasive species to reduce the vigour, reproductive capacity and density of invasive populations (DeLoach 1997). Biological control agents of invasive alien plants can include herbivorous vertebrates, diseases, fungal pathogens, but more commonly, insects and mites. The consequences of biological control agents on invasive plants can be direct, including feeding on plant tissue, plant fluid (sap suckers), defoliation, leaf mining, galling, predation of seeds, boring into the roots and shoots; or indirect, such as the weakening and decreasing of competitive capabilities within its environment (Lodge 1991; Wilson and McCaffery 1999).

CBC is a method that has often raised controversies, and as with most interventionbased ecological management options, there are both advantages and disadvantages (Palmer et al. 2010). From an advantageous perspective, the monetary costs and manual labour requirements associated with biological control are considerably lower than those of mechanical removal of plants and, unlike herbicides and pesticides, they are non-polluting and leave no toxic residues (Eisworth et al. 2002). Biological control agents can establish viable, self-sustaining populations that can spread throughout a target species' invasive range, reaching hard-to-access areas. The densities of agent populations also adjust in response to those of the target invaders, meaning continuous intervention of agent populations is minimal (Culliney 2005). Arguments against the implementation of CBC mostly stem from the risks associated with the introduction of more exotic species and fears they may harm the environment, economy and human health (Van Lenteren et al. 2006). Stringent host-specificity testing is routinely performed prior to release of biological control agents to ensure that they only damage the target invasive, and to minimise the risk to native species (McEvoy 1996). As research progresses, the levels of control over the agents used increases, and it is becoming a more successful tool worldwide. In the cases where it has been successful, the benefits have far outweighed the costs (Van Wilgen et al. 2001).

Within biological control research, there is a growing need for investigation into the complex system dynamics that are affected by its implementation. The majority of screenings and host specificity tests traditionally look at the direct interactions between a potential agent and its target species, and many plant interaction experiments focus on changes within a single trophic level (Van *et al.* 1998; James *et al.* 2006; Martin and Coetzee 2014). However, studying the indirect effects of the agents on the competitive interactions of the target species, as well as multi-trophic cascade effects of biological control, would paint a more

holistic picture of the impacts CBC can have on a system. Multi-trophic studies can also help elucidate the drivers that determine levels of success and failure in the establishment of invasive species, and their biological control agents (Harvey *et al.* 2010). For example, Coetzee *et al.* (2005) explored the effect that a particular biological control agent has on the competitive ability of the target plant, *Eichhornia crassipes* (Mart.) Solms (Pontederiaceae). The results showed that despite a successful reduction in competitive fitness of the target plants, the effect was reduced under increased nutrient loading. Findings such as these can help to maximise success of biological control in the field and improve understanding of system dynamics.

Schultz and Dibble (2012) report a lack of research regarding invasive macrophytes impacts on multi-trophic system dynamics. In 2005, a study was carried out to test whether ecological variation at lower trophic levels (plants and herbivores) could be used to create a formula to estimate success of biological control against insect pests (Gross *et al.* 2005). Using historical data of recorded biological control attempts, and information on the test systems, they were able to construct a model that could accurately estimate historical successes of biological control. The findings reveal that consideration of multi-trophic parameters can be used to better understand the effects of biological control, and could even help determine levels of success in future research. Successful management is reliant on a thorough understanding of the affected ecosystem as a whole, and the most efficient management can be obtained by prioritizing the most at-risk systems.

#### **1.2 Vulnerable systems**

#### 1.2.1 Aquatic invasions

Whilst establishment of invasive alien species is documented to be detrimental in a range of environments, it is believed that certain traits can increase a system's vulnerability

to colonization by invasive species. The 'fluctuating resource theory' proposed by Davis *et al.* (2000) explores this issue to explain why some systems are more vulnerable than others. The theory states that bouts of increased resource availability, created either by supply exceeding demand from native vegetation or resource demand declining due to disturbance, coinciding with high exposure to invasive propagules, will lead to the most susceptible systems. Davis *et al.* (2000) state that a vital aspect of this theory is the fluctuating, non-constant nature of increased resource availability. Stochastic floods, droughts and anthropogenic pollution can dramatically alter resource availability in aquatic systems (Dahm *et al.* 1998; Smith *et al.* 1999). These aspects, combined with their intrinsically high connectivity and opportunities of propagule spread via natural pathways and the extensive aquaria trade, mean that aquatic systems are highly susceptible to colonisation from invasive species (Padilla and Williams 2004; Moorhouse and McDonald 2015).

In 2013, the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) updated a list of the '100 worst invasive species' to highlight awareness of the increasing problems associated with biological invasions (http://www.iucngisd.org/). This list includes two aquatic plant species that have caused significant problems globally: giant salvinia, *Salvinia molesta* D.S. Mitchell (Salviniaceae) and water hyacinth, *E. crassipes,* both originating from South America (Lowe *et al.* 2000; Courchamp *et al.* 2013). The release of the salvinia weevil (*Cyrtobagous salviniae* Calder & Sands (Coleoptera: Curculionidae)) on invasive *S. molesta* in South Africa has been so successful that a review published in 2011 (Coetzee *et al.* 2011b) stated that nationwide control had been achieved and that no alternative management besides CBC would be required in the future. CBC initiatives for *E. crassipes* have proven to be less successful, and research will continue exploring integrated management approaches using multiple agents (e.g. *Neochetina eichhorniae* Warner (Coleoptera: Curculionidae), *N. bruchi* 

Hustache (Coleoptera: Curculionidae), Niphograpta albiguttalis Warren (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae), and Megamelus scutellaris Berg (Hemiptera: Delphacidae). Because South Africa has been heavily invaded by invasive aquatic plants (there are currently 20 listed invasive aquatic plant species present in the country (NEMBA 2014)), there is a plethora of local literature on the topic, as well as a number of research centres such as the Plant Protection Research Institute (Agricultural Research Council), the Centre of Invasion Biology (Stellenbosch University), the Biological Control Research Group (Rhodes University) and several institutes that rear CBC agents for release.

#### 1.2.2 South African freshwater systems

The natural topography and climate of South Africa has resulted in very few natural lakes, and in order to supply water to the rising population, large numbers of artificial dams and weirs have been constructed. These include approximately 500 large and 150,000 smaller reservoirs and farm dams that provide vital resources for employment, recreation, food and biodiversity (Basson *et al.* 1997). The artificial nature of such structures means there is a lack of evolutionary history in South Africa's native flora for species adapted to thrive in these slow moving or still waters. Nutrient pollution from increased urbanization, industry, mining, power generation, agricultural run-off, domestic and commercial sewage treatment, as well as previously poorly-regulated water management has led to the eutrophication of the majority of these water bodies (Oberholster and Ashton, 2008; van Ginkel 2011). The waters are heavily loaded with ammonium and nitrates from poorly managed sewage infrastructure and unregulated fertilizer usage , and in combination with a lack of naturally occurring native macrophytes, the freshwater ecosystems in South Africa are particularly vulnerable to invasive alien plant invasions (Hood and Naiman 2000; Odume *et al.* 2016).

South Africa has a long history of battling floating invasive macrophytes such as water hyacinth (E. crassipes), water lettuce (Pistia stratiotes L. (Araceae)), red water fern (Azolla filiculoides Lam. (Azollaceae)), parrots feather (Myriophyllum aquaticum Vell. (Haloragaceae)) and Salvinia minima Baker (Salviniaceae). These plants are able to reproduce quickly and form dense mats on the water's surface. These mats decrease water quality and quantity, increase siltation of rivers, dams and wetlands, reduce biodiversity and ecosystem functioning, drown livestock and cause problems for irrigation canals and pumps (Janse 1998; Scheffer et al. 2003; Caraco et al. 2006). Management strategies for such plants have involved mechanical removal, applications of herbicide and, more successfully, the release of multiple biological control agents. The invasions of these floating macrophytes have been well studied and managed and the majority are now regarded as being under some aspect of control (Hill 2003; Coetzee et al. 2011b). Whilst increased control of these floating plants is promising both ecologically and economically, the past decade has witnessed an increase in the establishment of submerged invasive macrophytes, with species such as Myriophyllum spicatum L. (Haloragaceae), Elodea canadensis Michx. (Hydrocharitaceae) and Egeria densa Planch. (Hydrocharitaceae) recorded as established across the country (Coetzee et al. 2011b). For example, a study on the Vaal River, South Africa's most economically important river system, between 2006-2010, showed that wherever the percentage cover of *E. crassipes* was reduced, there was an increase in the recorded percentage cover of submerged macrophytes (Fordham 2012; Fig.1.3).



**Fig.1.3.** A study of changes in plant dominance over time in the Vaal River, South Africa. Reproduced from Fordham (2012).

Submerged plant invasions are often not identified until individual plants have reached the water's surface. This reduces chances of an early response regarding their control and management. Although the introduction of submerged plants initially increases levels of dissolved oxygen in the water column which improves water quality (Brix and Shierup 1989), when populations explode, the dense monoculture stands have negative implications which can be similar to those associated with floating invasive plants. These include damage to hydro-electrical equipment, decreased water quality and biodiversity, reduction in flow rate, limitations to water access, as well as altering nutrient regimes and sedimentation which may increase flood risk (Chen and Barko 1988; Barko *et al.* 1988; Vermaat *et al.* 2000; Bickel and Closs 2007; Yarrow *et al.* 2009; Stiers *et al.* 2011b).

The spread of invasive submerged plants into and across southern Africa has been driven by the ornamental and aquaria trade (Martin and Coetzee 2011). Efforts to curb such trade through criminalization often has little impact due to the logistics of monitoring and enforcement, particularly with regards to online trading (Kay and Hoyle 2001). Lack of wider

education of the physiology of such species can also inadvertently promote spread. For example, the invasive Brazilian waterweed, *E. densa* Planch autofragments and can reproduce vegetatively. Therefore if the machinery used to clear *E. densa* from sections of Cape Town rivers, for example, is not fully cleaned, it can transport plant fragments to other sites, promoting further establishment (Fig. 1.4) (Pers. Comm. City of Cape Town, Invasive Species Unit).





To minimize the impacts of invasive submerged plants, aquatic weed research in South Africa must now focus on understanding the mechanisms facilitating these new invasions in order to form successful management strategies. Current understanding of the associated herbivores of submerged aquatic plants is limited in comparison to their floating counterparts, further research in this field will increase the likelihood of successful control programs for their management.

#### **1.3 Regime shifts**

#### 1.3.1 Theory of regime shifts and hysteresis

Regime shifts, in an ecological context, are large and often sudden changes in the functioning and structure of an ecosystem (Scheffer 2003). It is proposed that these shifts are induced when a threshold of a limiting variable such as nutrients or light (a resource essential for growth or maintenance) in an ecosystem is crossed, either through a gradual change (e.g. long-term pollution) or through a sudden shock (e.g. hurricane or flood) (Fig. 1.5) (Biggs *et al.* 2011). The dominant system feedbacks are weakened or broken causing the trajectory or direction of the system to change towards a new regime. New feedback mechanisms are then created and maintained allowing the new regime to become stable (Scheffer and Carpenter 2003; Walker and Meyers 2004; Folke *et al.* 2004; Beisner 2012). Studies into the impacts of regime shifts on socio-ecological systems and their associated services have gained ground in recent years as a need was recognized for understanding the underlying processes to maximise efficient management and increase sustainability.



**Fig. 1.5** The 'ball-in-cup' diagram is often used to demonstrate shifts of an ecosystem (ball) between two two stable regimes (valleys) as caused by a) a sudden shock to the system and/or b) a gradual change in a limiting variable (Reproduced from Biggs *et al.* 2012)

A classic and often cited example of an ecosystem experiencing a regime shift between two states is that of shallow eutrophic lakes (Blindow *et al.* 1993; Scheffer *et al.* 2001). Research has shown that the original stable regime of a healthy and productive aquatic ecosystem with clear waters and high biodiversity is maintained by internal positive feedback loops between plants and nutrients. External nutrient loading or the occurrence of a stochastic event (floods, storms etc.) can cause a key threshold to be crossed. This can result in the weakening or destruction of the positive feedback loop sustaining the system, prompting a shift into a state where persistently high nutrient levels lead to algal blooms, hypoxia, fish kills, toxicity and decreased biodiversity (Vitousek *et al.* 1997; Rabalais 2002; Green and Galatowitsch 2002).

Lake Apopka, in Florida, USA, was once in a stable macrophyte-dominated state (Bachmann *et al.* 1999). Organic waste from a nearby citrus processing plant and inadequately treated sewage effluent were discharged in the lake and over time it became saturated with phosphorous. It was assumed that this nutrient pollution was the cause of the lake's degradation into a stable turbid algal state, and what followed was one of the most expensive restoration projects in the US at that time (>\$US 100million). The objective was to reduce lake nutrient levels as a means of restoring the clear waters and to re-establish a macrophyte-dominated state. Bachmann *et al.* (1999) however, studied this lake within the context and consideration of regime shifts. Their results did not support the assumption that nutrient input was either the sole or reversible catalyst for the turbidity of Lake Apopka. They argued that the most plausible explanation was the occurrence of a regime shift, with the latest shift being induced by a local hurricane in 1947, which uprooted the majority of macrophytes, in turn decreasing sediment stability in the presence of wind-driven waves, creating perpetually turbid waters. Thirteen years after the restoration began, the system had still not been

restored, and they concluded that even a phosphorous reduction of 80% would not promote re-establishment of macrophytes, because nutrient loading was not the driving force of the degradation. This case highlights the importance of recognizing regime shifts and the broader issue of fully understanding the mechanisms of ecosystem structure in order to minimize the wasting of resources and maximize management success. In cases where nutrient input is the catalyst for stable state shifts in ecosystems, reduction of the nutrients in the water is often not enough to restore the previous stable eutrophic state. Instead, nutrient levels may need to be substantially lower than those at which the collapse of the system occurred (Scheffer *et al.* 2001).

The observation that the trajectories an ecosystem has followed when collapsing differs from those that are needed for recovery (and cannot simply be reversed) is termed hysteresis (Schröder 2005). Hysteresis is an important consideration when managing a system that may be exhibiting regime shifts, as ignoring this concept and the feedback patterns that developed to sustain alternate stable states could lead to undesirable and unpredictable results (Suding *et al.* 2004), creating more long-term ecological and economic damage. Being able to recognize regime shifts and understand what maintains them could allow for prediction of the direction in which the stable states are shifting and allow for more effective management (Beisner 2012).

Within the context of invasion biology, the theory of mechanisms that underpin regime shift research are transferable to the field. Ecosystems that are successfully colonised by non-native species often remain in long-term stable degraded states. Intervention aimed at restoring such systems has traditionally been based upon the premise of re-establishing historical abiotic conditions such as removing the invasive species (Dobson *et al.* 1997; Young *et al.* 2000; Prach *et al.* 2001). However, when we start to consider this restoration in the

context of regime shifts, hysteresis and resilience, it is clear there is a need for a much broader understanding of the system features such as community assemblage and nutrient cycling that are affected by invasive species and their subsequent management.

#### 1.3.2 Resilience

For the purpose of clarification, in this study ecological resilience refers to Holling's definition (Hollings 1973) which describes it as the resistance of an ecosystem to change, particularly from one stable state into another (Holling 1973). Resilience is an important consideration in the management of invaded systems, as high resilience of a restored ecosystem lowers the risk of a shift back into the degraded state (Carpenter and Cottingham 1997). It is well documented that nutrient loading is a significant driver of invasions in aquatic systems; therefore, systems that are managed by reducing eutrophication will increase in resilience against future invasions (Davis *et al.* 2000; Daehler 2003). Scheffer *et al.* (2001) argue that the perception that many ecosystems respond smoothly to environmental change is not necessarily true, and management should focus on facilitating ecological resilience because this reduces the risk of stable state shifts.

A recent study examined long-term impacts of the invasive giant hogweed, *Heracleum mantegazzianum* Sommier and Levier (Apiaceae), in the Czech Republic (Dostal *et al.* 2013). They found that while native species richness and productivity were reduced by hogweed invasions, after long periods of time (~30 years), these features began to recover. This study highlights the plasticity of invaded and degraded ecosystems and it raises clear issues regarding the idea of a 'stable state': How do we define these states and are we considering their complexities when we do? Are the time frames we use to define 'stable' and 'unstable' valid in terms of ecological timescales? Scheffer and Carpenter (2003) profess that natural fluctuations should not be confused with regime shifts. There is a great need in invasion

ecology for research into the mechanisms behind invasions, including further exploration into regime shifts.

#### **1.4 Competition**

#### 1.4.1 Competitive interactions

Within the context of regime shifts, the stability of a regime relies on the interactions and feedbacks within it. Competitive interactions play a key role in the structure and functioning of ecosystems. Competition is described as the interaction between separate taxa (interspecific), and separate individuals of the same taxa (intraspecific), sharing limited resources (Lacoul and Freedman 2006). It is one of the most important biotic interactions of invasion biology. Within aquatic systems, competitive fitness can determine the success of establishment of invaders and levels of an ecosystem's resilience to invasion. Some studies claim that interspecific competition could play a key role in the success of biological control of rooted submerged weeds (Cuda et al. 2008; Stiers and Njabuya 2011). Its role in structuring communities means that when exploring a potential regime shift between the dominance of different species, it is clear that competitive interactions remain at the core of the study (Menge et al. 1976; McCreary, 1991; Van et al. 1999). Within aquatic ecosystems, there are a multitude of factors that can affect competitive interactions, including nutrient concentrations of both the sediment and the water column, light intensity, dissolved oxygen, temperature, climate and species' growth forms (Titus and Adams 1979). Mony et al. (2006) explored the effects of season and sediment nutrient concentration on interspecific competition between two submerged macrophytes in North America, Hydrilla verticillata (L.f.) Royle (Hydrocharitaceae) and *E. densa*. Interspecific competition was found to be higher in spring than autumn. This study, along with several others (Haller and Sutton, 1975; Van et al. 1999; Spencer and Ksander, 2000) found a weakened competitive capacity of H. verticillata

under low nutrient concentrations when competing against native species with similar growth forms. Competition from *H. verticillata* also promoted resource allocation to the roots of *E. densa*, demonstrating the effects competition can have at both a community and species level. Top down mechanisms such as herbivory can also play a role in determining competitive fitness, as they affect plant growth and fecundity (Crawley 1989), alter community composition (Olff and Richie 1998), induce chemical and physical defences, as well as nutrient reallocation within individuals (Louda *et al.* 1990; Kessler and Baldwin 2001), and lead to compensatory plant re-growth (McNaughton 1983; Maron and Crone 2006).

Competitive ability is thus clearly a complex concept. Tipping *et al.* (2008) studied competition between two floating macrophytes (*Salvinia minima* Baker (Salviniaceae) and *Spirodela polyrhiza* (L.) Schleid (Araceae)) mediated by nutrient levels and herbivory in Florida, USA. They hypothesized that herbivory would increase the competitive capacity of *S. polyrhiza* by negating the apparent morphological advantage of *S. minima*. Their results did not support this and revealed a more complex dynamic between herbivory, nutrient levels and competition. They found that although *S. minima* may be more dominant in low nutrient environments and more influenced by herbivory, it had no effect on the competitive success of *S. polyrhiza*, which was dominant in eutrophic conditions. They also observed that these plant communities were vulnerable to wind, currents and passage of animals that create temporary gaps of open water, leading to plant assemblage reordering, which could all affect competitive interactions between plants. All these factors influence competitive interactions

As the management of invasive species is becoming more urgent, the use of biological control is increasing, leading to a global increase in the translocation of more biological control agents. In order to minimise risk and improve control, studies into the direct effects

these agents have on target invaders, as well as their effect on competitive interactions in a wider context are vital.

One particular species of submerged invasive plant that has recently experienced a rapid spread across multiple aquatic systems in South Africa is *E. densa*, commonly referred to as Brazilian waterweed. *Egeria densa* is the focal species for this thesis and in order to study its competitive fitness in a South African context, it will be tested against a native submerged plant with a similar growth form, *Lagarosiphon major* (Roxb.) (Ridley) Moss (Hydrocharitaceae), as the most intense competition within aquatic systems occurs between plants of similar growth forms occupying the same position in the water column (Gopal and Goel 1993).

#### 1.5 Egeria densa Planch (Hydrocharitaceae)

#### 1.5.1 Ecology, physiology and origins

*Egeria densa* (Fig. 1.6) is a submerged, dioecious, freshwater perennial originating from the subtropical regions of south-eastern Brazil, eastern Argentina and southern Uruguay (Cook *et al.* 1974). The stems can grow to over three metres long, sometimes forming dense monospecific stands that can cover large areas (Yarrow *et al.* 2009). The slender rooted stems are brittle, breaking easily and thus aiding fragmentation and spread. The leaves (15-30 mm long) occur in whorls of three in the lower parts of the stem, and whorls of four to eight in upper stem sections. The three-petalled white flowers, which range in size from 18 - 25 mm and extend 20 mm above the water's surface, are entomophilous (Cook *et al.* 2004). When submerged, the petals close, trapping air bubbles, thus keeping the stamens and stigmas dry (Cook and Urmi-König, 1984).



**Fig. 1.6** a) Line drawing of *Egeria densa* (IFAS Centre for Aquatic and Invasive Plants), b) flowering *Egeria densa*.

#### 1.5.2 Invasive distribution and negative impacts

*Egeria densa* has spread from its native South American range to many countries, including Australia, Chile, Denmark, France, French Polynesia, Germany, Japan, New Zealand, Puerto Rico, the USA and South Africa (Gassman *et al.* 2006), and its spread has been accelerated by the pond and aquarium trade (Martin and Coetzee 2011) (see Appendix C for South African distribution map). From an ecological perspective, *E. densa* removes nutrients from the water column, controlling the growth of phytoplankton and can alter sedimentation and water flow (Yarrow *et al.* 2009). This has led to the argument that *E. densa* is an 'ecosystem engineer' as its physical structure affects the light and nutrients available to other organisms (Jones *et al.* 1994). Historically, management of this plant has not included intensive mechanical removal, due to the expense and inefficiency, but more significantly, because it has brittle stems that can reproduce via fragmentation, thus mechanical interference could

ultimately promote growth. This combination of factors suggest that biological control is a more viable alternative (Cabrera Walsh *et al.* 2013). In South Africa host-specificity trials are currently being trialled for the release of the fly *Hydrellia egeriae* sp. nov. (Diptera: Ephydridae) as a potential agent for *E. densa* (Pers. Comms. Rhodes University, SA).

#### **1.6 Lagarosiphon major (Roxb.) (Ridley) Moss (Hydrocharitacae)**

Lagarosiphon major (Fig. 1.7) is one of the most common species of Lagarosiphon and is native to sub-Saharan Africa. This species is a perennial, submerged and rooted vascular plant found in lakes, rivers, streams and ponds within a wide range of trophic conditions. It is able to reproduce sexually and asexually (Cook 1974). Preferring cool waters of temperate regions, it is most often found in clear freshwater that is either still or slow moving. It can survive at relatively high pH levels and thrives at high light intensities (Schwarz and Howard-Williams 1993; ISSG 2008).

Lagarosiphon major has brittle, submersed stems measuring 3 mm in diameter and can reach 7 m in length with branches at every 10-12 nodes. When the water's surface is reached, thick mats are formed (Cook 2004). The densely crowded leaves are linear to linearlanceolate, measuring 16 mm in length and 2 mm in width. The flowers are transparent to white or pale pink with female flowers on the water's surface tethered to the plant on thin, thread-like tubes (~25 cm long) and are pollinated by free-floating male flowers in the native range. Outside the native range, only female plants have been recorded and therefore reproduction only occurs via fragmentation.

This species has spread beyond its native range and is invasive in Ireland, the UK and New Zealand, where it has been recorded in canals, dams, drainage ditches and slow-moving rivers (Howard-Williams and Davies 1988; Caffrey *et al.* 2008). Establishment of this species

has resulted in the alteration of water flow and sedimentation, a reduction of light to lower levels of the water column and outcompeting native vegetation. Previous methods of control for this species have included mechanical removal, however, as with *E. densa*, this is not advised due to the brittle nature of the stems and its ability to reproduce via fragmentation, which can often promote overall growth. Chemical herbicides containing terbutryn or dichlobenil have been also used, both of which leave toxic residues that can harm other species present in the invaded water body (CEH, 2004). A potential biological control agent, *Hydrellia lagarosiphon* Deeming (Diptera: Ephydridae) (native to South Africa) has been extensively researched in Ireland and is in the process of a draft application for release there and a final application for release has been submitted in New Zealand (Mangan and Baars 2013).



**Fig. 1.7** Line drawing of flowering *Lagarosiphon major* (IFAS Centre for Aquatic and Invasive Plants)

## 1.7 *Pistia stratiotes* L. (Araceae) and its associated weevil, *Neohydronomus affinis* Hustache (Coleoptera: Curculionidae)

*Pistia stratiotes* L. (Araceae), commonly known as water lettuce, is a Category 1b, free floating invasive aquatic plant in South Africa, of South American origin (National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act (10/2004): Alien and Invasive Species List, 2014). Its attractive appearance and popularity as an ornamental species has led to its establishment across multiple subtropical rivers, dams and pans. Individual plants consist of a rosette of leaves, obovate to spatulate in shape, with longitudinal ribs, and its feathery roots can reach 50 cm long (Fig. 1.8 a). Both sides of the leaves are covered with short hairs that enable buoyancy. The flowers are inconspicuous (7–12.5 mm) and found at the centre of the rosette, growing on a stem (Neuenschwander *et al.* 2009).

In numerous South African systems, the plant thrives in nutrient rich conditions and can form dense floating mats, reducing water quality, damaging hydroelectric equipment and threatening biodiversity. Its ability to reproduce both vegetatively and through seed production made it a priority for control in the 1980s, which has now been achieved, solely through the implementation of CBC. The agent used, *Neohydronomus affinis* Hustache (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) is a leaf mining and leaf feeding weevil, native to South America, that was released in South Africa in 1985 (Fig. 1.8 b & c). The population was originally from Brazil but was supplied to South Africa from Australia (Winston *et al.* 2014).



**Fig.1.8** a) Line drawing of *Pistia stratiotes* (Evans 2013) b) Scaled photograph of *Neohydronomus affinis* (image: Katherine Parys, www.bugguide.net) and c) Feeding damage on *Pistia stratiotes* caused by *Neohydronomus affinis* (image: Emily Strange).

#### **1.8 Hypotheses, Aims and Objectives**

The wealth of research and knowledge that supports the implementation of CBC programmes has led to successes both in South Africa and further afield. However, the long-term effects that invasive species' management has upon the rest of the ecosystem remains largely under-researched. In order to change this, some of the fundamental questions of invasion ecology must be asked: What are the mechanisms driving and supporting invasions? What methods can be employed to better understand the consequences of invasions and their effects on community dynamics? And finally, how can we better predict invasions? For

example, very little work has been done regarding the theory of regime shifts in the context of invasions and the potential role that control methods for invasive species may play in their occurrence. However, in many cases, as the control of invasives involves the removal of a species that has been playing a dominant role in an ecosystem, it is very likely that these changes will influence many aspects, including stable state alterations.

The overall aim of this thesis was to explore the identification of a regime shift occurring in South African freshwater systems through a series of controlled experiments and ecological modelling tools. The shift was hypothesized between two stable regimes termed 'floating invasive plant dominance' and 'submerged invasive plant dominance'. This study further hypothesised that the biological control of the invasive floating plants is the driver of the regime shift. Once invasive floating plants become dominant, biological control agents are introduced to control them, with the hope of inducing a regime shift to the situation ante, with healthy biodiversity and good quality water. However, this thesis proposes that an alternate regime shift is occurring from the invasive floating degraded state into an equally problematic and stable state dominated by alien invasive submerged weeds. As the floating plants decompose due to herbivory from biological control agents, the system receives a sudden influx of freely available nutrients, and at the same time, light levels within the water column are restored (Chimney and Pietro 2006; Shilla et al. 2006; Longhi et al. 2008). As nutrients, light and space become available, submerged invasive plants are able to utilize the resources and proliferate (Reddy et al. 1982; Hammer and Knight 1992; James et al. 2006). Photosynthesis by submerged plants temporarily increases the levels of dissolved oxygen in the water column thus improving water quality (in the short-term) and allowing the submerged plants to become dominant (William et al. 1976). After this period of improvement, the water quality deteriorates as the plant biomass crosses a threshold after

which it begins to block out light, reduce biodiversity and alter sediment stability (Balciunas *et al.* 1996; Yarrow *et al.* 2009; Stiers *et al.* 2011b). External nutrient loading further facilitates their growth and helps to sustain the new stable regime of submerged invasive plant dominance (Duarte *et al.* 1995).

The first objective, discussed in Chapter Two, was to explore the competitive ability of the focal species of the study: the invasive submerged *E. densa,* with a native trophically analogous species, *L. major*. This provided important baseline data which were used in comparison with further experiments investigating submerged plant interactions. Both species were grown in a series of different planting densities and were left for three months to compete with each other for resources. After this period, the growth rate and end biomass were used to compare their competitive ability against each other in the presence of nutrient rich and nutrient poor conditions.

Chapter Three outlines the next objective, which was to compare the response of the native and invasive submerged plants within the context of the proposed regime shift. Both *E. densa* and *L. major* were independently grown in the presence of the floating invasive *P. stratiotes* under different herbivory regimes: one in which *P. stratiotes* was subjected to biological control by the host-specific agent *N. affinis,* and one in which *P. stratiotes* was not controlled. The growth rates of *E. densa* and *L. major* under these conditions demonstrated the effect biological control of floating plants has upon submerged plant communities, and whether or not the presence of biocontrol agents is a potential driver of the proposed regime shift.

The third objective, discussed in the fourth chapter, was to explore the idea that if regime shifts between floating invasive and submerged invasive plants are occurring due to human initiated CBC, there could be a possibility of inducing a third stable state: 'native

submerged plant dominance'. This was investigated by measuring the interspecific competition between *E. densa* and *L. major* and then incorporating the effect of the presence of controlled and non-controlled *P. stratiotes*.

Chapter Five aimed to combine the data obtained from these experiments to build and parameterise a mathematical model intended to test the theory of the proposed regime shift. The objective was to join theory, experimental techniques and ecological modelling together in a multifaceted study that would provide evidence for the existence of the regime shift, and expand current understanding of the mechanisms driving invasive plant establishment in a South African context.

Whilst the experiments and models presented in this study cannot reflect the complex, dynamic ecosystems upon which the theory is based, they can be the first step in a broader, systems-based approach to biological control methods. A major review into the evidence of regime shifts in aquatic and terrestrial environments (Folke *et al.* 2004) states that the first step to improve management of regime shifts is to strive to better understand the interactions between regime shifts, biodiversity and ecosystem resilience. In accordance with this viewpoint, this thesis will bring together different research techniques to highlight the importance of taking a critical look at how invaded systems are managed, and bring together the theoretical aspects of invasion biology with the applied side of biological control research.
# Chapter 2

# Competition between two Hydrocharitaceae: the native *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridl.) Moss and the invasive *Egeria densa* (Planch)

# 2.1. Introduction

The proposed regime shift at the centre of this thesis, from invasive floating to invasive submerged plant dominance as influenced by biological control, is underpinned by a key change in community structure. Rooted submerged macrophytes can define the structure and function of their ecosystems and provide a linking interface between the sediment with the water column (Duarte et al. 1995). Their root systems are able to influence sedimentation by increasing ground stability, and by trapping floating sediment particles, they can raise river beds, affecting flood risks and hydrological regimes (Vermaat et al. 2000; Yarrow et al. 2009). Different growth forms of submerged macrophytes can also determine the available habitats for other flora and fauna (Bickel and Closs 2007), alter macroinvertebrate biodiversity and reduce light accessibility to lower levels of the water column (Stiers et al. 2011b). As well as raising levels of dissolved oxygen, these plants can also alter nutrient cycling, which can have far-reaching consequences, ranging from individual species levels to community structuring, thus altering whole system functioning and key ecosystem services. The presence of invasive submerged macrophytes therefore poses significant threats to South African freshwater ecosystems.

Nutrient loading is a known driver of invasive species across a diverse range of ecosystems and taxa (Davis *et al.* 2000; Daehler 2003). Nutrient cycling plays a key role in the

spread, establishment and growth of rooted submerged plants, and the significant depletion of nitrogen and phosphorous from both the sediment and water column by submerged macrophytes has been well documented (Chen and Barko 1988; Barko et al. 1988; Mazzeo et al. 2003). Historically, this has meant that Egeria densa (Planch) (Hydrocharitaceae), Potamogeton pectinatus (L.) (Potamogetonaceae) and Vallisneria americana (Michx.) (Hydrocharitaceae) have been recommended as viable methods of wastewater treatment (Reddy et al. 1985; Hammer and Knight 1992). More recently, it has been documented that other submerged plant species can considerably increase the nutrient levels of the water column through the natural process of plant tissue decay (Shilla et al. 2006). Being able to alter the conditions of their surroundings can have knock-on effects for other submerged rooted macrophytes within the same habitat. For example, James et al. (2006) compared the species response of multiple invasive plants in the Hydrocharitaceae, which had been observed to displace one another in eutrophic inland waters in Europe; Elodea canadensis (Michx) was displaced by *Elodea nuttalii* (Planch), which in turn was succeeded by Lagarosiphon major (Ridl. Moss). They reported a negative relationship between relative growth rate and increased nutrient loading for all three species. Elodea nutallii exhibited the strongest decline in root production and *E. canadensis* had the highest mean tissue nitrogen content, showing varied responses amongst related species. It is therefore apparent that the interactions between nutrients and submerged macrophytes can be complex, and studies aimed at elucidating the complexities can benefit the understanding and subsequent management of invasive submerged plants.

McCreary (1991) explore the importance of competition as a mechanism that drives submerged plant community structure. The study states that manipulation experiments that examine changes in biomass accumulation can determine the extent to which one species is

affected by a potential competitor and that community level interactions are an essential component of wider ecosystem-based approaches. Therefore, to create a holistic view of the proposed regime shift, an initial understanding of the competitive vigour of both the floating and submerged invasive species used in the suite of experiments is essential. There is a wealth of research on floating invasive macrophytes in a southern African context, exploring how their dominance is affected or driven by changes in biotic factors, such as the effects of nutrients and herbivory on the competitive performance (Coetzee *et al.* 2005) and biomass accumulation (Bownes *et al.* 2010) of *Eichhornia crassipes* (Mart.) Solms (Pontederiaceae). In contrast, there are relatively few studies on submerged invasive macrophytes in a South African context (Coetzee *et al.* 2011a). However, some work has focussed on *E. densa* due to its successful and problematic invasion and establishment in regions outside its native South American range (Fig. 2.1) (Gassmann *et al.* 2006).



Fig. 2.1 International distribution of *Egeria densa* based on publications (www.q-bank.eu)

Global climate niche modelling has indicated a future increase in habitats ideally suited to the establishment of *E. densa,* where suitable climate is available (Kelly *et al.* 2014).

Furthermore, its thermal tolerance is quite wide, with reports of survival below ice, and with optimum temperatures for growth ranging from 16°C to 28°C, and with a maximum thermal limit of 35°C (Barko and Smart, 1981; Getsinger and Dillon 1984; Haramoto and Ikusima 1988; Di Tomaso & Healy 2003). Yarrow *et al.* (2009) report that *E. densa* exhibits adaptive physiological metabolic traits which contribute to its invasive success, with low CO<sub>2</sub> and high  $O_2$  tolerances, promoting growth in suboptimal conditions. Other traits that promote invasive success include an ability to store energy in its basal stems and root crown, which allow survival through winter and enable rapid reinvasion (Pennington & Sytsma 2009). A competition study between *E. densa* and another species in the Hydrocharitaceae, *Hydrilla verticillata* (L.f.) (Royle) found the competition for nutrients to be higher than the competition for light (Mony *et al.* 2007).

Despite the recent rapid spread of *E. densa* across South Africa, there are no published studies exploring the potential local impacts of its establishment. The aim of this experiment was to quantify the competitive ability of *E. densa* in a South African context to provide initial baseline data for the proposed regime shift. *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridl.) Moss (Hydrocharitaceae) was chosen as a suitable native competitor due to its growth form and taxonomic similarities to *E. densa*, and its invasive successes in New Zealand (Howard-Williams and Davies 1988) and Ireland (Caffrey *et al.* 2008).

A review of pairwise competition experiments suggest that to accurately test whether an invasive species is more competitive than native ones, the best approach is to compare effects of closely related native and invasive species on each other (Vilà and Weiner 2004). A competition study between *L. major* and two other species in the Hydrocharitaceae (*E. canadensis* and *E. nutalli*) found *L. major* to have the highest photosynthetic rates even in stressful conditions of high pH and low CO<sub>2</sub> (Caffrey *et al.* 2009). Similar results were reported

in a competition study between *L. major* and *Ceratophyllum demersum* (L.) Ceratophyllaceae (Stiers *et al.* 2011a); while under specific substrate conditions in South Africa, *L. major* successfully outcompeted the invasive *Myriophyllum spicatum* (L.) Haloragaceae (Martin and Coetzee 2014). *Lagarosiphon major* thus has the potential to be highly competitive and could provide a useful comparison for the competitive abilities of *E. densa*.

Competitive strategies of invasive species are linked to the optimal resource theory (Tilman 1988). Nutrient cycling plays a key role in submerged aquatic plant life cycles and many of South Africa's freshwater systems are highly eutrophic (Oberholster and Ashton 2008). It is therefore essential to explore the role of nutrient loading on the interaction between *L. major* and *E. densa* to understand the mechanism of submerged plant invasions in a South African context. Thus, the aim of this experiment was to subject *E. densa* and *L. major* to direct competition for resources, at different planting density ratios, under two different nutrient regimes. Using different nutrient regimes will be useful for understanding the potential scale of invasion from *E. densa* in many of the mismanaged and eutrophic freshwater systems in South Africa. The results of this study will deepen current understanding of the potential threat of *E. densa* in a South African context. Not only will this benefit future management of this species, but it will also provide essential base line data on the competitive vigour of *E. densa* that represents submerged invasive plants in the overall model exploring the proposed regime shift.

# 2.2. Materials and methods

The experiment took place inside a greenhouse tunnel at the Waainek Research Facility at Rhodes University, Grahamstown and ran from 21 November 2014 until 16 March 2015. All *L. major* plants were collected from a quarry dam near Stutterheim, (-32.587336,

27.463443), and *E. densa* plants were collected from the Kouga River, near Patensie, (-33.748506, 24.635446), both in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. Following collection, the plants were washed and planted directly into the experiment and were left for a three-week acclimation period before the start of the experiment. The mean starting wet weight per shoot of *L. major* and *E. densa* planted in all treatments was  $3.51g (\pm 0.09)$  and  $0.88g (\pm 0.07)$ respectively. All plants were treated with an organophosphate insecticide, Malathion (Kombat, 0.01ml/10l), to kill any phytophagous insects associated with the plants collected from the field. Hoagland's solution (5.2mg/l) was added to each tank at the start of the experiment with the nitrogen sources omitted as this was controlled separately (Hoagland and Arnon 1938).

#### 2.2.1 Experimental design

The experiment was conducted within two flow-through systems, each consisting of five connected tanks (measuring 120cm x 100cm x 70cm each) (Figs 2.2 and 2.3). Each tank was filled with spring water that was circulated, filtered and passed through an ultra violet light to prevent growth of planktonic algae. Each tank contained eight evenly-spaced plant pots (25cm diameter, 20cm height) filled with 5 kg of sediment collected from Jameson Dam, Eastern Cape, South Africa (–33.319073, 26.444206). The sediment was analyzed for nutrient composition by Bemlab (Pty) Ltd. Assay Laboratory (Stellenbosch, SA) and was reported to be loam sediment comprising of 0.11% nitrogen (for full analyses see Appendix D).



**Fig. 2.2** Aerial schematic of one of the flow-through systems used to determine the competitive interactions between *Egeria densa* and *Lagarosiphon major*, as influenced by nutrients.



Fig. 2.3 One flow-through system with shade cloth (image: E. Strange)

The experimental design followed an addition series developed by Spitters (1983) that allows relative competitive abilities of two different species to be determined by using reciprocal yield models of the mean plant biomass at each planting density. *Lagarosiphon major* and *E. densa* were planted at eight different planting densities (including mixed and mono-cultures) of *L. major* : *E. densa*, which were 0:3, 3:3, 3:0, 3:9, 9:9, 9:3, 0:9 and 9:9. Each of the eight plant pots was randomly assigned one of the ratios. This method has been widely used to quantify competitive interactions between macrophytes ranging in growth forms and exposed to varying external pressures. Examples include the competition between *H.* 

*verticillata* and *V. americana* as affected by soil fertility (Van *et al.* 1999) and herbivory (Van et al. 1998), as well as the effects of biological control on competition between water hyacinth, *E. crassipes* and water lettuce, *P. stratiotes* (Coetzee *et al.* 2005).

In this experiment, apical shoots of the relevant species, 20 cm in length with side shoots removed, were planted at the assigned ratios and a final 2 cm layer of silica sand was added to each pot to minimize algal growth and maintain water clarity. Each tank was randomly assigned a nutrient treatment of 'high' or 'low', with five replicates of each. The high nutrient treatment was achieved by adding 10 g (2 g/kg of sediment) of Multicote<sup>™</sup> slow-release fertilizer with 17:7:14 N:P:K ratios mixed into the sediment of each plant pot (Haifa, Multicote<sup>™</sup> 8; 17:7:14+micronutrients, 17% total nitrogen, formulated for a 5-6 month release rate at 30°C). The low nutrient tanks had no fertilizer added to the plant pot sediments. A single layer of shade cloth (50% density) was secured over all tanks to provide optimum conditions for submerged plant growth (Yarrow *et al.* 2009).

Thermachron iButtons (Climastats Environmental Monitoring software, Ver. 4) were added to each flow-through system to record temperature ranges, which may affect plant or insect survival. The surface water temperature was recorded at midday, daily, for the duration of the experiment. After 12 weeks, all of the above ground biomass of *L. major* and *E. densa* was collected, dried for 96 hours at 60°C and weighed. Below ground biomass was omitted from analyses as roots of both species were identical and fragile, thus those that broke away from their plant during collection could not be accurately identified.

# 2.2.2 Data Analysis

Relative growth rates (RGRs) of the shoots of each species were calculated using the standard formula described by Evans (1972):

$$RGR = (lnW_2 - lnW_1)/(t_2 - t_1)$$

where  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  are the dry weights at the start and end of the experiment respectively at times  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  (the start and end time in days). To calculate dry weights, 30 individuals taken from the same populations as those used in the experiments were weighed wet and then dried for 96 hours in a drying oven at 60°C. Linear regressions were then used on their wet and dry weights to obtain an equation used for wet to dry conversions:

$$dw_{l} = 0.0468 (ww_{l}) + 0.0188$$
$$dw_{e} = 0.0754 (ww_{e}) + 0.0105$$

where  $dw_l$  and  $dw_e$  are the dry weights of *L. major* and *E. densa*, and  $ww_l$  and  $ww_l$  are the wet weights, respectively.

Multiple regressions on the mean end dry biomass of each species at different planting densities and in different nutrient treatments were performed to determine the changes in competitive ability of the two species under the different treatments. The magnitude of the relationship was determined using the reciprocal-yield model as described by Spitters (1983) and Pantone *et al.* (1989). This involved multiple linear regressions with the inverse of the mean biomass yield for each species at the dependent variable, and the planting densities of *L. major* and *E. densa* as the independent variables. The equations for each plant follow the form of:

$$\frac{1}{W_e} = a_{e0} + a_{ee}d_e + a_{el}d_l$$
$$\frac{1}{W_l} = a_{l0} + a_{ll}d_l + a_{le}d_e$$

where  $W_e$  and  $W_l$  are the mean dry weights of *E. densa* and *L. major*, respectively. The planting densities for *E. densa* and *L. major* are expressed as  $d_e$  and  $d_l$ . The intercepts ( $a_{l0}$  and  $a_{e0}$ ) measure the reciprocal of the maximum weight of individual plants. Intraspecific competition was estimated by the partial regression coefficients  $a_{ee}$  and  $a_{ll}$ . Interspecific competition was estimated by the coefficients  $a_{le}$  and  $a_{el}$  in terms of their effects on the reciprocal yield of biomass for *L. major* or *E. densa*, where each *L. major* plant has an effect of  $1/W_l$  equal to  $a_e/a_l$  *E. densa* plants. Interspecific and intraspecific competition by one species on its own yield, as well as the yield of the other species, was measured using the ratio of the coefficients ( $a_{ll}/a_{le}$  and  $a_{ee}/a_{el}$ ) (Pantone *et al.* 1989).

General linear model analyses of variance (GLM-ANOVAs), followed by Tukey HSD post-hoc tests, were performed to determine whether the mean end-yields and the RGRs of *L. major* and *E. densa* were significantly different between nutrient treatments and initial planting densities. All statistical analyses were conducted in the R environment (version 3.2.3; R Development Core Team, 2014; available at <a href="http://cran.r-project.org">http://cran.r-project.org</a>) using R Studio (version 0.98.1103).

# 2.3 Results

The mean daily surface temperature of the water was 26.4°C ( $\pm$  0.2 S.E), with a minimum of 19.8°C and a maximum of 30.7°C. There were no significant differences between the temperatures of the two systems (F<sub>1.150</sub>=2.461, *P*=0.12).

Egeria densa had significantly higher RGRs than *L. major* ( $F_{1,66}$ =135.09, *P*≤0.000), and had significantly higher RGRs when growing in low nutrient conditions compared to high ( $F_{1,33}$ =10.103, *P*=0.003) (Fig. 2.4). *Lagarosiphon major* responded poorly across all treatments,

producing negative RGRs, indicating varying degrees of plant mortality, although this was significantly reduced for plants in the low nutrient treatment ( $F_{1,33}$ =16.760, P≤0.001). The initial planting ratios significantly affected the RGR of *E. densa*, with higher growth rates at higher initial planting densities ( $F_{1,33}$ =6.882, P≤0.001). There was no effect of planting density on RGR of *L. major* ( $F_{1,33}$ =0.791, P=0.56). There were no significant differences between the RGRs of plants grown in mixed or mono-cultures for either *L. major* ( $F_{1,41}$ =1.49, P=0.23 ) or *E. densa* ( $F_{1,41}$ =0.13, P=0.71), and no significant interactions between the mixed/mono planting densities and nutrients for *L. major* ( $F_{1,41}$ =0.8, P=0.37) or *E. densa* ( $F_{1,41}$ =0.28, P=0.6).





Multiple regression analysis of the biomass of both E. densa and L. major after 16 weeks showed a significant effect of nutrient treatment on their competitive abilities (Table 2.1). The coefficients that measure the relative competitive ability of *E. densa* compared to *L.* major  $(a_{ee}/a_{le})$  increased by 86% in high nutrients where E. densa was 28 times more competitive than L. major (P<0.01). In low nutrient conditions this ratio decreased to 3.92 times more competitive (P<0.001). This shows that intraspecific competition is more important than interspecific competition from L. major on the growth of E. densa within mixed planting densities. In other words, in high nutrients it would take 28 L. major plants to have the same effect on E. densa growth as one E. densa plant. Under low nutrient treatments, E. densa had a slight competitive advantage over L. major at 3.9 times more competitive compared to the effect *L. major* had on *E. densa*; 3.3 times, a difference of 15%. This means that when nutrients are reduced, adding 3.9 *L. major* plants has the same impact on E. densa as one E. densa plant. The ratio of coefficients that measure the relative competitive ability of *L. major* (a<sub>II</sub>/a<sub>eI</sub>) implies that *L. major* became an even weaker competitor relative to E. densa when more nutrients were available; one L. major plant was competitively equivalent to just less than one (0.99) E. densa plant.

Biomass	Nutrients	Intercept	Intraspecific competition <sup>1</sup>	Interspecific competition <sup>2</sup>	Ratio of competition coefficients <sup>3</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>	F <sub>(2-24)</sub>	Р
L. major	High	0.435	0.0239	0.024	0.995	0.086	1.122	0.342
E. densa	High	0.462	0.037	0.002	28	0.372	7.406	<0.01*
L. major	Low	0.214	0.011	0.003	3.333	0.054	0.776	0.47
E. densa	Low	0.229	0.019	0.005	3.918	0.412	9.448	<0.001*

 Table 2.1 Multiple regression analysis of competition between Lagarosiphon major and Egeria densa grown at varying planting densities, and two nutrient treatments.

<sup>1</sup> Intraspecific competition: represented by regression coefficients a<sub>egeg</sub> for *E. densa* and a<sub>ImIm</sub> *L. major.* 

<sup>2</sup> Interspecific competition: represented by regression coefficients a<sub>eglm</sub> for *E. densa* and a<sub>Imeg</sub> *L. major.* 

<sup>3</sup> The ratio of competition coefficients measures the effect of intraspecific competition by one species on its own mass relative to the effects of interspecific competition by the other species; a<sub>egeg</sub>/a<sub>eglm</sub> for *E. densa* and a<sub>lmlm</sub>/a<sub>lmeg</sub> for *L. major.* 

These results reveal that *E. densa* is a superior competitor for resources compared to

*L. major*, and nutrient availability has a strong impact on their competitive fitness. The changes in this relationship at the two nutrient treatments were graphically analysed using three-dimensional graphs (Fig. 2.5, a-d) that illustrate the four reciprocal yield models (Table 2.1). The higher the values on the figure, the lower the actual yield because inverse weight is used; and the steeper the gradient of the slope, the larger the competitive coefficient. The graphs allow for easier comparisons between competitive interactions at both nutrient treatments. The slopes of the planes indicating the effect *E. densa* has on the inverse biomass of *L. major* (Fig. 2.5. a and c) depict the significant increase in competitive ability of *E. densa* over *L. major* in high nutrients compared to low.

# Low nutrients

1 / L. major (g)



**Fig. 2.5** Multiple regression planes demonstrate the combined effect of *Egeria densa* and *Lagarosiphon major* planting densities on the inverse mean dry biomass (1/g) of one *L. major* plant (1/WI) and one *E. densa* plant (1/We) in low (a, b) and high (c, d) nutrients. Points indicate observations (n=5) and the vertical lines between data points represent the residuals. Values on X and Y axes represent *E. densa* and *L. major* planting densities at the outset of the experiment.

The results of this experiment reveal a competitive advantage of the invasive *E. densa* over the trophically analogous native *L. major*. This advantage is considerably greater where nutrient availability is increased.

# 2.4 Discussion

The low levels of *L. major* survival were surprising as this is a species considered highly invasive in New Zealand (Howard-Williams and Davies 1988) and Ireland (Caffrey *et al.* 2008), and it has been reported to have high tolerances to biotic factors such as fluctuating pH and CO<sub>2</sub> levels (Caffrey *et al.* 2008). In addition to the elevated temperatures, the high levels of plant mortality are likely also attributable in some part to competition from *E. densa*. This is supported by the observed elevated levels of *L. major* mortality in the high nutrient treatment, which also saw the competitive ability of *E. densa* increase seven-fold compared to the low nutrient treatments. Under all treatments, the invasive *E. densa* had a competitive advantage over *L. major*.

The increase in *E. densa's* competitive ability was, rather counterintuitively, observed in the same system that saw a significant decrease in *E. densa* growth rate. Growth rate and competitive vigour have been previously found to be positively correlated (Dawson *et al.* 2011). In this instance however, the disparity between growth rate and competitive ability can be explained by the poor survival of *L. major* in the high nutrient treatment. As *L. major* suffered greater mortality, despite the drop in growth rate of *E. densa*, there remained a far wider gap between the end biomass of each species, thus resulting in a higher competition coefficient for *E. densa* in this treatment.

The competition coefficients for each of the submerged species were far more equal in the low nutrient treatment, suggesting that *E. densa* has a superior ability to take up available resources, which underpins the species' competitive advantage, adding further support to the well-documented association between nutrient loading and invasive plant establishment (Davis *et al.* 2000; Daehler 2003). However, in the wider literature that considers *E. densa*, there are conflicting findings. Feijoo *et al.* (1996) report positive correlations between the growth of *E. densa* and both the levels of ammonium in the water column and nitrogen in the sediment, whereas Mony *et al.* (2007) found no effect of increased substrate nutrients on *E. densa* biomass. These contrasting results could be the effects of another variable besides nutrient levels that was perhaps not controlled for, such as temperature. Alternatively they could be the result of resource allocation dependent on competition as discussed previously.

In contrast to the wider literature, the relative growth rate (RGR) of the shoots of *E. densa* were consistently and significantly higher at its highest initial planting densities. An earlier study into the RGR and doubling time of *E. densa* concluded that RGR was notably higher at lower densities (Pistori *et al.* 2004). Similarly, another study of floating macrophytes also report a negative relationship between growth rate and plant population densities (Henry-Silva *et al.* 2002), because as plants grow, they limit the access of other individuals to key resources (Silverston and Doust 1993). However, in this experiment, where fewer resources were available (the low nutrient treatment), there were significantly higher growth rates of the shoots. This trend was also observed in a study comparing growth rates of three Hydrocharitaceae (*Elodea nuttali, E. canadensis* and *L. major*), where all three species exhibited a decrease in root mass and root to shoot ratio in high nutrients, indicating a change in resource allocation away from root production when nutrients are in rich supply (James *et* 

*al.* 2006). This could provide an explanation for the decrease in growth rates of *E. densa* under high nutrient conditions; a decrease in root production would lead to reduced nutrient uptake from the sediment resulting in slower plant growth. This is further supported by the fact that in this experiment, nutrients were provided via the substrate and not in the water column.

The RGRs of *L. major* were consistently negative for all planting densities in both nutrient treatments, and in contrast to the results for *E. densa*, there was no relationship between growth rate and planting density. This means that none of the plants grew, and the majority suffered some degree of mortality, potentially due to the temperatures within the experimental mesocosms. The optimum temperature range for *L. major* plant growth has previously been reported as 20°C to 23°C with a maximum tolerance of 25°C (Kasselmann 1995). The average water temperature of this experiment was 26°C with a peak temperature of just over 30°C. In comparison, the optimum thermal range for *E. densa* falls within those observed in the experiment (16°C to 28°C), and has a recorded maximum tolerance of 35°C suggesting that *E. densa* is unlikely to have been negatively affected by temperature (Barko and Smart, 1981; Getsinger and Dillon 1984; Haramoto and Ikusima 1988; Di Tomaso and Healy 2003).

As *E. densa* has already established in multiple freshwater systems across South Africa, these results should be viewed as a cautionary indication of their potential to out-compete native species and create degraded resilient systems under the right environmental conditions. Whilst *E. densa* is competitively superior to *L. major*, the magnitude of that relationship can be significantly augmented by eutrophication. Research into top-down methods of controlling invasive submerged plants, such as biological control, continues to grow worldwide (McGregor and Gourlay 2002; Coetzee *et al.* 2011a; Cabrera Walsh *et al.* 2012). However, the monitoring and biological control of submerged invasive plants is less

reliable and more difficult than control programmes targeting terrestrial or floating plants (Coetzee *at al.* 2011a). Also, biological control success of aquatic macrophytes has been shown to be negatively correlated with nutrient loading (Heard and Winterton 2000). Considering the eutrophic status of many of South Africa's freshwater systems and the weakening effect of reduced nutrients on the competitive ability of *E. densa* observed in this experiment, there are clear benefits to adopting a more holistic approach to submerged invasive plant control in South Africa.

The results of this experiment provide a useful starting point for the exploration of the proposed regime shift. They showed that *E. densa* is a superior competitor for resources compared to *L. major*, and that the dominance of *E. densa* is greatly increased in eutrophic conditions. They provide baseline information regarding the competitive fitness of *E. densa* under ideal conditions, to which comparisons can be made against future experiments testing the competitive ability of the same species in the context of floating verses submerged plant competition, in a range of nutrient environments.

Under all treatments, the invasive *E. densa* had a competitive advantage over the trophically analogous native *L. major*. In contrast to the wider literature, the relative growth rate (RGR) of *E. densa* was consistently and significantly higher at its highest initial planting densities. An earlier study into the RGR and doubling time of *E. densa* concluded that RGR was notably higher at lower densities (Pistori *et al.* 2004). Similarly, another study of floating macrophytes also report a negative relationship between growth rate and plant population densities (Henry-Silva *et al.* 2002), because as plants grow, they limit the access of other individuals to key resources (Silverston and Doust 1993). However, in this experiment, where fewer resources were available (the low nutrient treatment), there were significantly higher growth rates. This trend was also observed in a study comparing growth rates of three

Hydrocharitaceae (*Elodea nuttali, E. canadensis* and *L. major*), where all three species exhibited a decrease in root mass and root to shoot ratio in high nutrients, indicating a change in resource allocation away from root production when nutrients are in rich supply (James *et al.* 2006). This could provide an explanation for the decrease in growth rates of *E. densa* under high nutrient conditions; a decrease in root production would lead to reduced nutrient uptake from the sediment resulting in slower plant growth. This is further supported by the fact that in this experiment, nutrients were provided via the substrate and not in the water column.

The RGRs of *L. major* were consistently negative for all planting densities in both nutrient treatments, and in contrast to the results for E. densa, there was no relationship between growth rate and planting density. This means that none of the plants grew, and the majority suffered some degree of mortality. The low survival rates may have skewed the data in such a way that meant the assumptions of the inverse linear regression model used to analyse the data (based on the model developed by Spitters 1983) were not appropriately met. This is indicated by the low R<sup>2</sup> values in the regression model output and suggests that the high mortality of L. major may be a limitation in the experimental analysis. The high mortality could be due to the temperatures within the experimental mesocosms. The optimum temperature range for *L. major* plant growth has previously been reported as 20°C to 23°C with a maximum tolerance of 25°C (Kasselmann 1995). The average water temperature of this experiment was 26°C with a peak temperature of just over 30°C. In comparison, the optimum thermal range for E. densa falls within those observed in the experiment (16°C to 28°C), and has a recorded maximum tolerance of 35°C suggesting that E. densa is unlikely to have been negatively affected by temperature (Barko and Smart, 1981; Getsinger and Dillon 1984; Haramoto and Ikusima 1988; Di Tomaso and Healy 2003).

The low levels of *L. major* survival were surprising as this is a species considered highly invasive in New Zealand (Howard-Williams and Davies 1988) and Ireland (Caffrey *et al.* 2008), and it has been reported to have high tolerances to biotic factors such as fluctuating pH and CO<sub>2</sub> levels (Caffrey *et al.* 2008). In addition to the elevated temperatures, the high levels of plant mortality are likely also attributable in some part to competition from *E. densa*. This is supported by the observed elevated levels of *L. major* mortality in the high nutrient treatment, which also saw the competitive ability of *E. densa* increase seven-fold compared to the low nutrient treatments.

The increase in *E. densa's* competitive ability was, rather counterintuitively, observed in the same system that saw a significant decrease in *E. densa* growth rate. Growth rate and competitive vigour have been previously found to be positively correlated (Dawson *et al.* 2011). In this instance however, the disparity between growth rate and competitive ability can be explained by the poor survival of *L. major* in the high nutrient treatment. As *L. major* suffered greater mortality, despite the drop in growth rate of *E. densa*, there remained a far wider gap between the end biomass of each species, thus resulting in a higher competition coefficient for *E. densa* in this treatment.

The competition coefficients for each of the submerged species were far more equal in the low nutrient treatment, suggesting that *E. densa* has a superior ability to take up available resources, which underpins the species' competitive advantage, adding further support to the well-documented association between nutrient loading and invasive plant establishment (Davis *et al.* 2000; Daehler 2003). However, in the wider literature that considers *E. densa*, there are conflicting findings. Feijoo *et al.* (1996) report positive correlations between the growth of *E. densa* and both the levels of ammonium in the water column and nitrogen in the sediment, whereas Mony *et al.* (2007) found no effect of increased

substrate nutrients on *E. densa* biomass. These contrasting results could be the effects of another variable besides nutrient levels that was perhaps not controlled for, such as temperature. Alternatively they could be the result of resource allocation dependent on competition as discussed previously.

As E. densa has already established in multiple freshwater systems across South Africa, these results should be viewed as a cautionary indication of their potential to out-compete native species and create degraded resilient systems under the right environmental conditions. Whilst E. densa is competitively superior to L. major, the magnitude of that relationship can be significantly augmented by eutrophication. Research into top-down methods of controlling invasive submerged plants, such as biological control, continues to grow worldwide (McGregor and Gourlay 2002; Coetzee et al. 2011a; Cabrera Walsh et al. 2012). However, the monitoring and biological control of submerged invasive plants is less reliable and more difficult than control programmes targeting terrestrial or floating plants (Coetzee at al. 2011a). Also, biological control success of aquatic macrophytes has been shown to be negatively correlated with nutrient loading (Heard and Winterton 2000). Considering the eutrophic status of many of South Africa's freshwater systems and the weakening effect of reduced nutrients on the competitive ability of *E. densa* observed in this experiment, there are clear benefits to adopting a more holistic approach to submerged invasive plant control in South Africa.

The results of this experiment provide a useful starting point for the exploration of the proposed regime shift. They showed that *E. densa* is a superior competitor for resources compared to *L. major*, and that the dominance of *E. densa* is greatly increased in eutrophic conditions. They provide baseline information regarding the competitive fitness of *E. densa* under ideal conditions, to which comparisons can be made against future experiments testing

the competitive ability of the same species in the context of floating verses submerged plant competition, in a range of nutrient environments. The next step is to asses the responses of each species, individually, to the conditions under which the regime shift is believed to occur. This is important to address as many of the artificially built water bodies in South Africa have low numbers of native submerged plants occupying them, meaning that when invasive plants such as E. densa colonise them they are free from native plant competition which could strengthen the feedback loops within the proposed regime shift.

# Chapter 3

# A mesocosm study exploring the shift between floating and submerged invasive plant dominance

# **3.1 Introduction**

Ecosystems are dynamic structures defined by the interactions and internal processes that occur within them. These processes maintain an equilibrium that can be fluid in its response to external pressures and maintain varying degrees of stability. This means that when internal processes such as competition and nutrient cycling are altered by external pressures, such as nutrient loading or species removal, the result can be a shift from one stable state to another (Scheffer and Carpenter 2003; Scheffer 2009). It is not always possible to predict the occurrence of a regime shift or how the alternate regime will function (Folke *et al.* 2009). A shift can occur when the change in environmental conditions is small, but passes a critical threshold referred to as the bifurcation point (Scheffer and Carpenter 2003). The capacity for a system to withstand significant disturbance or pressure without experiencing a regime shift is termed resilience (Hollings 1973; Walker *et al.* 2004) and stability landscapes are a helpful method of visually demonstrating this dynamic (Fig. 3.1).



**Fig. 3.1.** Stability landscapes used to demonstrate regime shifts. In this example, the ball represents the system (e.g. lake, forest, grassland) as it responds to changes in environmental conditions (e.g. nutrient loading, species removal, fire). The steepness of the valleys corresponds to the system's stability; shallow valleys have low resilience and can be perturbed more easily. The bottom plane depicts the equilibrium curve; stable equilibria align with valleys (reproduced from Scheffer 2009).

The structure and functioning of an ecosystem can be determined by those species that dominate it; such species are often termed 'ecosystem engineers' (Wright and Jones 2006). Depending on environmental conditions, both submerged and floating macrophytes can be superior competitors for different resources, and it has therefore been suggested that alternate stable states of either submerged or floating plants can exist (Scheffer 2003). This is due to an asymmetry in competition for resources; submerged plants can access nutrients in the sediment whilst removing nutrients in the water column, limiting the growth of floating macrophytes, whereas floating plants have more access to light and are able to shade out submerged species (Scheffer 2009). Competition between floating and submerged aquatic plants has previously been explored experimentally. A study on the submerged *Elodea nuttallii* John (HydrocharitaceaeSt. ) and the floating *Lemna gibba* L. (Araceae) found the competitive relationship to be highly nutrient dependent, with *E. nuttallii* only able to sustain dominance at low nutrient levels (Szabo *et al.* 2010). Similarly, Netten *et al.* (2010) quantified the role of nutrients, temperature and initial planting density on competition between *E. nutallii* and the floating *Salvinia natans* (L.) All. (Salviniaceae) in a mesocosm environment. They also found nutrient conditions to be highly influential, but found the floating species outcompeted the submerged across all treatments, even at low nutrients. The growth forms of competing plants also affect interactions; larger surface area of floating species will affect shading ability, and substantial root structures will affect nutrient uptake (Weiner and Thomas 1986; Schwinning and Weiner 1998; Horvitz and Scemske 2002).

Regime shifts, driven by external nutrient loading (due to increased urbanisation and agricultural practices), changes in water depth (also from flooding) and turbidity (from sediment run off and algal growth), between submerged and floating plants are recognised in the literature (Rabalais 2002; Scheffer *et al.* 2003). Changes in water depth and turbidity reduce light availability in the lower levels of the water column, reducing photosynthetic opportunities for submerged plants and therefore increasing the competitive advantage of floating plants for light (Nolzen 2013). When nutrient levels are not too high, nutrients settle onto the sediment floor to be taken up by submerged plants, their growth then removes nutrients from the system, thereby maintaining low nutrient levels. However, if nutrient loading crosses a critical threshold, levels of nutrients in the water column increase and provide favourable conditions for floating plants to thrive (Oliver 1993; Coops and Doef 1996; Janse and Van Puijenbroeck 1998).

Undesireable stable states defined by the dominance of floating invasive plants, such as giant salvinia, (*Salvinia molesta* D.S. Mitch. (Salviniaceae)) and water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes* (C. Mart.) Solms (Pontederiacaeae)) occur in systems worldwide (Mitchell 1985; Center *et al.* 1994; Scheffer *et al.* 2003; Gaertner et al. 2014). Once established, these plants can be difficult to eradicate as they form dense mats on the water's surface that promote anoxic conditions within the water column and negatively impact submerged biodiversity (Midgley *et al.* 2006; Hill 2003)

In South Africa, systems dominated by such species have been known to remain in that stable state for long periods of time. Eutrophication is a known driver of the initial establishment and growth of these species (Davis *et al.* 2000; Daehler 2003) and their superiority in competition for light can lead to the reduction and death of submerged plant populations (Janes *et al.* 1996). Nutrients previously trapped within the sediment and locked within submerged plants are then returned to the water column, augmenting nutrient concentrations in the water, thereby supporting floating plant growth and increasing system resilience (Ludwig *et al.* 1997; Scheffer *et al.* 2003).

A stable state defined by the dominance of submerged macrophytes, which are able to outcompete floating plants, as described by Scheffer (2003), is rarely seen in South African systems where many of the most problematic invasive floating macrophytes have established. However, the nationwide success of biological control programmes against floating invasive macrophytes in South Africa, has resulted in a weakening of the stable states dominated by these species, and opportunities for new species assemblages is being made apparent (Coetzee *et al.* 2011a).

South Africa's freshwater systems have been vulnerable invasive macrophyte establishment due to an unfavourable combination of pre-existing conditions. The natural

topography of the region means that the majority of freshwater bodies are manmade (Basson *et al.* 1997), and historic mismanagement has resulted in their eutrophication (Ashton *et al.* 2008). It also means there is a relatively low diversity of native species for invasive plants to compete with for resources, resulting in the establishment of very resilient degraded states, dominated by floating invasive plants (Hill 2003). The past 45 years of invasive aquatic plant management in South Africa has primarily focussed on controlling five key species: the previously mentioned *S. molesta* and water hyacinth (*E. crassipes*), water lettuce (*Pistia stratiot*es L. (Araceae)), red water fern (*Azolla filiculoides* Lam. (Azollaceae)) and parrot's feather (*Myriophyllum aquaticum* Vell. Verde (Haloragaceae)) (Hill 2003; Coetzee *et al.* 2011b).

The overall aim of these biological control programmes has been to return the invaded water body into a functioning system with high native biodiversity and improved accessibility to freshwater, essentially inducing a regime shift. However, as noted by Coetzee *et al.* (2011a), the successful biological control of floating invasives often results in habitats that are highly vulnerable to invasion from submerged aquatic plants such as *Hydrilla verticillata* (L.f.) Royle (Hydrocharitaceae), Brazilian waterweed, *Egeria densa* Planch. (Hydrocharitaceae) and Eurasian watermilfoil, *Myriophyllum spicatum* L. (Haloragaceae), whose distribution and spread throughout South Africa has increased significantly over the last 10 years (Madeira *et al.* 2007; Fordham 2012).

The application of biological control agents on invasive floating plants rapidly diminishes their populations, and their decay results in a sudden influx of nutrients and increased light in the water column (Jewell 1971; Hill 1979; Shilla *et al.* 2006;; Chimney and Pietro 2006; Longhi *et al* 2008). This study proposes that these attributes create a resource-rich and poorly occupied habitat that is vulnerable to submerged invasive plant colonisation.

Whilst biological control effectively reduces populations of floating invasive plants, the effect this has on the submerged plant community structure has not previously been explored. Thus, this study proposes that freshwater ecosystems may experience a regime shift, from floating invasive plant dominance to submerged invasive plant dominance, driven by the application of biological control agents on the floating plants. The equilibria maintaining the initial stable state are altered and a new degraded state, dominated by submerged invasives plants, is created.

As discussed in Chapter Two, both *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridl.) Moss (Hydrocharitaceae) and *E. densa* have been cause for ecological and economic concern in regions around the globe. Their ability to dominate systems by outcompeting other submerged macrophytes, lower biodiversity and degrade water quality have all well been documented (Feijoo *et al.* 1996; Hofstra *et al.* 1999; Mony *et al.* 2005; Caffery *et al.* 2011; Borgnis and Boyer 2015). Findings presented in the previous chapter showed that *E. densa* was a superior competitor to *L. major*, a trait enhanced in nutrient rich environments. In order to determine the possibility of a regime shift occurring, this chapter explored the competitive ability of each species against the floating *P. stratiotes*, and investigated how this relationship is affected by the biological control of the floating plant.

To explore this proposed regime shift, mesocosm experiments were conducted to compare how the growth of native submerged *L. major* and invasive submerged *E. densa* was (independently) affected by the biological control of the floating invasive macrophyte, *P. stratiotes*, in a range of nutrient conditions and planting densities. Whilst the mesocosms cannot replicate the highly complex web of interactions and processes that occur within whole, natural ecosystems, the competitive interactions between species are easier to

interpret in an experimental setting, and findings can be used to guide understanding of observations in the field.

## 3.2 Materials and methods

The potential for the biological control of the floating invasive *P. stratiotes* to induce a regime shift was investigated in two experiments. The first explored a shift to an invasive submerged state, and the second to an indigenous submerged state.

## 3.2.1 Experimental design

Both experiments were conducted inside greenhouse tunnels at the Waainek Research Facility at Rhodes University in Grahamstown, South Africa. It was not possible to run both experiments concurrently due to space constraints, therefore they were repeated at similar times in consecutive years to minimise differences in environmental conditions. The first experiment (P. stratiotes and E. densa) was completed between 8 April - 17 June 2015, while the second experiment (P. stratiotes and L. major) ran from 4 April - 20 May 2016. Individual *P. stratiotes* plants were sourced from insect-free stock plants maintained at the Waainek Research Facility. Adult Neohydronomus affinis, a weevil routinely used in the biological control of P. stratiotes (Cilliers 1991c), were supplied by the South African Sugarcane Research Institute (SASRI). Each of the submerged plants was collected six months before the start of their respective experiments and were cultivated at the Waainek Research Facility where they grew in connected tanks of spring water under 80% shade cloth under optimum nutrient conditions. The E. densa culture was collected from the Kouga River, near Patensie, Eastern Cape, (-33.748506, 24.635446), and the L. major culture was collected from a population in a quarry dam near Stutterheim, Eastern Cape, (-32.587336, 27.463443). Prior to the initiation of both experiments, the submerged plants were treated with Malathion

(Kombat), an organophosphate insecticide (0.01ml/10l) to kill any phytophagous insects associated with the submerged plants collected from the field.

Both experiments were conducted in mesocosms constructed from individual black plastic 70L bins (55cm diameter), each filled with 65L of spring water. In the bottom of each bin, a 10L planting container was filled with a 10cm layer of pond sediment topped with a 2cm layer of silica sand to prevent clouding of the water and limit algal growth. Sediment was collected from Jameson Dam, Eastern Cape, South Africa, (–33.319073 S; 26.444206 N). The sediment was analyzed for nutrient composition by Bemlab (Pty) Ltd. Assay Laboratory (Stellenbosch, SA) and was reported to be loam sediment comprising of 0.11% nitrogen (for full analyses see Appendix D).

Thirty apical shoots (20 cm in length) of the relevant submerged species were planted in each container, and left for three weeks to acclimatise and grow to a starting density of 100 percent cover. Digital thermometers (Thermachron iButtons used with Climastats Environmental Monitoring software, version 4) were placed in waterproof vials and floated on the surface of the water to record the temperature at midday throughout the experiment.

There were three initial planting density treatments, each a different ratio of floating to submerged plants: 90:10%, 50:50% and 10:90% respectively. After the acclimation phase, either 27, 15 or 3 shoots were removed from each container in order to represent the 10, 50 and 90% densities of the submerged plant, respectively. To achieve the planting densities of the floating *P. stratiotes* (90, 50 and 10%), either nine, five or one rosette(s) each of a similar size class (12-16cm diameter) were added to the mesocosms (Fig. 3.2).



**Fig. 3.2**. The three initial planting density ratios of floating to submerged plant percent cover (90:10 *left*, 50:50 *centre* and 10:90 *right*). (Photo: Emily Strange)

There were a total of 24 possible treatment combinations arranged in a full factorial design, replicated three times, resulting in a total of 72 mesocosms. The mesocosms were set up in a random block design (Fig. 3.3). The treatment combinations consisted of the three initial planting densities, in the presence or absence of the host specific biological control agent N. affinis on P. stratiotes, growing at four initial nitrogen concentrations of the water. For the biological control treatments, two mating weevil pairs per water lettuce rosette were used to ensure control would be reached (Diop et al. 2010). There were four nutrient treatments; very low, low, high and very high (0.0, 0.1, 1.0 and 10.0 mg N/I respectively). Nitrogen was added using a solution of ammonium nitrate and water. Phosphorous was added to each nutrient treatment as part of a standard Hoaglands solution (5.2mg/l, Hoagland and Arnon 1938) which ensures sufficient micronutrients for optimal plant growth, as wider literature concludes phosphorus is not limiting for *E. densa* (Feijoo *et al.* 1996) or *L.* major (Rattray 1991). Once the experiment was set up, fine white gauze was secured over each mesocosm to prevent N. affinis movement between containers, and both experiments ran for 10 weeks.



**Fig. 3.3**. The mesocosms were arranged in a full factorial, random block design. (Photo Emily Strange)

# 3.2.2 Measurements

The shoots of the submerged plants that were removed at the beginning of each experiment (to create the three planting densities) were dried, weighed and the average shoot weight was used to calculate the remaining above-ground biomass in each mesocosm at the start of the experiments. After ten weeks, the above and below-ground biomass for the submerged plants were harvested, dried in drying ovens at 96°C for 72 hours and weighed to calculate the relative growth rate (RGR) over the experimental period.

The RGRs were calculated using the standard formula (Evans, 1972):

$$RGR = (lnW_2 - lnW_1)/(t_2 - t_1)$$

where  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  are the start and end dry weights respectively at  $t_1$  and  $t_2$ , the start and end time in days.

The damage to *P. stratiotes* caused by *N. affinis* resulted in fragile plants that could not be handled, therefore only start and end weights were recorded. Aerial photographs of the mesocosms were taken weekly and digital image analysis software (imageJ version 1.49, National Institutes of Health, available at http://imagej.nih.gov/ij) was used to calculate the percentage cover of healthy *P. stratiotes* plant tissue over time. This was achieved by calculating the percentage cover of each tank that contained pixels of healthy green tissue, and omitting shades of yellow and brown that are characteristic of damaged or dead plant tissue.

Leaf tissue samples from *E. densa and P. stratiotes* were collected for analyses of C:N ratios from every mesocosm at the start and end of the experiment to determine changes in plant quality. *Lagarosiphon major* samples were collected but were not included in the analysis, as there were not enough viable samples at the end point of the experiment due to high plant mortality. Samples were oven dried for 72 hours at 60°C and ground to a fine powder. Leaf tissue analyses were performed on a Flash EA 1112 Series coupled to a Delta V Plus stable light Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometer via a ConFlo IV system (all equipment supplied by Thermo Fischer, Bremen, Germany), housed at the Stable Isotope Laboratory, Mammal Research Institute, University of Pretoria. Precision of replicate determinations was 0.15 for nitrogen and 0.18 for carbon.

Multiple environmental parameters within the mesocosms were also measured. Weekly ammonium  $[NH_4+]$  (mg/L) and nitrate  $[NO_3-]$  (mg/L) levels were measured with Vernier Software and Technology<sup>TM</sup> ion specific electrodes (ISE) and a LabQuest<sup>®</sup> 2 interface.

These were measured to monitor temporal changes in nutrient concentrations. Every fortnight, dissolved oxygen was measured using a Sper Scientific 850045 DO pen, and pH was measured using a Eutech PCTEST35 multi-parameter pen. Light levels (PAR) were recorded five centimetres below water surface in the centre of each mesocosm using an Apogee MQ-200 Quantum Meter.

# 3.2.3 Data analyses

General linear model (GLM) full factorial analyses of variance (ANOVA), followed by Tukey HSD post-hoc tests were performed to investigate interactions between initial planting density, biological control and nutrient level on relative growth rates (RGR) and plant quality measurements across treatments. Linear regression models tested for significant correlations between both plant biomass and growth rates of each species and all environmental and plant quality variables within the mesocosms, as well as percentage cover of *P. stratiotes*. Homogeneity of slopes was analysed using an analyses of co-variance (ANCOVA), to determine interactions between *P. stratiotes* biomass/percent cover and biological control on submerged plant biomass. All statistical analyses were conducted in the R environment (version 3.2.3; R Development Core Team, 2014; available at <u>http://cran.r-project.org</u>) using R Studio (version 0.98.1103).

## 3.5 Results

Temperatures were not significantly different between the two experimental time periods and therefore can be ruled out as a significant variable ( $F_{(1,33)}=0.551$ , P=0.46). Neither pH nor light were significantly correlated with the growth of *E. densa* (light:  $F_{(1,70)}=0.658$ , P=0.42; pH:  $F_{(1,70)}=1.795$ , P=0.185) or *L. major* (light:  $F_{(1,63)}=0.103$ , P=0.749, pH:  $F_{(1,53)}=0.922$ , P=0.341). These variables were subsequently removed from further analyses.

Both the dry biomass of *L. major* or *E. densa* in relation to *P. stratiotes* dry biomass at the beginning of each experiment show a general clustering of the data into three groups, which was representative of the three initial planting ratios of the submerged and floating plants i.e. 10:90, 50:50 and 90:10 (%) floating to submerged (Fig. 3.4).



**Fig. 3.4.** The relationship between the starting biomass of *Pistia stratiotes* and the starting biomass of (a) *Lagarosiphon major* and (b) *Egeria densa*. Each marker represents a mesocosm, in the absence (- BC) or presence (+BC) of *Neohydronomus affinis*, the biological control agent of *P. stratiotes*.
At the end of the experiment, an increase in the biomass of *P. stratiotes* significantly reduced the biomass of *L. major* and *E. densa*, both in the presence and absence of biological control agents on *P. stratiotes* (Fig. 3.5). The relationships between the biomass of *L. major* and *P. stratiotes* in the presence and absence of biological control were significant ( $F_{(1,60)}$  =16.12, *P*=0.0002). However an ANOVA used to test the homogeneity of slopes revealed that the slopes of each relationship did not differ ( $F_{(59,60)}$  =0.1836, *P*=0.6699). In contrast, the biomass of *E. densa* was significantly affected by the biomass of *P. stratiotes* ( $F_{(63,64)}$ =7.6674, *P*=0.0074), and in the presence of biocontrol agents, the slope was significantly steeper ( $F_{(1,63)}$  =4.184, *P*=0.0449). This indicates that as *P. stratiotes* is controlled (and biomass is reduced), the biomass of *E. densa* plants increases; supporting the theory that *E. densa* can capitalise on the resources made available through the process of biological control.



**Fig. 3.5.** The relationship between biomass of *Pistia stratiotes* and (a) *Lagarosiphon major* and (b) *Egeria densa* at the end of each experiment. Each marker represents a mesocosm, in the presence (+BC) or absence (-BC) of *Neohydronomus affinis,* the biological control agent of *P. stratiotes.* \* indicates statistical significance.

Full factorial ANOVAs were conducted to analyse interspecific differences between the relative growth rates (RGRs) of *L. major* and *E. densa*, as well as the intraspecific differences between the various initial planting densities and biological control treatments (Fig. 3.6). The main effects of the four nutrient treatments, under all conditions were not significant, therefore this variable was removed from the model. Post-hoc Tukey HSD tests were performed to explore the significant differences between each combination of treatments (denoted with letters on Fig. 3.6.).

## Interspecific differences

The RGRs of *L. major* were significantly lower than those of *E. densa* in both the absence  $(F_{(1,64)}=14.911, P \le 0.001)$  (Fig. 3.6 **a**), and presence  $(F_{(1,61)}=73.905, P \le 0.0001)$  (Fig. 3.6 **b**) of biocontrol agents on *P. stratiotes*. In addition, the effect of initial planting density on RGR was significantly different between the two species  $(F_{(2,61)}=3.771, P=0.0286)$ , with lower planting densities exhibiting increased growth rates.

## Intraspecific differences

There was no significant highest order interaction between biological control treatments, initial planting density and nutrient levels for both *E. densa* ( $F_{6,42}$ =0.0548, *P*=0.769) and *L. major* ( $F_{6,40}$ =2.043, *P*=0.082) (Fig. 3.6). However, the biological control treatment of *P. stratiotes* significantly increased the RGRs of *E. densa* ( $F_{(2,42)}$ =16.458, *P*≤0.001) but not *L. major* ( $F_{(1,40)}$ =2.988,*P*=0.0916). Similarly, the initial planting density also significantly affected the RGRs of *E. densa* ( $F_{(2,42)}$ =10.980, *P*≤0.0001) and not *L. major* ( $F_{(1,40)}$ =1.583, *P*=0.2179). RGRs of *E. densa* were significantly higher at the lowest initial planting density compared to 90 and 50%.



a) Without biocontrol agents on Pistia stratiotes

**Fig. 3.6** The relative growth rate (mean  $\pm$  S.E) of *Lagarosiphon major* (left) and *Egeria densa* (right), at the three initial planting densities, **(a)** in the absence of biological control of *Pista stratiotes* and **(b)** in the presence of the biological control agent *Neohydronomus affinis*. The four data series are the nutrient treatments of the mesocosms (VH=very high, H=high, L=low, VL=very low). There were no significant higher order interactions between variables.

The levels of dissolved oxygen recorded in the mesocosms was considerably lower than expected. After 10 weeks, the final biomass of both species significantly increased with higher levels of dissolved oxygen in the water column, although the relationship between biomass and dissolved oxygen was much weaker for *L. major* (Fig. 3.7). The correlation differed significantly between the two species ( $F_{(2,134)} = 16.178, P \le 0.0001$ ), with a significantly steeper slope for *E. densa* than for *L. major* ( $F_{(1,133)} = 105.81, P \le 0.0001$ ). This suggests an increased level of photosynthesis for *E. densa* compared to *L. major*.



**Fig. 3.7** Relationship between the biomass of *Egeria densa* and *Lagarosiphon major* after 10 weeks, with the dissolved oxygen (%) of the water in each mesocosm. \* indicates significance.

There was a significant negative correlation between the biomass of *P. stratiotes* and the levels of dissolved oxygen in the water (Fig. 3.8). In the context of the previous results, this relationship makes sense ecologically; as biomass of *P. stratiotes* decreases, that of *E. densa* increases, therefore photosynthetic rates rise, leading to elevated dissolved oxygen in the water.



**Fig. 3.8**. The relationship between the dry weight (g) of *P. stratiotes* and the recorded levels of dissolved oxygen (%) in the water after 10 weeks. \* indicates significance.

Significant differences were also found between the relationships of the two submerged species and the corresponding levels of nitrogen in the water ( $F_{(2,132)} = 7.7815$ , P=0.006). Once again the relationship between the two variables was very weak for *L. major*, while the slope for *E. densa* was significantly steeper than that of *L. major* ( $F_{(1,131)} = 59.584$ ,  $P \le 0.0001$ ) (Fig. 3.9). As levels of nitrogen (mg N/I) in the water column increased, the biomass of *E. densa* significantly increased. For total and weekly measurements of ammonium and nitrate recorded in the *E. densa* mesocosms see Appendices A and B. Contrastingly, the negative

relationship between biomass of *L*. and concentrations of nitrogen in the water were non-significant.



**Fig. 3.9**. The relationship between end dry biomass ( $\log g^{-1}$ ) of *Egeria densa* and *Lagarosiphon major* and the concentrations of nitrogen in the water (mg/l) of each mesocosm. \* indicates significance.

The biomass of *P. stratiotes* decreased significantly as concentrations of nitrogen in the water increased (Fig. 3.10). This trend supports the hypothesis that as *P. stratiotes* is controlled, plant decomposition leads to increased nutrient release into the water.



**Fig. 3.10** The relationship between biomass (g) of *P. stratiotes* after ten weeks and the nitrogen concentration in the water (mg/l). (\*) denotes significance.

As the surface cover of *P. stratiotes* increased, there was a significant decrease in the biomass of both *E. densa* and *L. major* (Fig. 3.11). The relationship between submerged plant biomass and the surface cover of *P. stratiotes* differed significantly between the two species ( $F_{(1,133)} = 5.1947$ , *P*=0.0245). The slope for *E. densa* was, again, significantly steeper than that of *L. major* ( $F_{(1,133)} = 165.864$ , *P*≤0.0001), indicating that as percentage cover of *P. stratiotes* decreases, *E. densa* capitalises on the newly available resources for growth, compared to *L. major*.



**Fig. 3.11** The relationship between the dry weight (g) of *Egeria densa* and *Lagarosiphon major* with the surface cover (%) of *Pistia stratiotes* after ten weeks. (\*) indicates significance.

At the beginning of the experiment, there were no significant differences between the carbon to nitrogen (C:N) ratios of *E. densa* across all treatments ( $F_{(6,46)}$ =1.136, P=0.356) (Fig. 3.12 a). After ten weeks, there was no significant higher order interaction between biological control treatments, initial planting density and nutrient levels for the C:N ratios of *E. densa* ( $F_{(6,42)}$ =0.308, P=0.929) or *P. stratiotes* ( $F_{(6,40)}$ =2.043, P=0.082) (Fig. 3.13). However, there was a significant effect of initial planting density for *E. densa* ( $F_{(2,53)}$ =5.520, P=0.006), as well as initial nutrient treatment of the water ( $F_{(3,53)}$ =9.094, P≤0.0001). The C:N ratios were significantly lower at the lowest initial planting density compared to the highest, and significantly lower at the very high nutrient treatment compared to all others (Fig. 3.12 b). These results indicate that *E. densa* growing at low initial densities and in high nutrient conditions produces higher quality plant tissue compared to those in high densities and with fewer available resources.







(b)

**Fig. 3.12** The mean ( $\pm$  S.E) C:N ratio of *Egeria densa* for each initial treatment at the beginning (a) and the end (b) of the experiment. Capital letters denote sig. differences between planting densities, lower case letters denote significant differences between nutrient treatments. Nutrient treatments are denoted as per the following; VL= very low, L = low, H= high and VH = very high.

The relationships between the C:N ratios of *E. densa* and nitrogen concentration in the water were not significant, regardless of the biological control treatments of *P. stratiotes* (Fig. 3.13).



**Fig. 3.13** The relationship between the C:N ratio of *Egeria densa* and the nitrogen concentration (mg/l) in the water. Each marker represents a mesocosm, in the presence (BC = 1) or absence (BC = 0) of *Neohydronomus affinis*, the biological control agent of *Pistia stratiotes*.

The C:N ratios of *P. stratiotes* at the end of the experiment (Fig. 3.14) were significantly affected by the presence or absence of biological control agents ( $F_{(1,58)}$ =9.768, *P*=0.002) and nutrient level ( $F_{(3,58)}$ =19.891, *P*≤0.0001), but initial planting density had no significant effect ( $F_{(2,42)}$ =0.430, *P*=0.71). The C:N ratios were significantly lower for plants growing in the very high nutrient treatment compared to all other nutrient levels, indicative of higher plant quality and health.



**Fig. 3.14** The mean ( $\pm$  S.E) C:N ratio of *Pistia stratiotes* for each initial treatment after ten weeks in the presence and absence of biological control. Capital letters denote significant differences between planting densities, lower case letters denote significant differences between nutrient treatments. Nutrient treatments are denoted as per the following; VL= very low, L = low, H= high and VH = very high.

Due to high levels of plant mortality for *L. major*, the collection of sufficient samples to obtain C:N ratio analyses was not possible, therefore this analysis was not completed.

The results from these experiments show contrasting trends in the response of *L*. *major* and *E*. *densa* to the biological control of *P*. *stratiotes*. They suggest an increased capacity of *E*. *densa* to capitalise on resources made newly available through the biological control of *P*. *stratiotes* compared to *L*. *major*. The findings provide evidence for the proposed regime shift between floating invasive and submerged invasive plant dominance as driven by the biological control of the floating plants. The shift between floating and submerged plants did not occur between the invasive *P*. *stratiotes* and the native *L*. *major*.

## 3.4 Discussion

The experiments outlined in this chapter found that healthy *P. stratiotes* significantly lowered the biomass of both submerged species across all nutrient treatments and planting densities, supporting the findings of Netten *et al.* (2010). However, over time *E. densa* and *L. major* each responded differently to the presence of damaged (controlled) *P. stratiotes*. The biological control treatment did not alter the relationship between floating and submerged biomass for the native *L. major*. In contrast, the process of biological control did significantly alter the relationship between the biomass of *P. stratiotes* and the invasive *E. densa*. Mesocosms with controlled *P. stratiotes* had a significantly higher biomass of *E. densa* than those without control agents. As the biological control agents reduced the competitive vigour of *P. stratiotes*, *E. densa* was able to exploit the newly available resources to promote growth, indicated by a significant increase in RGR and biomass. This altered dynamic between controlled floating and submerged plants was not reflected in the *L. major* experiment, demonstrating the native species' reduced capacity to compete for newly available resources

compared to *E. densa*. A contributing factor to this outcome could be that *L. major* has evolved in the absence of floating macrophytes for which to compete for resources, whereas *E. densa* originates from South America that does have native floating macrophytes.

Studies have shown a strong positive association between a species' RGR and its competitive ability and invasiveness (Kolar and Lodge 2001; Grotkopp et al. 2002; Dawson et al. 2011). In this experiment, the RGRs of *L. major*, even when starting at a much higher initial density than that of *P. stratiotes*, were below zero, demonstrating plant mortality in almost all treatments. This trend occurred despite the biological control of *P. stratiotes*, once again supporting the previous conclusion that L. major cannot compete for resources in the presence of P. stratiotes, regardless of its condition. In contrast, the RGRs of E. densa demonstrated growth across all but one of the treatment combinations. When the initial planting density of *E. densa* was at just 10%, the highest RGRs were observed. This is in contrast to the findings reported in the previous chapter, but is supported by the wider literature, where a study by Pistori et al. (2004) on the RGR and doubling time of E. densa also found increased growth rates at lower plant densities, and a more general study into the growth rates of floating aquatic plants report a similar trend (Henry-Silva et al. 2002). It has been suggested that this occurs because as plant density increases, access to resources from individuals is reduced, thus following the conventions of intraspecific competition (Silverston and Doust 1993). Interestingly, some of the results from this experiment and those discussed in Chapter two found increased growth rates of *E. densa* in lower nutrient environments. This negative relationship between nutrient availability and growth rate was reported in a study previously referenced, exploring competition between three Hydrocharitaceae species (Elodea canadensis (Michx), Elodea nuttalii (Planch) and L. major) (James et al. 2006). The study suggests the relationship between nutrients and growth rate is due to increased root

production in high nutrients, so resources are partitioned away from producing above ground biomass, which could be an explanation for the results of this experiment.

The presence of biologically controlled *P. stratiotes* significantly increased the RGRs of *E. densa*; an expected outcome as more resources were made available through the breakdown of the damaged floating plants (Chimney and Pietro 2006; Shilla *et al.* 2006; Longhi *et al.* 2008). This conclusion is also supported by the plant tissue nutrient analysis of *E. densa*. Nitrogen content of plant tissue, reported as a ratio to carbon content (C:N), is used as an indicator of plant health. It has been used to gauge plant quality in numerous herbivory studies. Those with lower ratios are in better condition and therefore more palatable to potential herbivores (Byrant *et al.* 1983; White 1984; Price 2000). The increased intraspecific competition limiting the growth rates of *E. densa* at the 90% planting density can also explain the reduced condition of these plants as indicated by their elevated C:N ratios. With more plants competing for the same resources compared to the lower planting densities, each individual had fewer opportunities to capitalise on them. In keeping with this trend, the C:N ratios of *E. densa* at the lowest initial planting density (10%) demonstrated increased plant condition.

Interestingly, *E. densa* in mesocosms with controlled *P. stratiotes* that exhibited increased growth rates, did not produce plant tissue with lower C:N ratios when compared to mesocosms without biological control. Despite more nutrients being made available, and more biomass being produced, the quality of the plant tissue, overall, was diminished. This contradictory pattern could be a function of resource allocation, where submerged plants expend more resources on increasing biomass as opposed to producing high quality shoots when more nutrients are available, exhibiting a preference for quantity over quality. Resource

allocation studies have documented this occurrence in other submerged macrophytes such as *Myriophyllum spicatum* L. (Haloragaceae), and other members of the Hydrocharitaceae family: *E. canadensis* and *H. verticillata* (Madsen 1991; Nichols and Shaw 1986). Changes in light, temperature, herbivory, sediment type and nutrient environments have all been cited as triggers for changes in resource allocation (Xie *et al.* 2004; Xie *et al.* 2005; Pratt *et al.* 2005).

The results for the plant tissue analysis of *P. stratiotes* revealed that when subjected to biological control, plants had significantly lower C:N ratios compared to those undamaged, indicating increased plant health for controlled plants. Although this seems counterintuitive, this is most likely due to the age of leaves sampled; the youngest leaf of the middle rosette in each mesocosm was used for the C:N analysis. However, in non-controlled mesocosms, growth of *P. stratiotes* will have initially increased, then levelled out as resources depleted, resulting in reduced production of daughter plants as intraspecific competition increases (this is supported by studies that show *P. stratiotes* to be highly efficient at removing nutrients from the water column (Lu et al. 2010)). In contrast, plants subjected to biological control, and particularly those in very high nutrients which had significantly lower C:N ratios, became damaged and plant tissue broke down. This created fluctuations in resource availability over the course of the experiment as opposed to consistently decreasing levels of nutrients when healthy P. stratiotes were present. The decomposition released more nutrients into the system which the remaining plants used to rapidly produce new daughter plants. Compensatory regrowth as a product of altered nutrient cycling driven by herbivory pressure has been previously documented (McNaughton 1983; Holland et al. 1992). Therefore, at the end of the experimental period, the individual plant used for nutrient analysis is potentially younger in the controlled mesocosms as opposed to non-controlled.

Due to the high levels of plant mortality exhibited by *L. major* across all treatments, and the fact a regime shift was not observed, analysis of plant tissue was not performed. However, changes in biomass patterns, RGRs and plant health of *E. densa* in the presence of controlled *P. stratiotes* provide enough support to state that a regime shift occurred in the *E. densa* mesocosms.

It is clear that *E. densa* is capable of capitalising on resources made available through the biological control of *P. stratiotes*. The question remains: Which resource is driving *E. densa's* success? The original theory of the proposed regime shift was that as biological control of *P. stratiotes* increases, two changes occur within the system. Firstly, light levels in the water column increase as surface area of *P. stratiotes* is reduced, thus promoting photosynthesis and growth of the submerged species. Secondly, the nutrients stored within *P. stratiotes* are returned to the water column as the plants degrade, and any remaining *P. stratiotes* are too damaged to compete for them. This follows logically from the previous experiments, whereby competitive ability of *E. densa* was an order of magnitude higher than *L. major* in nutrient rich conditions.

Changes in surface area cover of *P. stratiotes* revealed, as predicted, that as surface area decreased, the biomass of *E. densa* significantly increased. A positive relationship did not occur between measured light levels and the RGR or biomass of *E. densa*, whereas a strong correlation between biomass and nutrient levels in the water was apparent. Therefore, it can be concluded that whilst light still plays an important role in the success of *E. densa*, the shift in plant dominance was driven by the nutrients made available from the degradation of the floating plants. This outcome is supported by the numerous studies citing nutrient loading as a key factor impacting species assemblages and increasing invasive species establishment in

aquatic plant communities (Davis *et al.* 2000; Daehler 2003; Sharip *et al.* 2012). Observations made during the process of cultivating *E. densa* populations for experimental purposes also support this conclusion, where growth and plant quality noticeably increased when grown under 50% shade cloth compared to no shade cloth. In addition, field studies have recorded increased competitive advantage for *E. densa* in low-light conditions (Bini *et al.* 1999; Carrillo *et al.* 2006).

The results discussed here have demonstrated the proposed regime shift of invasive floating to invasive submerged plant dominance is possible, and that biological control of one species can have a significant impact on another species occupying a different habitat within the same system. They have also shown the shift to be predominantly nutrient driven. Potentially, the success of biological control of floating invasive plants could be undermined by inducing an equally problematic alternate state, leading to wasted time, money and resources.

The surprisingly low levels of dissolved oxygen recorded across all treatments could be a product of the experimental time frame. Reduced levels of dissolved oxygen are often recorded below mats of floating plants due to a reduction in gas exchange between the air and water, limited photosynthetic opportunities for submerged plants and increased microbial decomposition activity (Pokorny and Rejmankova 1983; Janes et al. 1996; Morris et al. 2004; Netten et al. 2010). Despite the low levels recorded there was still a positive relationship between growth of *E. densa* and dissolved oxygen levels that suggest if left for a longer period of time the levels of dissolved oxygen may have increased to more expected values. The overall trend between biomass and dissolved oxygen supports the assumption that as *E. densa* acquires more resources for growth, photosynthetic rates increase, which in

turn causes dissolved oxygen levels to rise (Cook and Urmi-König 1984). This is one of the reasons *E. densa* is promoted for use in aquariums and ponds which has led to its global spread, and also one of the contributing factors to the term 'autogenic ecosystem engineer' given to *E. densa* (Yarrow *et al.* 2009). The improvement in water quality further promotes the growth of *E. densa*, resulting in increased resilience. Another feedback mechanism published in a separate study found that as populations spread, roots of *E. densa* stabilize the sediment and reduce sedimentary re-suspension leading to clearer waters, thus maintaining their growth (Yarrow *et al.* 2009).

Whilst the regime shift was only observed for *E. densa*, the potential for the dynamic between *P. stratiotes* and *E. densa* to be altered by the presence of *L. major* cannot be ruled out. The next, and final, experiment aimed to explore this possible interaction effect. Increasing knowledge of the complex interactions between species can promote effective management towards resilient systems that support native flora and a rich biodiversity.

The next step is to understand how resilient the invasive submerged plant state would be. The strength or weakness of the key feedback mechanisms within a system determine the degree of resilience (Scheffer and Carpenter 2003; Walker and Meyers 2004; Folke *et al.* 2004; Beisner, 2012). Systems with lower resilience, or weakened feedback mechanisms, are more susceptible to shifts in overall structure and functioning (Hollings 1973; Scheffer 2003). Understanding these mechanisms, especially within unwanted stable states, is vital for maximising chances of successful and efficient management/restoration. Whilst mesocosm experiments do not reflect the multitude of complex interactions that occur in natural ecosystems, the trends in data can be a useful starting point for understanding key mechanisms affecting their resilience.

# Chapter 4

# Exploring resilience within the context of the regime shift

# 4.1 Introduction

A fundamental concept underpinning the theory of regime shifts is resilience. This is described as a system's ability to maintain its key structure and functioning under changing external pressures. Therefore, a system with low resilience is more vulnerable and requires a smaller perturbation to induce a shift into an alternate stable state (Holling *et al.* 1973; Scheffer *et al.* 2003). South Africa's natural topography has few large bodies of still or slow moving freshwater, which has resulted in very few indigenous plants adapted to occupy these spaces and a paucity in local plant evolutionary history. This characteristic, as well as the eutrophic status of the majority of South Africa's rivers and dams (Oberholster and Anderson 2008), increases their vulnerability to macrophyte invasion (and a regime shift to invasive plant dominance) and therefore these systems have inherently low resilience (Davis *et al.* 2000; Daehler 2003).

Once invasive floating macrophytes establish and their dominance becomes a stable state, they are able to alter the structure and functioning of the invaded system by decreasing light accessibility, reducing water quality and community biodiversity, changing nutrient cycling and creating anoxic conditions (Mitchell 1978; Vitousek 1986; Hill 2003; Scheffer *et al.* 2003; Midgley *et al.* 2006). Following establishment, controlling invasive floating macrophyte invasions has proven to be extremely difficult in many regions around the globe, indicating that these systems have very high resilience when in this stable state (Villamagna and Murphy 2009). For example, in South Africa, despite the overall success of many control programmes for floating invasive plants, water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes* (Mart.) Solms-Laub. (Pontederiaceae)) remains the most problematic aquatic invasive, despite the nationwide implementation of mechanical, chemical and biological control programmes against it (Hill 2003, Coetzee *et al.* 2011b). The first biological control agent for this plant was released in 1973 (Cilliers and Neser 1991), and since then, six more arthropods and one pathogen have been released, yet control has not been achieved in many regions (Coetzee *et al.* 2011b; Sutton *et al.* 2016). South Africa's high prevalence of eutrophic waters not only increases susceptibility to colonisation from invasive macrophytes, but also helps to maintain stability of these systems post-invasion (Hill and Cilliers 1999). In the case of *E. crassipes*, eutrophication has been found to be a key factor in situations where control of the species has been unattainable. Coetzee and Hill (2012) report that the only site where acceptable levels of control have been achieved in South Africa, at New Years Dam (Eastern Cape), can be wholly attributed to the levels of phosphorous within the water column being maintained below 0.1 mg/l. Therefore, the resilience of South Africa's eutrophic systems dominated by invasive floating plants is known to be relatively high.

The previous chapter presented experimental evidence in support of a potential switch between floating invasive (*Pistia stratiotes* L. (Araceae)) and submerged invasive (*Egeria densa* Planch. (Hydrocharitaceae)) plant dominance, triggered by the biological control of the floating plants. The next question becomes, when control of floating plants is achieved, can systems be managed in such a way to increase resilience and minimise the chance of a shift to submerged invasive plant dominance? Ecological restoration is often aimed at restoring a system to its original state, although systems do not always respond on a linear trajectory and, as previously discussed, restoring many of the man-made water bodies in South Africa to their 'original state' would mean restoring them to a state of low resilience

(Suding *et al.* 2009). The use of biotic resistance to increase system resilience and minimise invasive species success could be applied to the restoration of South African freshwater systems, which have been degraded by floating invasive species. Biotic resistance is the term given to a community's ability to limit the risk of invasion by non-native alien species, either from herbivory, disease or competitive pressures (Elton 1958). The theory is inherently linked with the enemy release hypothesis, which states that as species enter systems where they are free from such pressures, their chances of proliferation increase. Thus increasing local levels of these pressures can supress invasive success (Maron and Vila 2001). Following this, if competition from submerged native species decreases the chance of successful colonisation by submerged invasive species, it may be possible to increase biotic resistance (and thus system resilience) by intentionally increasing richness and densities of native submerged plant populations.

The theory that biotic resistance can suppress invasive species success has sparked much debate over the years and produced publications that both support (Sax 2002; Kennedy *et al.* 2002) and argue (Crawley *et al.* 1999; Davis *et al.* 2000) its validity. Whilst Davis *et al.* (2000) disagree with the basic principal of Elton's hypothesis by stating there is no necessary relationship between plant community richness and invasibility, they do propose that invasibility will increase when there is an excess of unused resources. In a South African context, with many eutrophic systems carrying low native plant diversity, any increase in native species richness would reduce the availability of resources to invasive species, curbing the potential for invasion.

Pokorny *et al.* (2005) argue that rather than just increasing species richness, it is more beneficial to prevent invasive success by increasing functional group richness. Their study used manipulation experiments to explore how changes in functional group diversity affected

successful establishment of the forb, spotted knapweed (*Centaurea maculosa* Lam. (Asteraceae)). They concluded that native plants that perform similar ecological functions can help decrease successful establishment of invasive plant species. They also suggest studies reporting no association between species richness and invasive species establishment are often focussed purely on species diversity and do not consider species' functionality.

The previous two chapters explored firstly the interaction between the submerged native *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridl.) Moss (Hydrocharitaceae) and the submerged invasive *Egeria densa* Planch. (Hydrocharitaceae), when in direct competition for resources, and secondly the independent responses of these species to the biological control of the floating invasive *Pistia stratiotes* L. (Araceae). The aim of this chapter was thus to complete the suite of experiments by exploring how the interactions between the two submerged plant species are affected by the presence, and control of *P. stratiotes*. The findings of all the experiments will contribute to understanding the key interactions within the proposed regime shift. This experiment utilised large mesocosms of factorial combinations of submerged *L. major* and *E. densa* in the presence of floating *P. stratiotes*, under a range of nutrient and biological control regimes, to determine the outcome of competition between the submerged species as influenced by nutrient status and biological control of the floating species.

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1 Plant and insect cultures

This experiment was conducted inside a greenhouse tunnel at the Waainek Research Facility at Rhodes University in Grahamstown, South Africa, from 8 January - 1 April 2016. The *E. densa* culture was collected from the Kouga River, near Patensie, Eastern Cape, (-33.748506, 24.635446), and the *L. major* culture was collected from a population in a quarry dam near Stutterheim, Eastern Cape, (-32.587336, 27.463443). Both species were collected six months before the start of the experiment. They were cultivated at the Waainek Research Facility in a flow through system, treated with optimal nutrients in spring water, under 80% shade cloth. They were planted in sediment collected from Jameson Dam, Eastern Cape, South Africa (-33.319073, 26.444206).

Prior to the start of the experiment, the submerged plants were treated with an organophosphate insecticide, Malathion (Kombat, 0.01ml/10l), to kill any phytophagous insects associated with the plants collected from the field. Hoagland's solution (5.2mg/l) was added to each tank at the start of the experiment, with the nitrogen sources omitted as this was controlled separately (Hoagland and Arnon, 1938). The mean starting wet weight per shoot of *L. major* and *E. densa* planted in all treatments was 3.5 g (± 0.09 S.E.) and 3.8 g (± 0.07 S.E.) respectively. All *P. stratiotes* plants were sourced from insect-free stock populations maintained at the Waainek Research Facility. Adult *Neohydronomus affinis* Hustache (Coleoptera: Curculionidae), a weevil routinely used in the biological control of *P. stratiotes* (Cilliers 1991c), were supplied by the South African Sugarcane Research Institute (SASRI).

# 4.2.2 Experimental design

This experiment utilized 16 tanks across four flow-through systems (four tanks per system, measuring 120cm x 100cm x 70cm each), and each system was assigned a treatment allowing for four replicates (each tank is a replicate). Each tank used the same planting design for *L. major* and *E. densa* based on Spitters (1983) full factorial additive design, as described in Chapter Two. However, every tank also had 20 individuals of *P. stratiotes* floating on the surface to achieve 90% plant cover (Fig. 4.1).



Fig. 4.1 Example of submerged plants beneath a layer of floating *Pistia stratiotes*.

There were four combinations of nutrient and biological control treatments. Each system, 1-4, was assigned one of the treatment combinations. Two systems had 'high' nutrients in the water column (sediment nutrients were not used as they would only be accessible to the submerged plants) and two systems had 'low' nutrients. The high nutrient treatment was achieved by adding 10 mg N/l using dissolved ammonium nitrate (137 g NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> per system). No additional nutrients were added to the low treatment. Within each nutrient regime, one system was inoculated with *N. affinis,* the biological control agent of *P. stratiotes,* and the other was not. A 50:50 sex ratio of the weevils was assumed and four adults (two mating pairs, 80 individuals per tank) were placed directly onto each plant rosette to ensure plant death (Diop *et al.* 2010). A layer of fine white gauze was secured over all tanks to prevent insect movement between tanks and the experiment ran for 12 weeks.

## 4.2.3 Measurements

Thermachron iButtons were added to two of the flow through systems (Climastats Environmental Monitoring software, Ver. 4) and measured surface temperature of the water at midday, everyday, for the duration of the experiment. This was done to monitor any fluctuations in temperature that may affect plant growth. Surface area photographs of each tank were taken at weeks 4, 8, 12 and were used in digital imaging software (imageJ version 1.49, National Institutes of Health, available at http://imagej.nih.gov/ij) to calculate percentage cover of healthy *P. stratiotes* leaf tissue. This was achieved by calculating the percentage cover of each tank that contained pixels of healthy green tissue, and omitting shades of yellow and brown that are characteristic of damaged or dead plant tissue.

After 12 weeks, the wet biomass of all *P. stratiotes* plants was recorded. General linear model analyses of variance (GLM-ANOVAs), followed by Tukey HSD post-hoc tests, were performed to determine significant effects of nutrient and biocontrol treatments on the biomass and percentage cover of *P. stratiotes*.

Ammonium  $[NH_4+]$  (mg/l) and nitrate  $[NO_3-]$  (mg/l) were measured monthly to monitor changes in nutrient availability within the water column and look for correlations with plant growth and success of biological control. They were measured with Vernier<sup>m</sup> ion specific electrodes (ISE) using a LabQuest 2 interface.

#### 4.2.4 Data analyses

Relative growth rates (RGRs) of each species were calculated using the standard formula described by Evans (1972):

$$RGR = (lnW_2 - lnW_1)/(t_2 - t_1)$$

where  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  are the dry weights at the start and end of the experiment respectively at times  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  (the start and end time in days). To calculate initial dry weights, 30 individuals taken from the same populations as those used in the experiments were weighed wet and then dried for 96 hours in a drying oven at 60°C. The relationship between wet and dry weight of each species was determined using linear regressions to obtain an equation for wet to dry conversions:

$$dw_{l} = 0.0468 (ww_{l}) + 0.0188$$
$$dw_{e} = 0.0754 (ww_{e}) + 0.0105$$

where  $dw_l$  and  $dw_e$  are the dry weights of *L. major* and *E. densa*, and  $ww_l$  and  $ww_e$  are the wet weights.

After 12 weeks, all of the above ground biomass of *L. major* and *E. densa* was collected, dried for 96 hours at  $60^{\circ}$ C and weighed. Below ground biomass was omitted from analyses as roots of both species were identical and fragile, thus those that broke away from shoots during collection could not be accurately identified. Percentages of *L. major* and *E. densa* that survived and that demonstrated positive growth rates were calculated for each treatment. Chi-square analyses of independence were performed on percentage survival of *L. major* and *E. densa* under each treatment. All statistical analyses were conducted in the R environment (version 3.2.3; R Development Core Team, 2014; available at <u>http://cran.r-project.org</u>) using R Studio (version 0.98.1103).

Multiple regressions on the mean end dry biomass of *L. major* and *E. densa*, at different planting densities and in different nutrient and biological control treatments, were performed to determine changes in competitive ability of *L. major* and *E. densa* under each regime. The magnitude of the relationship was determined using the reciprocal-yield model (Spitters, 1983), as used in Chapter Two. This involved multiple linear regressions with the inverse of the mean biomass yield for each species as the dependent variable, and the planting densities of *L. major* and *E. densa* as the independent variables. The equations for each plant follow the form:

$$\frac{1}{W_e} = a_{e0} + a_{ee}d_e + a_{el}d_l$$

$$\frac{1}{W_l} = a_{l0} + a_{ll}d_l + a_{le}d_e$$

where  $W_e$  and  $W_l$  are the mean dry weights of *E. densa* and *L. major* respectively. The planting densities for *E. densa* and *L. major* are expressed as  $d_e$  and  $d_l$ . The intercepts ( $a_{l0}$  and  $a_{e0}$ ) measure the reciprocal of the maximum weight of individual plants. Intraspecific competition is estimated by the partial regression coefficients  $a_{ee}$  and  $a_{ll}$ . Interspecific competition is estimated by the coefficients  $a_{le}$  and  $a_{el}$  in terms of their effects on the reciprocal yield of biomass for *L. major* or *E. densa*, where each *L. major* plant has an effect of  $1/W_l$  equal to  $a_e/a_l E.$  densa plants. Interspecific and intraspecific competition by one species on its own yield, as well as the yield of the other species, is measured using the ratio of the coefficients  $(a_{ll}/a_{le}$  and  $a_{ee}/a_{el}$ ) (Pantone *et al.* 1989).

Ch. 4: Resilience

#### 4.3 Results

The mean daily surface temperature recorded in the system with high nutrients and biological control agents present on *P. stratiotes* was 30.61°C (S.E. 0.37), with a minimum of 23.09°C and a maximum of 38.07°C. The mean daily surface temperature recorded in the system with low nutrients and an absence of biological control agents was 28.23°C (S.E. 0.44), with a minimum of 19°C and a maximum of 37.82°C. There was a significant difference between the temperatures of the two systems ( $F_{(1,64)}$ =1191, *P*<0.000).

There was a significant effect of the interaction between nutrient treatment and the presence or absence of biological control agents (*N. affinis*) on the percentage cover of healthy *P. stratiotes* at the end of the experiment ( $F_{(1,12)}$ =18.08, *P*<0.01) (Fig. 4.2 and Fig. 4.3). Post-hoc Tukey HSD analyses revealed that in high nutrients, the percentage cover of *P. stratiotes* was significantly reduced in the presence of biological control agents. Under low nutrients, percentage cover of *P. stratiotes* was significantly reduced in the presence or absence or absence of biological control agents. Under low nutrients, but there was no significant difference in the presence or absence of biological control agents.



**Fig. 4.2** The mean percentage cover ( $\pm$  S.E.) of healthy *Pistia stratiotes* (%) after 12 weeks at each combination of nutrient and biological control (BC) treatments. Different letters denote significant differences between treatments (*P*<0.05).

# **High Nutrients**



+ biological control



- biological control

# Low Nutrients



+ biological control



- biological control

**Fig. 4.3** Sample photographs of one tank in each system after 12 weeks of the experiment, indicating the effect of nutrient level and presence or absence of control agents on the surface area cover of *Pistia stratiotes*.

As expected, the results for the biomass of *P. stratiotes* at the end of the experiment reflect the trends observed in the percentage cover data. There was a significant interaction between nutrient treatment and the presence or absence of biological control agents (*N. affinis*) on the biomass of *P. stratiotes* at the end of the experiment (Fig. 4.4) ( $F_{1,12}$ =22.559, *P*<0.001). Under high nutrients, the presence of biological control agents significantly reduced the biomass of *P. stratiotes*, whereas there was no significant effect under low nutrients.



**Fig. 4.4** Mean wet biomass ( $\pm$  S.E.) of *Pistia stratiotes* after 12 weeks at each combination of nutrient and biological control (BC) treatments. Different letters denote significant differences between treatments (P<0.05).

Total nitrogen concentrations in the water (mg/l) were unexpectedly high after four weeks of the experiment, particularly for the high nutrient treatment systems (Fig. 4.5). The nitrogen levels remained relatively consistent within the low nutrient treatments throughout

the 12 weeks. In contrast, there was a steep decline in both of the high nutrient systems. This steep decline occurred in systems with a high abundance of *P. stratiotes* (Fig. 4.2 and Fig. 4.3), and low survival of the submerged species, indicating a superior ability of *P. stratiotes* to take up available resources and thrive in highly eutrophic waters.



**Fig. 4.5** Total dissolved nitrogen in the water column of each flow-through system, with different combinations of nutrient (high/low) and biological control (+/- BC) treatments, recorded at monthly intervals during the experiment.

Egeria densa had significantly higher RGRs than L. major overall ( $F_{(1,98)}$ =128.367,

 $P \le 0.000$ ) (Fig. 4.6 a-d). At high nutrient treatments, and in the presence of biological control

agents on *P. stratiotes*, there was high plant mortality of both submerged species, and

therefore insufficient data to perform an ANOVA on the whole model (Fig. 4.6 d).

Ch. 4: Resilience





**Fig. 4.6** The relative growth rate (mean  $\pm$  S.E.) of *Lagarosiphon major* and *Egeria densa* at each initial planting density under low nutrients (top row) and high nutrients (bottom row) in **(a and c)** the absence of biological control agents on *Pistia stratiotes* and **(b and d)** the presence of biological control agents on *Pistia stratiotes*.

Survival of E. densa was significantly higher than survival of L. major across all combinations of nutrient and biological control treatments ( $X^2_{(3)}$  = 9.06, P<0.05) (Fig. 4.7). Egeria densa had 100% survival rates in all treatments except for the system with high nutrients and with biological control of *P. stratiotes*, where fewer than half the plants survived (42%). This was unexpected as these were the conditions in which a regime shift to E. densa dominance was observed in the mesocosm experiment discussed in Chapter Three. Lagarosiphon major also had the lowest level of survival in this treatment at 20%, although 100% L. major survival did not occur under any of the treatments. Survival of L. major was higher in low nutrients compared to high nutrients, and survival of L. major was reduced in systems with biological control agents present on P. stratiotes, indicating either a preference for lower nutrient conditions, or that in high nutrients, L. major is far more affected by competition from E. densa. The latter possibility is further supported by the observation that L. major had reduced survival in the presence of controlled P. stratiotes, conditions that have previously been found to promote E. densa growth. Furthermore, while survival of both species was unexpectedly low in the system with high nutrients and with controlled P. stratiotes, survival of E. densa was still double that of L. major.


**Fig. 4.7** Survival (%) of *Lagarosiphon major* and *Egeria densa* at each combination of nutrient (N) and biological control (BC) treatments after twelve weeks.

Following this, percentages of plants that both survived and demonstrated positive growth rates were determined (Fig. 4.8). These results show a much greater disparity between the submerged species, with *E. densa* exhibiting significantly higher percentages of positive growth in surviving plants compared to *L. major* ( $X^2_{(3)}$  = 44.03, *P*<0.0001). This indicates a much higher competitive ability of *E. densa* even under conditions that might be less than optimal, as indicated by the reduced survival rates.

At low nutrients, all *E. densa* plants both survived and grew, which supports findings in the previous chapters of increased growth rates in conditions where competition for resources is higher. Under high nutrients where survival for *E. densa* was 100% in the absence of control agents on *P. stratiotes*, but just 41% in the presence of control agents, the percentage of plants that exhibited positive growth rates remained very high (minimum 80%). The highest percentage of surviving *L. major* plants with positive growth rates was much lower at 63%, which was recorded in the low nutrient treatments, with control-free *P*. *stratiotes*. In the high nutrient treatment, although there was a 20% survival rate for *L. major* in the system with biological control agents, no plants demonstrated positive growth rates, indicating that all *L. major* plants in this treatment suffered some degree of mortality.



**Fig. 4.8** Percentage of *Lagarosiphon major* and *Egeria densa* at each nutrient (N) and biological control (BC) treatment combination that demonstrated positive growth rates over the twelve-week experimental period.

Regression analysis on the mean end yields of *E. densa* and *L. major* revealed contrasting effects of nutrients and biological control of *P. stratiotes* on the outcome of competition between the two submerged species (Table 4.1). In low nutrients, the coefficients that measure relative competitive ability of *L. major* against *E. densa*  $(a_{II}/a_{Ie})$  were 1.12 (compared to 0.67 for *E. densa*) and 0.39 (compared to 0.16 for *E. densa*) when biological control agents were present and absent, respectively. In other words, under low

nutrients and in the presence of controlled *P. stratiotes*, it would take 1.12 *E. densa* plants to have the same effect on *L. major* growth as adding one *L. major* plant. This means that *L. major* had a competitive advantage over *E. densa* in low nutrients, and this increased by 65% in the presence of controlled *P. stratiotes*.

In contrast, under high nutrients, *E. densa* had the competitive advantage over *L. major* as expressed by the competition coefficients ( $a_{ee}/a_{el}$ ), which were 2.1 (compared to 1.66 for *L. major*) in the absence of control agents on *P. stratiotes* and 0.67 in their presence (compared to 0.41 for *L. major*). These results indicate that the addition of biological control agents on *P. stratiotes* decreased the competitive ability of *E. densa* by 68% in high nutrients. However, these results must be interpreted with caution as this system (high nutrients, with biological control) suffered mass submerged plant mortality, which could have an effect on the validity of the results. The low R<sup>2</sup> values in the regression model outputs suggests that the high mortality of submerged plants may be a limitation in the experimental analysis. This is further confounded by the fact that only one of the eight models was statistically significant, and that was for the biomass of *E. densa* in low nutrients in the presence of biological control agents on *P. stratiotes* (Table 4.1).

Biomass	Biological Control	Nutrient	Intercept	Intraspecific competition <sup>1</sup>	Interspecific competition <sup>2</sup>	Ratio of competition coefficients <sup>3</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>	F <sub>(3-20)</sub>	Р
L. major	+	High	0.64	0.2967	0.7253	0.41	0.11	0.82	0.50
L. major	-	High	5.17	0.1924	0.116	1.66	0.04	0.23	0.88
E. densa	+	High	0.27	0.0133	0.0199	0.67	0.14	1.12	0.37
E. densa	-	High	0.43	0.0321	0.0153	2.10	0.17	1.36	0.29
L. major	+	Low	2.50	0.4625	0.0414	1.12	0.12	0.88	0.46
L. major	-	Low	0.81	0.009	0.0227	0.39	0.24	2.16	0.13
E. densa	+	Low	0.16	0.0069	0.0103	0.67	0.53	7.53	0.00*
E. densa	-	Low	0.12	0.0007	0.0042	0.16	0.31	2.94	0.06

**Table 4.1** Multiple regression analysis of competition between *Lagarosiphon major* and *Egeria densa* grown in high and low nutrients, with and without biological control on *Pistia stratiotes*. (\*) denotes statistical significance.

<sup>1</sup> Intraspecific competition: represented by regression coefficients a<sub>egeg</sub> for *E. densa* and a<sub>ImIm</sub> *L. major.* 

<sup>2</sup> Interspecific competition: represented by regression coefficients a<sub>eglm</sub> for *E. densa* and a<sub>lmeg</sub> *L. major*.

<sup>3</sup> The ratio of competition coefficients measures the effect of intraspecific competition by one species on its own mass relative to the effects of interspecific competition by the other species:  $a_{egeg}/a_{eglm}$  for *E. densa* and  $a_{lmlm}/a_{lmeg}$  for *L. major.* 

The changes in the competitive relationships between *L. major* and *E. densa* at the two nutrient and biological control treatments were graphically analysed using three-dimensional graphs (Figs 4.9 a-d and 4.10 a-d) that illustrate the eight reciprocal yield models (Table 4.1). The higher the values on the figure, the lower the actual yield; and the steeper the gradient of the slope, the larger the competitive coefficient. The graphs allow for easy comparisons between the competitive interactions of *E. densa* and *L. major*, both in the presence and absence of biological control agents on *P. stratiotes* in low (Fig. 4.9) and high (Fig. 4.10) nutrients.



**Fig. 4.9** Multiple regression planes demonstrate the combined effect of *Lagarosiphon major* and *Egeria densa* planting densities on the inverse mean dry biomass (1/g) of one *L. major* plant ( $1/W_1$ ) in the presence (a) and absence (c) of biological control agents on *Pistia stratiotes*, and one *E. densa* plant ( $1/W_e$ ) in the presence (b) and absence (d) of biological control, at low nutrients.

1 / E. densa (g)

/ E. densa (g)



**Fig. 4.10** Multiple regression planes demonstrate the combined effect of *Lagarosiphon major* and *Egeria densa* planting densities on the inverse mean dry biomass (1/g) of one *L. major* plant ( $1/W_1$ ) in the presence (a) and absence (c) of biological control agents on *Pistia stratiotes*, and one *E. densa* plant ( $1/W_e$ ) in the presence (b) and absence (d) of biological control, at high nutrients.

Ch. 4: Resilience

#### 4.4 Discussion

The results from Chapter Two revealed that when in direct competition with only one another for resources, E. densa was competitively superior to L. major, and under high nutrients, this relationship increased seven-fold. The results from this chapter demonstrate that E. densa remained a superior competitor against L. major under high nutrients, but in the presence of biological control of *P. stratiotes*, the scale of the competitive advantage was reduced by 68% when compared to plants growing in the presence of non-controlled P. stratiotes. In addition, in the first experiment, E. densa was also a superior competitor to L. major under low nutrients, but with only a 15% difference between the two species. In contrast, when competing under low nutrients and in the presence of *P. stratiotes*, *L. major* had the competitive advantage over E. densa. These findings support the previous conclusion that in an environment of reduced nutrient loading, there is a significantly higher chance of native species being able to reduce the competitive advantage of submerged invasive species, which would in turn increase system resilience. The results also support several studies that propose an association between increasing species and functional richness with decreasing invasive establishment success (Elton 1958; Case 1990; Law and Morten 1996; Sax 2002; Kennedy et al. 2002; Pokorny 2005; Pinto and Ortega 2016).

A shift between the dominance of floating *P. stratiotes* to submerged (invasive or native) plant dominance did not occur in this experiment. The results suggest that the lack of regime shift in this experiment was because control of *P. stratiotes* by *N. affinis* did not cross the critical threshold required to induce the shift, further supporting the notion that systems dominated by floating invasive plants are highly resilient, particularly in the presence of nutrient loading (Gossett and Norris 1971; Reddy *et al.* 1989; Heard and Winterton 2000). The

required threshold of damage may not have been crossed due to the high densities of P. stratiotes used in the tanks (significantly larger than the mesocosms used in Chapter Three). In the high nutrient treatment, mean percent cover of P. stratiotes never fell below 55% despite herbivory damage, while in the low nutrient treatment, there was no difference in mean percent cover of *P. stratiotes* between biological control treatments, which did not exceed 23% cover. The plant to insect ratio used in this experiment was chosen based on Diop et al. (2010) who concluded two pairs of mating weevils per plant of P. stratiotes was sufficient to cause plant death. Also, this same ratio was used in the experiments discussed in Chapters Two and Three, with successful control of P. stratiotes achieved. Therefore, biological control agent density was not a factor limiting control. Temperature was also unlikely to reduce control, as *N. affinis* has been recorded to be highly effective at controlling P. stratiotes in tropical regions with significantly higher temperatures compared to the location from which they were sourced, indicating high thermal tolerance (Harley *et al.* 1990). An unexpected observation within the experiment was the much higher than anticipated levels of total nitrogen recorded in the water column, which may help explain the lack of control of *P. stratiotes*. In the high nutrient level systems, an initial solution of ammonium nitrate was added that would provide 10mg/l of total nitrogen to the water column. This concentration was chosen to represent eutrophic systems and is the concentration that Moore and Hill et al. (2012) recorded at an invaded South African system where percentage cover of P. stratiotes was reduced from 100% to 1% through biological control in three months. However, after four weeks of the experiment discussed here, nitrogen concentrations between 55 - 65 mg/l were recorded. The spike may have been caused by rapid decay of the submerged plants, particularly L. major, that exhibited high plant mortality, as decaying plant tissue of submerged macrophytes has been shown to considerably increase

water nutrient levels (Shilla *et al.* 2006). Over the twelve weeks, there was a steep decline in the total dissolved nitrogen concentrations within the high nutrient systems. This is due to assimilation of the available nutrients by *P. stratiotes*, and is a product of larger healthier *P. stratiotes* plants that sustained dominance (and where control was least successful) in these systems. These findings are supported by a study that reports a capacity for *P. stratiotes* to reduce inorganic nitrogen concentrations in eutrophic ponds by 50% compared to ponds without *P. stratiotes* (Lu *et al.* 2010). In the low nutrient system with biological control agents present on *P. stratiotes*, total nitrogen levels in the water were higher at the end of the experiment, supporting both previous findings, and the hypothesis that with increased biological control, more nutrients are made available within the water column.

Under increased nutrient loading, leaf turnover in aquatic floating plants has been shown to outpace rates of damage caused by herbivory, which in turn prevents successful control. This has been documented to occur in populations of *E. crassipes* growing in nutrient rich conditions (Ripley *et al.* 2006). While leaf turnover rates have not specifically been studied for *P. stratiotes*, the species has been documented to have a high capacity to rapidly build up biomass (Reddy and De Busk 1984). Even though successful control of *P. stratiotes* has occurred in two highly eutrophic systems in South Africa: Sunset Dam (Kruger National Park) and a Port Elizabeth waste water treatment plant (Cape Recife), the nitrogen levels recorded in the high nutrient treatment systems in this experiment were higher than any recorded in the field, and in the case of Sunset Dam, control did take up to five years to achieve (Neuenschwander *et al.* 2009).

Once again, in accordance with the trends observed in the first competition experiment (Chapter Two), *E. densa* exhibited higher growth rates compared to *L. major*. The submerged plant survival results reveal high mortality rates for *L. major* under high nutrients, and the

high nutrient system with biological control agents present on *P. stratiotes* saw a mortality rate of 58% for E. densa. Initially it was hypothesised that in high nutrients, P. stratiotes demonstrated superior competitive ability for the abundant resources and completely outcompeted both submerged species. However, if this were the case, then the same results would be expected for the system that contained healthier *P. stratiotes* not damaged by biological control agents, a trend that was not observed in the system with no biological control agents present. The mortality could be a product of the high temperatures recorded in the systems. Chapter Two discussed an average temperature of 26°C as a contributing factor for the *L. major* mortality in the first experiment, as the species has an optimum temperature range between 20-23°C, with a maximum tolerance of 25°C (Kasselmann 1995). In this experiment, the system with high nutrients and with biological control agents on P. stratiotes, had an average surface temperature of 30°C reaching a maximum of 38°C. It therefore seems highly likely to be a contributing factor to the mortality of L. major. Egeria densa also exhibited some mortality and reduced growth rates compared to *E. densa* growing in the other systems. The thermal tolerance of *E. densa* is far wider than *L. major*, ranging from 16°C to 28°C, with a maximum tolerance of 35°C, but temperatures in the experiment were still beyond these (Barko and Smart, 1981; Getsinger and Dillon 1984; Haramoto and Ikusima 1988; Di Tomaso and Healy 2003).

Although a regime shift to submerged plant dominance did not occur in this experiment, the relationship within the submerged plant community within the model system was altered by the presence and control of *P. stratiotes*. This demonstrates the importance of research into the effects that management of floating invasive plants can have on non-target species communities and on sustainable restoration of valuable freshwater resources. The results suggest that bottom-up manipulations, such as reduced nutrient loading can improve top-

down restoration efforts such as biological control, and the implementation of a holistic approach can increase resilience and prevent future degradation. Integrated management practices that incorporate simultaneous top down and bottom up control are often required to achieve restoration of highly degraded systems (Center and Dray 2010; D'Antonio and Chambers 2013).

Combining the results from this experiment with the results discussed in the previous two chapters, an ecological model based on experimental data can be built to explain the interactions between key variables within the proposed regime shift. The subsequent model can be used to test the validity of the regime shift theory and help elucidate the mechanisms that underpin it.

## Chapter 5

# Dynamic modelling of the regime shift

### 5.1 Introduction

The field of regime shift research is not a new one but has recently experienced rapid growth; with a 12-fold increase in related publications between 1991 and 2006 (Anderson *et al.* 2009), and more recently, the development of the international Regime Shift Data Base, an initiative led by the Stockholm Resilience Centre (www.regimehifts.org, Stockholm University). Research in this field is often from the socio-ecological perspective, where anthropogenic activities have contributed to a shift between states that negatively impact human wellbeing. Examples include eutrophication of shallow lakes, bush encroachment, collapse of fisheries and soil salinization (Biggs *et al.* 2012)

The literature is regularly based on the parameter perturbation framework, where each of the alternative regimes is stable but corresponds to different parameter values, therefore associated dynamics such as population fluctuations differ (Beisner *et al.* 2003). Traditionally, research of this nature has leaned heavily on theoretical modelling, because quantitative field data as evidence of regime shifts is often difficult to obtain. This can be attributed to the logistical problems of collecting field data from systems pre, during and post regime shifts (i.e. a shift is often only recognized post occurrence); and the difficulty of projecting assumptions on multiple ecosystem types, based on observed trends from individual case-studies.

The use of controlled experiments to study alternative regimes are few and far between (Chase 2003; Anderson *et al.* 2009) and can be perceived as an over-simplification

of the complex natural systems they aim to explore (Dunham and Beaupre 1998). However, Scheffer and Carpenter (2003) refute this and suggest that there is a great importance in using controlled experiments in order to prove the existence of a systems' alternative attractors, in this case differing states of plant dominance, to bridge the gap between ecosystem dynamics (field observations) and abstract theory (modelling). Data obtained from controlled experiments can then provide the basic trends and interactions needed to build models which can be a considerably more powerful tool compared to qualitative reasoning for proving the existence of regime shifts (Scheffer and Carpenter 2003). Models can help untangle the individual mechanisms that lead to overall system changes, and by using the patterns extrapolated from experimental data, they can be parameterized, which increases their robustness and credibility (Scheller 2010). Modelling ecological interactions dates back to the pioneering efforts of Lotka and Volterra in the 1920s, who mathematically modelled predator-prey dynamics (Lotka 1924). Modelling has advanced in recent years with technological improvements, widening accessibility from not only mathematicians but to ecologists, managers and policy makers (McCallum 2008; Chatzinikolaou 2012). An increase in the use of models for management of high profile socio-ecological systems such as fisheries, dams and national parks means continued review of their uses and limitations is vital (Plagányi 2007).

The previous three chapters have each discussed the findings of four experiments, all designed to quantify the interactions involved in the proposed shift between two stable regimes; which have been termed 'floating invasive plant dominance' and 'submerged invasive plant dominance'. The proposed shift hypothesizes that as the floating invasive plants decompose due to damage from biological control agents, nutrients, light and space become available and submerged plants successfully capitalize on this new abundance of

resources and proliferate (Reddy *et al.* 1982; Hammer and Knight 1992; Shilla *et al.* 2006; Chimney and Pietro 2006; James *et al.* 2006; Longhi *et al.* 2008). However, the relative paucity of native submerged plant species, as a result of few natural freshwater systems in the South African landscape, combined with high levels of external nutrient loading means that invasive submerged plants are more likely to establish and outcompete native ones (Fig. 5.1). In other words, the system has two basins of attraction, one dominated by floating invasive plants and the other by submerged invasive plants - where biological control induces the regime shift.

The process of building a model starts with the development of a visual diagram that allows the structure, and the key interactions involved in the model, to be visually interpreted. One such method is the development of causal loop diagrams, these are used to display cause-effect interactions between key system variables, the strength of which is depicted by the thickness of the arrow connecting the variables. Variables positively related are denoted with a plus sign (+), and a negative cause-effect is denoted with a minus sign (-) (Chang *et al.* 2008). Sendzimir *et al.* (2007) use causal loop diagrams in the first step of modeling biocomplexity of the Tisza River basin, and conclude that they are an integral step in the process of refining conceptual models for exploring the relative effects of different interactions on ecosystem processes. Causal loop diagrams can also be used to communicate complex theories in a graphical language that is understood by interested parties from a diverse range of perspectives such as mathematicians, ecologists, stakeholders and policy makers (Sendzimir *et al.* 2007).

The initial hypothesis of the proposed regime shift in this thesis was graphically interpreted into a causal loop diagram in the Ventana Simulation Environment (Vensim<sup>®</sup> PLE version 6.3, Ventana systems Inc.) (Fig. 5.1). The diagram postulates that as the population of biological control agents increases, there is a strong negative effect on the population of

invasive floating plants. As the biomass is reduced through damage, there is an increase in nutrients in the water column, which is re-enforced by external nutrient loading, this has a positive effect on the populations of submerged plants. Invasive submerged plants are able to reduce the nutrients in the water column, and their superior competitive ability means they also reduce submerged native plants populations.



**Fig. 5.1** Causal relationships between key factors and processes of the regime shift, and the internal feedback mechanisms that reinforce (R) and balance (B) the system. Created in Vensim PLE (ver. 6.3).

Floating invasive plant dominance is a well-documented stable state occurring in numerous systems world-wide, a seminal paper published in 2003 features a mathematical model of floating plant dominance as a stable state (Scheffer *et al.* 2003). The model, although contextually broad, explores the asymmetry between floating and submerged macrophytes with regards to their competition for resources; submerged plants are able to access nutrients in the sediment not available to the floating plants but they are less able to compete for light. In this study, this model is used in combination with field observations, experimental data and data obtained from the wider literature. The combined evidence approach offers a strong argument for the existence of alternative attractors determined by competition between floating and submerged plants. Scheffer et al. (2003) conclude that nutrient loading reduces the resilience of the regime characterized by submerged rooted plant dominance. As levels of nutrients in the system surpass the level at which submerged plants can utilise them, floating plants are able to establish and as they can better compete for light, they become dominant in the system. This model is not specific to invasive plants; either submerged or floating. Thus, the aim of this chapter was to create a mathematical model that is more applicable to the context of South African invasive plant management. The first step was to create a mechanistic diagram of the model as a whole that conveys the dynamic interactions within the proposed regime shift, completed in the form of a causal loop diagram (Fig. 5.1). Subsequently, equations were built to form the base of the model. These were informed using the mechanisms observed in the previous experiments that explored the interactions of the regime shifts by studying the dynamics of a floating invasive (*Pistia stratiotes* (L.) Araceae), submerged invasive (Egeria densa (Planch) Hydrocharitaceae) and submerged native (Lagarosiphon major (Ridl.) Moss. Hydrocharitaceae) species. Results of the experiments were then used to parameterize the model as fully as possible, with support from the wider literature. The final model can then be used to see whether the individual interactions observed experimentally, when combined, produce support for the hypothesized regime shift. The intention is to bring together the theoretical, holistic aspects of regime shift research with the applied elements of biological control research and to better explain the mechanisms underpinning the proposed regime shift.

Ch. 5: Modelling

### 5.2 Methods

#### 5.2.1 Model building

The results of the experiments discussed in the previous chapters of this thesis showed that light was not a significant driver of the proposed regime shift, and was therefore removed from the model. In addition, *L. major* exhibited high plant mortality regardless of the presence of *E. densa* or biological control agents on *P. stratiotes*, resulting in a lack of comparable data between treatments therefor even qualitative trends could not be reliably used to parameterise the model. This meant that the native submerged plant population variable needed to also be removed from the model, and a new, more streamlined model was developed to best describe the interactions and results quantified in Chapters Two to Four. This was graphically interpreted by developing a secondary causal loop diagram in the Ventana Simulation Environment (Vensim® PLE version 6.3, Ventana systems Inc.).

The new streamlined model, combined with the observations in the previous chapters, were used to inform and build a mathematical model to explore the implications of biological control on the interaction between invasive floating plants, invasive submerged plants and the availability of nutrients. The model consisted of three equations: explaining temporal population dynamics for densities of floating invasive and submerged invasive plants and temporal changes in the level of available nutrients.

## 5.2.2 STELLA model overview

The equations describing the regime shift were then put into a dynamic model created within the STELLA® Professional software environment (iSEE systems Inc., Version 1.0.3) (Fig. 5.2). STELLA models use stocks, flows and converters to produce time-series simulations. The model outputs trace the temporal changes in populations (stocks), as effected by the external

pressures (converters), according to the equations which are used to describe their interactions (flows).



**Fig. 5.2** Map diagram of the STELLA model incorporating the interactions between stock densities of floating invasive plant populations (F), submerged invasive plant populations (S) and temporal changes in nutrient availability (N).

## 5.2.3 Model parameters

Values were assigned to each stock density (F, S and N), which provides the initial populations, and to each converter. The flows contain only the equations that model interactions and therefore have no numeric values. The parameters for the model (Table 5.1) were estimated using a combination of the trends observed in the previous chapters and from the literature (Scheffer *et al.* 2003). Each plant population began with the same initial density (1). For the purposes of the model, mortality rates were assumed to also be equal (1) as there

are no specific data indicating otherwise. The floating plants were given a higher value for intraspecific competition (1) compared to the submerged plants (0.5), as reflected in the results of the previous experiments where healthy *P. stratiotes* remained dominant. The submerged plants were assigned a higher value for conversion of nutrients to biomass (0.1) compared to the floating plants (0.01), imitating their ability to access nutrients in both the sediment and water column. This was supported by the previous experiments where *E. densa* exhibited nutrient driven growth rates when nutrients were added to the sediment (Chapter Two) and the water column (Chapters Three and Four), as well as the literature based evidence (Chen and Barko 1988; Barko *et al.* 1988; Rattray *et al.* 1991; Mazzeo *et al.* 2003). The rate of nutrient uptake was set to be higher for floating plants (1) than submerged (0.5) as floating plants are better competitors for light, which increases plant growth and affects the size of roots, providing more surface area for nutrient uptake.

**Table 5.1** Summary of model parameter estimations, their definitions and units where applicable.

Parameter	Description	Value	Unit
F	Density of floating invasive plant	1	g/m <sup>2</sup>
S	Density of submerged invasive plant	1	g/m <sup>2</sup>
N	Available nutrients	See fig. 5.4	mg/m <sup>2</sup>
B	Density of biological control agents	See fig. 5.4	1/day
e <sub>F</sub>	Relationship of nutrients and competition (floating plants)	1	m²/mg
es	Relationship of nutrients and competition (submerged	1	m²/mg
	plants)		
C <sub>F</sub>	Intraspecific competition(floating plants)	1	m²/(g per day)
c <sub>s</sub>	Intraspecific competition (submerged plants)	0.5	m <sup>2</sup> /(g per day)
r <sub>F</sub>	Natural mortality rate (floating plant)	1	1/day
r <sub>s</sub>	Natural mortality rate (submerged plant)	1	1/day
$a_F$	Rate of nutrient uptake (floating plants)	1	m <sup>2</sup> /(mg per day)
as	Rate of nutrient uptake (submerged plants)	0.5	m <sup>2</sup> /(mg per day)
m <sub>F</sub>	Conversion of nutrients to biomass (floating plant)	0.01	
m <sub>s</sub>	Conversion of nutrients to biomass (submerged plant)	0.1	-

Ch. 5: Modelling

### 5.3 Results

The more stream-lined model (Fig. 5.3) was formed based on observations and results from the experiments discussed in previous chapters. As the population of biological control agent's increases there is a negative effect on the population of invasive floating plants, which has a positive effect on the level of nutrients available in the water column. As an increase in nutrients also helps growth of the floating plants there is a positive feedback mechanism that helps to retain this system, indicating high resilience. As nutrients in the system become more available, there is a positive effect on the submerged invasive plant population, that remove nutrients from the water column limiting availability to the floating invasive plants which increases invasive submerged plant population resilience.



**Fig. 5.3** Revised model of regime shift based on the interactions of the experiments supported by viable results. Causal relationships between key factors and processes of the regime shift, and the internal feedback mechanisms that reinforce (R) and balance (B) the system. Created in Vensim PLE (ver. 6.3). The strength of interactions is depicted by the thickness of the arrows connecting the variables that are positively related (+) or negatively related (-).

The following equations describe the interactions between the key variables of the regime shift:

$$\frac{dF}{dt} = -r_F F + a_F NF - c_F(N)F^2 - BF$$
$$\frac{dS}{dt} = -r_S S + a_S NS - c_S(N)S^2$$

where the changes over time (t) of the biomass of invasive floating plants (F) and invasive submerged plants (S) are modelled as a function of their mortality rates,  $r_F$  and  $r_S$ , modified by the rates of nutrient uptake,  $a_F$  and  $a_S$ , and their intra-specific competitive ability,  $c_F$  and  $c_S$ . The effect of biological control, B, was incorporated into the model for floating plants. The available nutrients in the water column, N, are assumed to change according to floating and submerged plant biomass dynamics:

$$\frac{dN}{dt} = -m_F \frac{dF}{dt} - m_s \frac{dS}{dt}$$

where m is the conversion of nutrients to plant biomass which changes over time. The competition coefficients,  $c_F$  and  $c_s$ , are modelled using the following equations:

$$c_F(N) = c_{0F} exp(-e_F N)$$
$$c_s(N) = c_{0s} exp(-e_s N)$$

where intraspecific competition changes according to available nutrients in the water column and *e* represents the slope of this relationship. Model development and predictions support the proposed regime shift between floating invasive and submerged invasive plant dominance under certain conditions of biological control (Fig. 5.4). The simulation outputs show temporal changes in the densities of floating and submerged plant populations, with increased densities indicating plant dominance, as well as changes in the levels of nutrients within the water column.

For the first series of simulations, the initial starting level of nutrients was set to a high value (10) (Fig. 5.4 a-c). The first output from this simulation (Fig. 5.4 a), where the initial density of biological control agents of the floating plants is set to zero, shows a sharp initial increase followed by a plateau in population density of the floating plants. Whilst the submerged plants also initially increase in density, the growth is slower and caps a short while after the point in which the floating plant population peaks. This indicates the floating plants become dominant and are able to maintain dominance in the system. The second output of this simulation (Fig. 5.4 b), where nutrients remain high but the biological control population density is increased (to 3.5), reveals the same overall trend of floating plant dominance but the relationship between the two plant densities has changed. There is a longer initial period of increased nutrients in the system (a product of the biological control of the floating plants and subsequent senescent plant material), and the submerged plant population demonstrates a much sharper increase before levelling off. The final output of this simulation (Fig. 5.4 c) shows a complete switch between the plant densities; as the biological control slows the growth of the floating populations and increases the levels of nutrients in the system, there is an initial phase of co-existence between the plant populations. Eventually a point is reached where the floating plants are completely limited by the biological control, and the submerged plant population is able to grow to a point that surpasses the floating plant densities and maintain dominance.

The second series of model simulations (Fig. 5.4 d-f) shows outputs for systems where the initial level of nutrients in the system is set to a lower value (5). The three outputs are once again set to a sequential increase in the initial population density of biological control agents on the floating plants. The results show the same overall relationship between the floating and submerged plant populations, with a switch in dominance once a critical level of biological control agents has been crossed. However, there are some differences in the interactions. Firstly, in the reduced nutrient setting of these simulations there are reduced gradients of slopes for both plant population densities. Secondly, the levels of biological control agents required to induce the shift are lower (3.5) than those required in the higher nutrient setting (5). Lastly, there is a reduced disparity between the two plant densities when the biological control agent densities are at the lowest (0) and highest setting (3.5) compared to the high nutrients.

Ch. 5: Modelling



**Fig. 5.4** Stella simulation outputs showing temporal changes in floating (F) and submerged (S) plant densities and nutrient (N) levels in scenarios with (a-c) high initial nutrients and (d-f) low initial nutrients. Within each nutrient condition, the populations of biocontrol agents (B) were altered, as indicated beneath each graph. Scales are not fixed.

Ch. 5: Modelling

#### 5.4. Discussion

The model presented in this chapter, estimates the effects that current species-level management of floating invasive plants have upon wider community-level interactions, for the first time, in a South African context. The model supports the original hypothesis that the switch between the two stable states of floating invasive and submerged invasive plant dominance can be driven by the biological control of the floating plants. The model also shows that the top-down effects (that affect ecosystems on a wider scale than the intended control agent and target plant level), can be significantly altered by bottom-up changes to the system (nutrient loading). Gross *et al.* (2005) aimed to use ecological and biological factors at different trophic levels to create a formula estimating the probability of biological control success against insect pests. They conclude that consideration of lower trophic level variables can help predict outcomes of biological control.

The level of biological control required to induce the shift was reduced in systems where initial nutrient loading was lower. This is supported by evidence in the wider literature where success in biological control programmes increases with reduced nutrient loading; both Heard and Winterton (2000) and Coetzee and Hill (2012) found reducing nutrient loading significantly increased success of the biological control of water hyacinth (*E. crassipes*). This occurs because when less nutrients are available, macrophytes are not able to recover as quickly from herbivory damage (McNaughton *et al.* 1983), therefore plant mortality can be achieved at a lower density of biological control agents.

Originally, the model incorporated a positive relationship between increased light availability and the growth of submerged plants, acting as a key driver of the regime shift. Ecologically this makes sense, as light is an important factor for the growth of submerged

aquatic plants (Duarte 1995). However, in the experiments discussed thus far, there were no significant quantifiable interactions between light and the growth or biomass of *E. densa*. Tavechio *et al.* (2003) reported similar findings, where growth of *E. densa* had a low light requirement, and is supported in the wider literature where growth of *E. densa* has been documented in turbid waters and studies have also shown a high competitive ability under a range of light regimes indicating that light is not a limiting factor (Wells and Clayton 1991; Bini and Thomaz, 2005; Yarrow *et al.* 2009). Therefore, the removal of the light variable from the model was justified. A further modification was made by removing the native submerged plant variable, because *L. major*, the species representing the population of submerged native plants, fared poorly in all treatments and provided few comparative responses to changes in other variables of the regime shift. Inclusion of this variable, based on the experimental data would therefore have reduced the accuracy of the overall model as it was not possible to determine which factors were driving native plant mortality.

The remaining key drivers of the regime shift between floating and submerged invasive macrophytes were nutrient availability and the population density of biological control agents on the floating plants. Nutrient loading as a driver of invasive plant establishment and growth was supported by the results discussed in Chapters Two to Four and is a well documented ecological occurrence (Davis *et al.* 2000; Daehler 2003). Damage caused to *P. stratiotes*, the species representing the floating invasive plant population, by its co-evolved biological control agent, *Neohydronomus affinis* Hustache (Coleoptera: Curculionidaea), were demonstrated in Chapters Three and Four, as well as in the wider literature regarding *P. stratiotes* control (Cilliers 1991c; Cillliers *et al.* 1996; Diop *et al.* 2010)

Mathematical models of ecological systems cannot always incorporate the full scope of natural processes, and compromises are often made regarding spatial or temporal

elements, but they are still very useful for ecosystem management and can guide future research (Bulling *et al.* 2006; Chatzinikolaou 2012). At this stage, the model in this chapter is qualitative, with the parameters modelling relative changes between key variables resulting in alternate attractors. However, further experiments could provide quantitative data for parameters such as species-specific rates of nutrient uptake, mortality and damage from biological control agents. This would open up the possibility to tailor the model in such a way that might benefit management of South African systems degraded by floating invasive macrophytes and allow the model to be used in a predictive capacity, potentially applicable at an individual ecosystem level.

Neither experimental evidence or mathematical models alone can prove or disprove the existence of regime shifts in natural systems. However, when combined as a multi-faceted study they provide substantial evidence for the regime shift. They demonstrate the potentially far wider-reaching impacts that biological control of floating plants can have on ecosystem species assemblage, and highlight the importance of a holistic approach to biological control research.

# Chapter 6

## **General discussion**

The findings presented in this thesis support the hypothesis of the proposed regime shift between floating invasive and submerged invasive plant dominance instigated by the biological control of floating plants, and driven by nutrient loading. Regime shifts are not a new concept, and have been applied to a vast array of processes affecting human populations; from stock market crashes to climate change, and within scales ranging from individual cells to whole planets (Scheffer 2009). Ecologically, such shifts can have devastating consequences to biodiversity and the provision of ecosystem services that human populations depend upon, yet acceptance of such shifts within both scientific and wider communities has often faced challenges, which can hinder their application to ecological management. One such example is bush encroachment, which negatively impacts southern African agricultural sectors and ecosystems. Savanna landscapes that have been historically grazed by wild herbivores or nomadic pastoralists are increasingly used by commercial cattle grazing, with often higher and more fixed levels of stock, and either intentional or unintentional fire suppression. The result can be a reduction in grass competition and a rapid encroachment of woody plant cover with high numbers of shrubs and trees. This transition is not easily reversed to grazing-suitable grasslands and results in altered fire regimes (Walker 1993; Scheffer et al. 2001; Scholes 2003; Rocha et al. 2015). Not only is the agricultural sector affected economically through reduced cattle productivity (Scholes 2003), but changes in landscape can also bring changes to local species composition, biodiversity and cultural landscape uses (Foley et al. 2005).

Being able to prove the existence, and perhaps predict the occurrence, of such shifts would clearly be highly beneficial to ecosystems and society alike. However, there is a missing link, which exists between ecologists researching regime shifts and those able to implement findings into policy and management: tangible evidence. Reviews of marine regime shift research report that such barriers even exist within the scientific community, not only between those who accept and reject regime shift theories, but between those who think the shifts are driven by top-down (over fishing) or bottom-up (climate change) pressures (De Young *et al.* 2008; Conversi *et al.* 2015).

Much of the evidence for large scale shifts, such as those that occur in marine environments or savanna landscapes, is presented in the form of ecological models (Noy-Meir et al. 1982; Anderies et al. 2002; De Young et al. 2008; D'Odorico et al. 2012). Whilst there have been some controlled field experiments, they are limited by spatial and temporal logistics, particularly because shifts can occur over varying timescales of multiple decades, vast landscapes (Scheffer et al. 2001; Folke et al. and across 2004; www.regimeshiftdatabase.org). Regarding bush encroachment, it has been reported that despite extensive research into the drivers of the regime shift, and solid evidence of commercial losses, translation of the findings into practical management aimed at avoiding such shifts is a rare occurrence (Rocha et al. 2015). The difficulties of translating regime shift research into management practices arise when attempting to link abstract mathematical theory with real-life situations and observations in the field. This is particularly an issue when much of the evidence is presented in the form of mathematical models. As stated decades ago, "all models are wrong, but some are useful" (Box 1987), there are inherent limitations to ecological models and although the complex, stochastic and vast interactions that maintain

natural systems cannot be accurately imitated, advances in the field over recent years has improved their stability and complexity (Chatzinikolaou 2012).

Within the field of biological control, where concerns over introducing more exotic species to combat current invasive aliens have often caused obstacles for implementation, models are more commonly being used to help tailor biological control strategies in order to maximise success and minimise risk. Jeger and Xu (2015) developed a general model for biological control of flower pathogens that can help determine which combination of biological control mechanisms will be the most effective, depending on target plant physiology. Raghu *et al.* (2007) present a dynamic model designed to help predict both the risks and benefits of introducing a biological control agent (*Charidotis auroguttata* (Boheman) (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae)) to manage an invasive vine in Australia (*Macfadyena unguiscati* (L.) (Bignoniaceae)), the aim of which is to assist both scientists and policy makers and help translate information between stakeholders.

As models become more accessible to non-mathematicians (i.e. ecologists and policy makers) through more user-friendly interfaces, their role in applied decision making will inevitably become more prominent (Plagányi 2007; McCallum 2008; Chatzinikolaou 2012). Garcia-Llorente *et al.* (2008) suggest that different stakeholder groups can hold very different perceptions regarding the impacts of invasive aquatic plant species, highlighting the importance of developing effective tools of communication that addresses an audience beyond researchers. Rightfully, there remain reservations regarding the application of modelling outputs to real life scenarios, and this is where the importance of controlled experiments that can describe the finer mechanisms of systems and increase model validity lie.

A review of the direct evidence for alternate stable sates (Schröder *et al.* 2005) found an overall bias towards laboratory experiments compared to field experiments when attempting to demonstrate a system's capacity for bi-stability (i.e. when a system exhibits stability in more than one state), which can be partially explained by the logistical difficulties associated with field experiments. Schröder *et al.* (2005) conclude that future research in the field should primarily focus on the specific mechanisms behind switches in ecological states. Manipulation experiments may be bound by spatial and temporal constraints, but small-scale experiments can be crucial to help explain large-scale patterns, and can be a powerful way to show that a system has alternate attractors (Peterson 1984; Scheffer and Carpenter 2003). Although Schroder *et al.* (2005) report a bias towards laboratory experiments, there are still relatively low numbers of them, and they have been labelled as an over-looked asset in the exploration of regime shifts (Chase 2003; Anderson *et al.* 2009).

Regime shifts regarding changes in vegetation dominance within shallow lakes have been well studied, and are generally accepted within the scientific community. A seminal paper published by Scheffer *et al.* (2003) combines field observations, controlled experiments and a mathematical model to explain the shift. The field observations utilise a large historical data set of vegetation composition from 641 drainage ditches. They found negative correlations between floating plant cover and submerged plant abundance, and positive correlations between floating plant cover and nutrient levels in the water column. These observations fed the construction of a mathematical model to explain the shift. A key component of the model is light availability, where critical thresholds of light determine whether submerged macrophytes or algae dominate the system. However, in 2003, an experiment was carried out to test the effects of nutrient loading on plant species assemblages within mesocosms, monitoring changes in densities of submerged *Vallisneria* 

americana Mich. (Hydrocharitaceae) (Morris et al. 2003). They report that subsequent to heavy nutrient loading, after four months there was a total loss of *V. americana* in mesocosms that became fully covered by a floating macrophyte, Azolla pinnata (R.Br.) (Azollaceae). Although the results support the model of bi-stability depending on submerged or floating plant dominance, Scheffer et al.'s (2003) model featured light as the key driving variable determining plant assemblage, although Morris et al. (2003) suggest their observed switch was predominantly driven by changes in dissolved oxygen concentrations and resulting anoxic conditions. Whilst these variables are associated with light availability, they conclude it is the indirect effects of light limitation that leads to submerged plant loss. As with Egeria densa (Planch.) (Hydrocharitaceae) in the experiments presented in this thesis, Morris et al. (2003) report that the submerged plant species of their study (V. americana) has been known to exhibit high tolerance for low light levels, supporting the conclusion that it is not the direct effect of light fluctuations altering the submerged plant community. Thus, the experiments presented by Morris et al. (2003) are able to better explain the mechanisms underpinning the original model and demonstrate the importance of incorporating species and system specific parameters into models for more valid application to real life scenarios. Controlled experiments can bridge some of the gaps in models that are based on generalisations or assumptions.

Clearly modelling and experimental methods have advantages as well as disadvantages, but both carry merit in regime shift research. Although bound by different constraints, the combined approach of this thesis, employing both experimental and modelling techniques, lays the initial foundations for a solid evidence-based exploration into the prosed regime shift. The shift between floating invasive and submerged invasive plant dominance is defined by changes to species assemblage across different habitats within the

system, as well as different trophic levels: the plants (producers) and control agents (consumers). It has been claimed that there is a paucity in multi-trophic experiments within the field of invasive plant research (Harvey et al. 2010; Schultz and Dibble 2012), yet they are essential for understanding internal ecosystem processes and thus for guiding management.

The system used to explore the proposed regime shift at the centre of this thesis consisted of two submerged Hydrocharitaceae species, the native Lagarosiphon major (Ridl.) Moss and the invasive E. densa, and the floating invasive species, Pistia stratiotes (L.) (Araceae). The system was either subjected to herbivory to *P. stratiotes* by the biological control agent Neohydronomus affinis Hustache (Coleoptera: Curculionidae), or not, and also to varying regimes of nutrient loading. Although the system chosen to model the regime shift is relatively simple, consisting of two species types and two external pressures, in a review of evidence for alternate stable states (Schröder et al. 2005), increased complexity of systems did not correlate with rates of success in proving bi-stability. The model is dependent on competitive interactions under a range of varying resource availability between the three focus species. Competition experiments have been widely used to compare aquatic plants species occupying the same habitat within systems to elucidate mechanisms of invasions (Van et al. 1999; Hofstra et al. 1999; James et al. 2006; Mony et al. 2006), and it has been found that comparing native and invasive species closely related to each other maximises the validity of the findings (Vilà and Weiner 2004). Competition experiments have also been used to explore interactions between macrophytes occupying different habitats within a shared system in order to define the mechanisms of regime shifts. For example, Netten et al. (2010) assess the effect of temperature and nutrients on the competition between floating Salvinia natans (L.) (Salviniaceae) and submerged Elodea nuttallii Planch. St. John (Hydrocharitaceae),

with the aim of exploring the mechanisms of floating invasive plant dominance driven by global warming.

The first experiment in this study, exploring the effect of nutrients on the competition between the two Hydrocharitaceae species, *E. densa* and *L. major*, provided the baseline information for the competitive ability of invasive *E. densa*. *Egeria densa* was competitively superior to *L. major*, a relationship that was amplified under heavy nutrient loading. This adheres to other reports of increased competitive ability of submerged plants in increased nutrient loading; *Myriophyllum aquaticum* Vell. (Verdc.) (Haloragaceae) was found to only become problematic under heavy nutrient loading (Wersal and Madsen 2011), and Kennedy *et al.* (2009) report a 2.8 times increase in biomass of *Hydrilla verticillata* (L.f.) Royle Hydrocharitaceae) under high aquatic concentrations of nitrates compared to low.

Quantifying the competitive relationship between the native and invasive submerged species is vital for understanding the core interactions occurring within that layer of the model. The results presented in this thesis not only revealed the competitive advantage of *E. densa*, but also the strength of the effect of nutrient loading within the system. As the model crosses habitat boundaries, the next building block required was to understand how *L. major* and *E. densa* responded, individually, to the presence of another plant occupying a different habitat within the same system: floating *P. stratiotes*.

A major review of regime shift research identified that shifts are more likely to occur when anthropogenic pressures have reduced resilience by actions such as removing whole functional groups of species (Folke *et al.* 2004). The biological control programmes targeting floating invasive species in South Africa aim to do exactly that; remove a functional species. Even though the 'function' may not be a desired one, the ability of species such as *Salvinia molesta* D.S. Mitchell (Salviniaceae), water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes* (Mart.) Solms.

(Pontederiaceae)), water lettuce (*Pistia stratiot*es L. (Araceae)), and red water fern (*Azolla filiculoides* Lam. (Azollaceae)) to dominate and alter their environments indicates that just as their presence has ecological impacts (Hill 2003; Midgley *et al.* 2006; Tellez *et al.* 2008), so too will their removal.

The results from the mesocosm experiments comparing the growth of each submerged species separately, in scenarios where *P. stratiotes* is able to thrive (not subjected to control) and is partially removed from the system (subjected to biological control from N. affinis), found that in instances of controlled *P. stratiotes, E. densa* was able to capitalise on the newly available resources, and exhibited significantly increased growth rates compared to plants growing in the presence of non-controlled P. stratiotes. The findings provide quantifiable evidence not only of the effect controlling floating species can have on submerged plant communities, but also in support of the proposed regime shift occurring in mesocosms where P. stratiotes was subject to biological control. In addition, when E. densa populations started at the lowest planting density of 10% (compared to 90% P. stratiotes cover), the largest increase in plant growth (relative growth rate) and production of plants with highest quality shoots (inferred from C:N ratios) was demonstrated. These results, combined with the knowledge that E. densa autofragments and reproduces vegetatively (Cabrera Walsh et al. 2012), suggest that immediately post-establishment, this species has the ability to very quickly become problematic. Ideally, future management should therefore be aimed at minimising exposure of systems to E. densa by halting its spread across the region. Unfortunately, this is difficult due to naturally high connectivity of many aquatic systems, the continued ornamental and aquaria trade (Martin and Coetzee 2011), and accidental spread of plant fragments. For example, machinery employed to clear large stands of E. densa in Cape Town was not thoroughly cleaned after usage and it is believed that fragments caught on the machinery were then responsible for further spread of the plant to multiple sites across the city (*Pers. Comm.* City of Cape Town, Invasive Species Unit). Thus, as the introduction of *E. densa* into systems is already occurring, the next step should be to ensure that post-introduction the chances of successful establishment are as reduced as possible.

As stated by Suding *et al.* (2004), restoration of degraded systems, such as those dominated by floating invasive macrophytes, can be successional but it is not always linear. In a South African context, this means it is important to understand the full implications of current management options for floating plants on ecosystems and what that means for the sustainability and provision of South Africa's freshwater ecosystem services. The results obtained from the suite of experiments in this thesis indicate that current biological control programmes may not restore the degraded systems dominated by invasive floating macrophytes to the system quality required. This problem is amplified by the very nature of the systems; many of which are artificial and therefore the restoration of these systems is rarely to return them to their 'natural' state. Thus, the aim of the biological control initiatives against floating invasive plants is to diminish their populations and restore access to vital ecosystem resources such as potable water. However, the results suggest they may induce a system dominated by submerged invasive plants that reduce water quality and biodiversity.

Funk *et al.* (2008) explored restoration of systems through community reassembly. The authors take the concept of biotic resistance, a community's ability to limit the risk of invasion through competitive pressures (Elton 1958), and put it in the context of restoration. Funk *et al.* (2008) present evidence that selecting native species determined by resource-use traits to occupy vulnerable systems can increase resistance of a community to successful invasion. Indeed, several native aquatic plant species in North America have been found to
suppress the growth of the invasive *H. verticillata* by outcompeting the species for resources, Doyle *et al.* (2007) found that competition from *V. americana* reduced biomass of *H. verticillata* by 30-40% by limiting the spread of the plant into nearby containers compared to those grown with no competition from *V. americana*. Van *et al.* (1999) report that dominance from *H. verticillata* to *V. americana* can be induced by creating nutrient-limiting conditions

The degree to which biotic resistance is able to supress invasive success has been a point of debate. Historically, ecologists have suggested that biotic resistance is such a powerful process that systems with high resistance are able to prevent invasions altogether, concluding that is the reason some habitats remain free of invasive species (Elton 1958; Moulton and Pimm 1983; Kennedy *et al.* 2002). However, whilst a meta analysis of all biotic resistance studies in plant communities agreed that competition played a major role in successful biotic resistance (Levine *et al.* 2004), they failed to find enough evidence to support the theory that it could provide a complete barrier to successful plant invasions, and recognised the influence of other factors such as harsh environmental conditions to explain some systems' lack of invasive species.

Biotic resistance is potentially of great importance to South African invasive plant management, raising the possibility of intentionally managing systems to become less vulnerable to the negative impacts of submerged invasive plant establishment by purposely populating systems with native submerged plant species. All the experiments in this study found that nutrient loading plays a key role in the biotic resistance of the submerged species communities within the model system. The final experiment explored the potential effect of native *L. major* upon the relationship between floating *P. stratiotes* and submerged *E. densa*. In this scenario, and in the initial experiment that compared competitive ability of both submerged species without floating plants, in the absence of nutrient loading, the

competitive advantage of *E. densa* was considerably reduced. The results suggest that a combination of reduced nutrient loading and increasing native submerged plant populations can increase resilience of systems post-biological control of floating macrophytes. Reduction in nutrient loading is also associated with increased control of invasive floating macrophytes, therefore decreasing the resilience of stable states dominated by their presence (Heard and Winterton 2000; Coetzee *et al.* 2007; Coetzee and Hill 2012).

Within all of the experiments, the plants were subjected to two different nutrient regimes. The initial experiment used sediment-based nutrient loading (soil fertiliser), as nutrients in the sediment have been shown to positively affect growth rates of submerged plants (Barko and Smart 1986), and it has been suggested that nutrients in the soil are more important for submerged plant growth compared to nutrients in the water column (Xie et al. 2005). However, in all subsequent experiments where P. stratiotes was present, nutrients were added to the water column so that availability for resources was open to both the submerged and floating plants. Also, the importance of understanding the relationship between invasive macrophyte growth and fluctuations in nitrogen concentrations of the water column are recognised, especially when the context of the research is regarding systems polluted with dissolved nutrients such as poor sewage treatment and agricultural chemicals (Shardendu-Ambasht 1991; Kennedy et al. 2009). This is of particular importance to South Africa as these are the two predominant sources of nutrient loading that occur in the region (Oberholster and Ashton 2008; van Ginkel 2011). The results from the four experiments in this study show a competitive advantage of E. densa in high nutrients, regardless of the nutrient source.

Coetzee *et al.* (2011a) report a recent increase in the numbers of observations of invasive submerged macrophytes in South African fresh water systems, such as *H. verticillata*,

*E. densa* and Eurasian watermilfoil, *Myriophyllum spicatum* L. (Haloragaceae). The same ecological attributes of these systems that have historically been credited with enabling successful floating invasive plant establishment (eutrophic waters and a paucity of native macrophytes), have not since changed and now increase vulnerability to submerged invasive macrophytes. The evidence presented in this thesis reveals that a switch between floating invasive plant dominance can occur and it is now crucial to identify whether or not the switch is occurring in the field.

Demonstrating the occurrence of a regime shift in the field presents options for future research. The Rhodes University Biological Control Research Group (RUBC) undertakes annual nationwide surveys that document the presence and spread of invasive species in South African freshwater systems, as well as the efficacy of biological control programmes against floating aquatic macrophytes. Using these observations, in conjunction with historical data, the success of the biological control programmes can be assessed. These surveys offer an additional opportunity for detailed and regular assessment of changes in the compositions of submerged and floating plant communities which would provide excellent field data to test the hypothesis of the proposed regime shift in natural settings. This approach has been used to determine changes in plant composition in one South African system, the Vaal River, between 2006 and 2010 (Fordham 2012). A combination of field based sampling and Geographic Information Sysyetms (GIS) remote sensing was used to monitor spatial and temporal fluctuations in plant dominance. The study found that floating *E. crassipes* and submerged *M. spicatum* could not co-exist for extended periods of time, and changes in dominance between the two species was correlated with fluctuations in nitrate concentrations recorded within the water column, and the occurrence of localised flooding.

The use of field surveys has also been used to demonstrate the existence of other regime shifts. For example, Beaugrand (2004) used the monitoring and assessment of species composition and diversity, correlated with climatic data, to offer retrospective evidence of a hydro-climatic driven regime shift occurring in the North Sea between 1982 and 1988 with consequences for abundances of commercially harvested fish and shrimps.

Long-term field-based experiments of invaded South African freshwater systems could also provide valuable data to better parameterise the model developed here: rates of invasive plant and control agents establishment in the field, rates of control of floating plants at certain densities of biological control agents, and the differences within these interactions depending on localised water quality would all be viable areas for further investigation. Long term monitoring of plant community assemblages, along with environmental conditions such as changes in water quality may also present opportunities for developing early warning signals to detect a system's approach to a tipping point before a regime shift occurs. Carpenter et al. (2003) test the use of statistical early warning indicators, via monitoring of system perturbation return rates, for the advanced prediction of regime shifts within a lake ecosystem. They predict that prior to a predator-driven regime shift, from planktivorous fish domination to largemouth bass domination, a detectable sequence of non-linear changes to communities will occur. Through statistical analyses of variability, autocorrelation and recovery time, they were able to detect non-linear cascading trophic changes and concluded that such findings can be translated as early warning shift indicators.

If the biological control driven regime shift is found to occur in the field in South African systems, there are several implications for the future of South African freshwater ecosystem management. Reflecting on the past thirty years of research and implementation dedicated to invasive aquatic plant management in this region, control of four of five of the

worst offenders has been relatively straightforward with high success rates (Coetzee *et al.* 2011b). For example, in the 1980s, *S. molesta* was deemed one of the most problematic aquatic weeds in South Africa. The first biological control agent against *S. molesta* was released in 1985 (Cilliers 1991b), and by the late 1990s, control was achieved (Coetzee *et al.* 2011b). In 2008, field surveys by the RUBC concluded that despite successful biological control, *S. molesta* infestations occurred at more sites than anticipated, but the appropriate measures were taken to increase releases of the biological control agent, and by 2011, it was no longer deemed a problematic aquatic weed for South Africa (Coetzee *et al.* 2011b). Although *P. stratiotes* was not considered as problematic as *S. molesta*, a biological control initiative programme began in 1985 with the release of *N. affinis* (Cilliers 1991b). Post-release evaluations in 2008 report high levels of control, with *P. stratiotes* only present in ~7% of surveyed water bodies (Hill and Coetzee 2017).

Perhaps the most successful biological control programme in South Africa to date is the initiative against red water fern (*A. filiculoides*). The weevil *Stenopelmus rufinasus* Gyllenhall (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) was released in 1997, and within just five years, control was labelled sufficient to no longer consider red water fern a problematic species in South Africa (McConnachie *et al.* 2004). By 2008, complete control was evident at every site where the agent was released (Coetzee *et al.* 2011b).

Unfortunately, these success stories on floating weeds do not guarantee that controlling invasive submerged species will be as straightforward. Schmitz and Schartd (2015) claim that all of the "clearly successful" biological control programmes are associated with floating or emergent macrophytes and similar control of submerged plant species has proved more challenging. Looking at other regions of the globe for indications, control of submerged invasive species has presented several barriers to success. *Hydrilla verticillata*, which belongs

to the same family as *E. densa* (Hydrocharitaceae), has established in every continent except Antarctica (Cook and Luond 1982). Between the period of 1980 and 2005, the state of Florida,USA, spent \$174 million on *H. verticillata* control (Schmitz 2007). The first biological control agent was released in the USA in 1988 and over a quarter of a century later, it is still considered the most problematic aquatic plant in the USA (Gu 2006; True-Meadows *et al.* 2016). Control through mechanical and herbicidal methods have also had little success in limiting the threat *H. verticillata* has to potable water supplies, biodiversity and flood risks (Wheeler and Center 2001).

Australia has battled to control the South American native *Cobomba caroliniana* Gray (Cabombaceae), a fast growing species that grows well in slow-moving water bodies and is listed as an Australian Weed of National Significance (Schooler *et al.* 2006). Following rapid spread via vegetative reproduction, infestations of the plant have negatively affected populations of Australia's native species of fish, platypus and water-rats. As with *H. verticillata*, herbicides offer limited control and mechanical removal is costly and made harder by the preference of the species to grow in deep waters (Mackey and Swarbick 1997; Schooler 2008). A search for potential biological control agents began in 2003, and by 2010, just one agent was deemed to be potentially host specific; *Hydrotimetes natans* Kolbe (Coleoptera: Curculionidae). A study of the biology of the agent concluded the weevil has a narrower thermal tolerance range than the target plant, suggesting control to be limited to areas of ideal climate (Cabrera-Walsh *et al.* 2011). Other examples of limited control of submerged invasive species include the programmes against *M. spicatum* in the USA, and *L. major* in New Zealand and Republic of Ireland (Rattray *et al.* 1994; Madsen 2002; Caffery 2008).

The difficulties associated with the control of submerged species is cause for concern to South African invasive plant management. *Hydrilla verticillata* was first recorded from the

Pongolapoort Dam on the Pongola River in KwaZulu-Natal in 2006 (Coetzee 2006). *Cabomba caroliniana* has been previously earmarked as a potential threat to South Africa, and although not recorded in any freshwater systems to date, the species is available through the country's aquarium trade (Martin and Coetzee 2011). Also, the plant thrives in slow moving waters with a wide thermal tolerance range, increasing South Africa's susceptibility (Coetzee *et al.* 2011a; Schooler 2008; Martin and Coetzee 2011).

These examples highlight the difficulties associated with the control of invasive submerged plants that suggest, once established, systems dominated by such species are highly resilient. Scheffer *et al.* (2003) explain that in the absence of floating plants to compete for resources, submerged macrophytes are able to generate positive feedbacks sustaining their stability. Examples of mechanisms include an ability to outcompete algae for nutrients, outcompete phytoplankton for light, provide habitat for algal-grazing zooplankton, stabilise sediments and the production of allelopathic compounds inhibiting growth of algae. Highly resilient systems mean that even if suitable biological control agents can be identified for use in South Africa against submerged invasive species, restoring systems dominated by these plants may be challenging.

A further point of consideration is that South Africa is in the relatively early stages of research into biological control of submerged macrophytes. Reflecting on the progress of biological control research to manage floating invasive plants, sourcing suitable agents and completing full host specificity trials can be a lengthy process. This further supports the claim that if systems where a switch to submerged invasive plant dominance is likely to occur can be identified, a priority for management should be to explore strategies that minimise chances of successful invasive submerged plant establishment. The results presented in this thesis demonstrate the highly competitive capability of *E. densa*. However, they also reveal

the capacity for management techniques, such as bottom-up water quality restoration, to reduce that trait, and these findings can be extrapolated in to the landscape of South African invasive plant management. Continued experimental and observational research, in both controlled laboratory and natural field settings, that consider wider temporal, spatial and trophic scales, can improve resilience of systems. The model presented in Chapter Five allows a wider perspective on the potential interactions between bottom-up and top-down management strategies on the sustainability of vulnerable systems. Further trait-based experiments on the invasive species established and potentially threatening to South Africa will allow improvements and tailoring of the model to guide prioritisation of most at-risk systems. There is a paucity of research into the effects of invasive macrophytes on trophic dynamics, and such studies are essential to define system level processes (Schultz and Dibble 2012). Large-scale multi-system comparisons have been suggested as a useful tool in regime shift research, especially for systems where field experiments are logistically compromised (Conversi *et al.* 2015).

To conclude, this thesis has successfully achieved the original aim under which it was written: to use a multi-platform approach to build the first body of evidence in support of a newly recognised regime shift between floating invasive and submerged invasive plant dominance, as driven by biological control. The results suggest the proposed regime shift can occur, but further field testing is required to establish whether or not it is occurring following successful nationwide biological control. The results also indicate that a reduction in the nutrient loading of South Africa's freshwater systems will reduce negative impacts of submerged invasive macrophytes, and will increase system resilience against future colonisations. Finally, the results encourage further studies into the potential impacts of artificially increasing native vegetation diversity and abundance, with the aim of supressing

invasive macrophyte success. The evidence presented has the potential to better inform management of South Africa's freshwater systems. It was intended to be the first step of a wider scheme and the results highlight the benefit of continuing multi-trophic considerations for future invasive plant management, as well as opening up a multitude of possibilities for research into the mechanisms of submerged plant invasions and resilience of native macrophyte communities in South Africa, and beyond.

References

## References

- Anderies, J., Janssen, M. and Walker, B. 2002. Grazing management, resilience, and the dynamics of a fire-driven rangeland system. *Ecosystems* **5**(1): 23-44.
- Andersen, T., Carstensen, J., Hernandez-Garcia, E. and Duarte, C.M. 2009. Ecological thresholds and regime shifts: approaches to identification. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **24**(1): 49-57.
- Ashton, P.J., Hardwick, D. and Breen, C.M. 2008. Changes in water availability and demand within South Africa's shared river basins as determinants of regional social-ecological resilience. In: *Exploring sustainability science: A southern African perspective*. Burns MJ, Weaver AvB (eds). Stellenbosch University Press: Stellenbosch
- Ayres, D.R., Smith, D.L., Zaremba K., Klohr S. and Strong D.R. 2004. Spread of exotic cordgrasses and hybrids (*Spartina* sp.) in the tidal marshes of San Francisco Bay, California, USA. *Biological Invasions* **6**: 221-231.
- Bachmann, R.W., Hoyer M.V. and Canfield Jr. D.E. 1999. The restoration of Lake Apopka in relation to alternate stable states. *Hydrobiologia* **394**: 219-232.
- Baker, H.G. and Stebbins, G.L. 1965. Characteristics and modes of origin of weeds. In: *The Genetics of Colonizing Species*. Baker, H.G. and Stebbins, G.L. (eds). Academic Press. New York p.p.147-168.
- Balciunas, J.K., Burrows, D.W. and Purcell, M.F. 1996. Comparison of the physiological and realized host-ranges of a biological control agent from Australia for the control of the aquatic weed, *Hydrilla verticillata*. *Biological Control* **7**(2): 148-158.

- Barko, J.W. and Smart, R.M. 1981. Comparative influences of light and temperature on the growth and metabolism of selected submersed freshwater macrophytes. *Ecological Monographs* **51**(2): 219-236.
- Barko, J.W., Smart, R.M., McFarland, D.G. and Chen, R.L. 1988. Interrelationships between the growth of *Hydrilla verticillata* (Lf.) Royle and sediment nutrient availability. *Aquatic Botany* **32**(3): 205-216.
- Basson, M.S., Van Niekerk, P.H. and Van Rooyen, J.A. 1997. *Overview of water resources availability and utilisation in South Africa*. Department of Water Affairs and Forestry.
- Beaugrand, G. 2004. The North Sea regime shift: evidence, causes, mechanisms and consequences. *Progress in Oceanography* **60**(2): 245-262.
- Beisner, B.E., Haydon D.T. and Cuddington, K. 2003. Alternative stable states in ecology. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* **1**(7): 376-382.
- Berg, J.A., Meyer, G.A. and Young, E.B. 2016. Propagule pressure and environmental conditions interact to determine establishment success of an invasive plant species, glossy buckthorn (*Frangula alnus*), across five different wetland habitat types. *Biological Invasions* **18**(5): 1363-1373.
- Bickel, T. O. and Closs, G. P. 2008. Fish distribution and diet in relation to the invasive macrophyte *Lagarosiphon major* in the littoral zone of Lake Dunstan, New Zealand. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **17**: 10–19.
- Bini, L.M. and Thomaz, S.M. 2005. Prediction of Egeria najas and Egeria densa occurrence in a large subtropical reservoir (Itaipu Reservoir, Brazil-Paraguay). Aquatic Botany 83(3): 227-238.
- Bini, L. M., Thomaz, S. M., Murphy, K. J. and Camargo, A. F. M. 1999 Aquatic macrophyte distribution in relation to water and sediment conditions in the Itaipu Reservoir, Brazil.

*Hydrobiologia* **415**: 147–154.

- Biggs, R., Blenckner, T., Folke, C., Gordon, L., Norström, A., Nyström, M. and Peterson, G.D. 2012. Regime Shifts. In: *Encyclopedia of Theoretical Ecology*. A. Hastings, L. Gross (eds). University of California Press, Ewing, NJ, USA.
- Blindow, I. Andersson, G., Hargeby, A. and Johansson, S. 1993. Long-term pattern of alternative stable states in two shallow eutrophic lakes. *Freshwater Biology* **30**:159–167.
- Borgnis, E. and Boyer, K. E. 2016. Salinity tolerance and competition drive distributions of native and invasive submerged aquatic vegetation in the Upper San Francisco Estuary. *Estuaries and Coasts* **39**(3): 707–717.
- Bownes, A., Hill, M.P. and Byrne, M.J. 2010. Evaluating the impact of herbivory by a grasshopper, *Cornops aquaticum* (Orthoptera: Acrididae), on the competitive performance and biomass accumulation of water hyacinth, *Eichhornia crassipes* (Pontederiaceae). *Biological Control* **53**(3): 297-303.
- Box, G.E. and Draper, N.R. 1987. *Empirical model-building and response surfaces* New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Brix, H. and Shierup, H.H. 1989. The use of aquatic macrophytes in water-pollution control. *Ambio* **18**(2): 100-107.
- Bulling, M.T., White, P.C., Raffaelli, D. and Pierce, G.J. 2006. Using model systems to address the biodiversity–ecosystem functioning process. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **311**: 295-309.
- Bryant, J. P., Chapin, F. S., Klein, D. R. and Carbon, D. R. 1983. Carbon / nutrient balance of boreal plants in relation to vertebrate herbivory. *Oikos* **40**(3): 357–368.

- Cabrera-Walsh, G., Magalí Dalto, Y., Mattioli, F.M., Carruthers, R.I. and Anderson, L.W. 2013. Biology and ecology of Brazilian elodea (*Egeria densa*) and its specific herbivore, *Hydrellia sp.*, in Argentina. *BioControl* **58**(133): 1-15.
- Caffrey, J.M., Barrett, P.R.F., Ferreira, M.T., Moreira, I.S., Murphy, K.J. and Wade, P.M. 1999. Competition between three submerged macrophytes, *Elodea canadensis* Michx., *Elodea nuttallii* (Planch.) St. John and *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridl.) Moss. *Biology, Ecology and Management of Aquatic Plants* **415:** 35-40.
- Caffrey, J.M., Evers S.M. and Moran H. 2008. *Research and Control Programme* for Lagarosiphon major in Lough Corrib. Central Fisheries Board Internal Report.
- Caffrey, J.M., Evers, S., Millane, M. and Moran, H. (2011) Management of Lagarosiphon major (Ridley) moss in Lough Corrib. Biology and Environment 11 1B (3): 205 – 212
- Caraco, N. F. and Cole, J. J. 2002. Contrasting impacts of a native and alien macrophyte on dissolved oxygen in a large river. *Ecological Applications* **12**: 1496–1509.
- Caraco, N., Cole, J., Findlay, S., and Wigand, C. 2006 Vascular plants as engineers of oxygen in aquatic systems. *BioScience* **56**: 219–225.
- Carpenter, S.R. and Cottingham, K.L. 1997. Resilience and restoration of lakes. *Conservation Ecology* **1**(1): 2-3.
- Carrillo, Y., Guarín, A. and Guillot, G. 2006. Biomass distribution, growth and decay of *Egeria densa* in a tropical high-mountain reservoir (NEUSA, Colombia). Aquatic Botany **85**(1): 7–15.
- Case, T.J. 1990. Invasion resistance arises in strongly interacting species-rich model competition communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **87**(24): 9610-9614.

- Center, T.D. 1994. Biological control of weeds: water hyacinth [*Eichhornia crassipes*] and water lettuce [*Pistia stratiotes*]. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [online] available at <u>http://agris.fao.org/agris-</u> <u>search/search.do?recordID=GB9602237</u> [accessed July 12 2016].
- Center ,T.D., Grodowitz, M.J., Cofrancesco, A.F, Jubinsky, G., Snoddy, E. and Freedman, J.E. 1996. Establishment of *Hydrellia pakistanae* (Diptera: Ephydridae) for the biological control of the submersed aquatic plant *Hydrilla verticillata* (Hydrocharitaceae) in the Southeastern United States. *Biological Control* **8:** 65-73.
- Chase, J.M. 2003. Experimental evidence for alternative stable equilibria in a benthic pond food web. *Ecology Letters* **6(**8): 733-741.
- Chang, Y.C. Hong, F.W. and Lee, M.T. 2008. A system dynamic based DSS for sustainable coral reef management in Kenting coastal zone, Taiwan. *Ecological Modelling* **211**(1): 153-168.
- Chatzinikolaou, E. 2013. Use and limitations of ecological models. *Transitional Waters Bulletin* **6**(2): 34-41.
- Chen, R.L. and Barko. J.W. 1988. Effects of freshwater macrophytes on sediment chemistry. Journal of Freshwater Ecology **4**(3): 279-289.
- Chimney, M.J. and Pietro, K.C. 2006. Decomposition of macrophyte litter in a subtropical constructed wetland in south Florida (USA). *Ecological Engineering* **27**(4): 301-321.
- Cilliers, C.J. 1991a. Biological control of water hyacinth, *Eichhornia crassipes* (Pontederiaceae), in South Africa. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* **37**: 207-217.
- Cilliers, C.J. 1991b. Biological control of water fern, *Salvinia molesta*, in South Africa. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* **37**: 219–224.

- Cilliers, C.J. 1991c Biological control of water lettuce, *Pistia stratiotes* (Araceae), in South Africa. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **37**: 225-229.
- Cilliers, C.J. and Neser, S. 1991. Biological control of *Lantana camara* (Verbenaceae) in South Africa. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, **37**: 57-75.
- Coetzee, J.A., Center, T.D., Byrne, M.J. and Hill, M.P. 2005. Impact of the biocontrol agent *Eccritotarsus catarinensis*, a sap-feeding mirid, on the competitive performance of water hyacinth, *Eichhornia crassipes*. *Biological Control* **32**(1): 90-96.
- Coetzee, J.A., Byrne, M.J. and Hill, M.P. 2007. Impact of nutrients and herbivory by *Eccritotarsus catarinensis* on the biological control of water hyacinth, *Eichhornia crassipes*. *Aquatic Botany* **86**(2): 179-186.
- Coetzee, J.A. Bownes, A. and Martin, G. 2011a. Prospects for the biological control of submerged macrophytes in South Africa. *African Entomology* **19**(2): 469-487.
- Coetzee, J.A. Hill, M.P., Byrne, M.J. and Bownes, A. 2011b. A review of the biological control programmes on *Eichhornia crassipes* (C.Mart.) Solms (Pontederiaceae), *Salvinia molesta* D.S.Mitch. (Salviniaceae), *Pistia stratiotes* L. (Araceae), *Myriophyllum aquaticum* (Vell.) Verdc. (Haloragaceae) and *Azolla filiculoides* Lam. (Azollaceae) in South Africa. *African Entomology* **19**(2): 451–468.
- Coetzee, J. and Hill, M.P. 2012. The role of eutrophication in the biological control of water hyacinth, *Eichhornia crassipes*, in South Africa. *BioControl* **57**: 247-261.
- Colautti, R.I., Grigorovich, I.A. and MacIsaac, H.J. 2006. Propagule pressure: a null model for biological invasions. *Biological Invasions* **8**(5): 1023-1037.
- Conversi, A., Dakos, V., Gårdmark, A., Ling, S., Folke, C., Mumby, P.J., Greene, C., Edwards, M., Blenckner, T., Casini, M. and Pershing, A. 2015. A holistic view of marine regime

shifts. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Science* **370** (20130279).

- Cook, C.D. 2004. Aquatic and wetland plants of southern Africa: an identification manual for the stoneworts (Charophytina), liverworts (Marchantiopsida), mosses (Bryopsida), quillworts (Lycopodiopsida), ferns (Polypodiopsida) and flowering plants (Magnoliopsida) which grow in water and wetlands of Namibia, Botswana, Swaziland, Lesotho and Republic of South Africa. Backhuys Publisers. Leiden, The Netherlands.
- Cook, C.D., Gut, B.J., Rix, E.M. and Schneller, J. 1974. *Water plants of the world: a manual for the identification of the genera of freshwater macrophytes*. Dr. W. Junk b.v. Publishers. The Hague. p.p. 262
- Cook, C.D. and Lüönd, R. 1982. A revision of the genus *Hydrilla* (Hydrocharitaceae). *Aquatic Botany* **13:** 485-504.
- Cook, C.D. and Urmi-König, K. 1984. A revision of the genus *Egeria* (Hydrocharitaceae). *Aquatic Botany* **19**(1-2): 73-96.
- Coops, H. and Doef, R.W. 1996. Submerged vegetation development in two shallow, eutrophic lakes. *Hydrobiologia* **340**: 115-120.
- Crawley, M.J. 1989. Insect herbivores and plant population dynamics. *Annual Review of Entomology* **34**: 531-564.
- Crawley, M.J., Brown, S.L., Heard, M.S. and Edwards, G.R. 1999. Invasion-resistance in experimental grassland communities: species richness or species identity? *Ecology Letters* **2**(3): 140-148.

Cuda, J.P., Charudattan, R., Grodowitz, M.J., Newman, R.M., Shearer J.F., Tamayo, M.L. and

Villegas, B. 2008. Recent advances in biological control of submersed aquatic weeds. Journal of Aquatic Plant Management **46:** 15-32.

- Culliney, T.W. 2005. Benefits of classical biological control for managing invasive plants. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* **24**(2): 131-150.
- Daehler, C.C. 2003. Performance comparisons of co-occurring native and alien invasive plants: implications for conservation and restoration. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* **34:** 183-211.
- Dahm, C. N., Grimm, N. B., Marmonier, P., Valett, H. M. and Vervier, P. 1998. Nutrient dynamics at the interface between surface waters and ground waters. *Freshwater Biology* **40**: 427–451.
- D'Antonio, C.M. and Chambers, J.C. 2006. Using ecological theory to manage or restore ecosystems affected by invasive plant species. In: *Foundations of Restoration Ecology*, Falk, D.A., Palmer, M.A. and Zedler, J.B. (eds). Island Press pp.260-279.
- Dawson, W., Fischer, M. and Van Kleunen, M. 2011. The maximum relative growth rate of common UK plant species is positively associated with their global invasiveness. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **20** (2): 299–306.
- Davis, M.A., Grime J.P. and Thompson, K. 2000. Fluctuating resources in plant communities: a general theory of invasibility. *Journal of Ecology* **88:** 528-534.
- De Bach, 1964. Biological Control of Insect Pests and Weeds. Chapman and Hall Ltd., London pp. 844
- De Lange, W.J. and van Wilgen, B.W. 2010. An economic assessment of the contribution of biological control to the management of invasive alien plants and to the protection of ecosystem services in South Africa. *Biological Invasions* **12**(12): 4113-4124.

- De Loach, C. J. 1997. Biological control of weeds in the United States and Canada. In: Assessment and Management of Plant Invasions. J.O. Luken and J.W. Thieret (eds.). Springer, NY. pp. 172-194.
- De Young, C., Charles, A. and Hjort, A. 2008. *Human dimensions of the ecosystem approach to fisheries: an overview of context, concepts, tools and methods*. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Dick, J.T.A., Alexander, M.E., Jeshke, J.M., Ricciardi, A., MacIsaac, J.A. 2013a. Advancing impact prediction and hypothesis testing in invasion ecology using a comparative functional response approach. *Biological Invasions* **16**(4): 735-753
- Dick, J.T.A., Gallager, K., Avlijas, S., Clarke, H.C., Lewis, S.E. 2013b. Ecological impacts of an invasive predator explained and predicted by comparative functional responses. *Biological Invasions* **15**: 837-846.
- Diop, O., Coetzee, J.A. and Hill, M.P. 2010. Impact of different densities of *Neohydronomus affinis* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) on *Pistia stratiotes* (Araceae) under laboratory conditions. *African Journal of Aquatic Science* **35**(3): 267-271.
- DiTomaso, J.M. and Healy, E.A. 2003. *Aquatic and riparian weeds of the west* (Publication 3421). University of California Agriculture and Natural Resources. Oakland, California.
- Dobson, A., Bradshaw A.D. and Baker A.J.M. 1997. Hopes for the future: restoration ecology and conservation biology. *Science* **227** (5325): 515-522.
- D'Odorico, P., Okin, G. S. and Bestelmeyer, B.T. 2012. A synthetic review of feedbacks and drivers of shrub encroachment in arid grasslands. *Ecohydrology* **5**: 520–530.
- Dostal, P., Mullerova J., Pysek, P., Pergl, J. and Klinerova, T. 2013. The impact of invasive plant changes over time. *Ecology Letters* **16**: 1277-1284.

- Doyle, R., Grodowitz, M., Smart, M. and Owens, C. 2007. Separate and interactive effects of competition and herbivory on the growth, expansion, and tuber formation of *Hydrilla verticillata*. *Biological Control* **41**(3): 327-338.
- Duarte, C.M. 1995. Submerged aquatic vegetation in relation to different nutrient regimes. *Ophelia* **41**(1): 87-112.
- Dunham, A.E. and Beaupre, S.J. 1988. Chapter 2: Ecological Experiments: scale, phenomenology, mechanism and the illusion of generality. In: *Experimental ecology: issues and perspectives*. Resetarits, W.J. and Bernardo, J. (eds). Oxford University Press. New York. p.p. 27-49
- Ehrenfeld, J.G. 2003. Effects of exotic plant invasions on soil nutrient cycling processes. *Ecosystems* 6(6): 503-523.
- Eisworth, M.E. and Cornelis van Kooten, G. 2002. Uncertainty, economics and the spread of invasive plants. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* **84**(5): 1317-1322.
- Elton, C.S. 1958. *The Ecology of Invasions by Animals and Plants*. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- Evans, G.C. 1972. Studies in Ecology Volume 1: The Quantitative Analysis of Plant Growth. University of California Press. Blackwell Scientific Publications. Berkeley and Los Angeles. pp. 295-314
- Feijoó, C. S. Momo, F. R., Bonetto, C. A. and Tur, N. M. 1996. Factors influencing biomass and nutrient content of the submersed macrophyte *Egeria densa Planch*. in a pampasic stream. *Hydrobiologia* **341**(1): 21–26.
- Finnoff, D. and Tschirhart, J. 2005. Identifying, preventing and controlling invasive plant species using their physiological traits. *Ecological Economics* **52**(3): 397-416.

- Foley, J.A., DeFries, R., Asner, G.P., Barford, C., Bonan, G., Carpenter, S.R., Chapin, F.S., Coe,
  M.T., Daily, G.C., Gibbs, H.K. and Helkowski, J.H. 2005. Global consequences of land
  use. *Science* 309(5734): 570-574.
- Folke, C., Carpenter, S., Walker, B., Scheffer, M., Elmqvist, T., Gunderson, L. and Holling, C.S.
  2004 Regime shifts, resilience and biodiversity in ecological management. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 35: 557–81.
- Folke, C., Chapin, F.S. III and Olsson, P. 2009. Chapter 5: Transformations in ecological stewardship. In: *Principles of ecosystem stewardship: Resilience-based natural resource management in a changing world*. Chapin, F.S. III, Kofinas, G.P. and Folke, C. (eds). Springer publishing. New York. p.p. 103-128
- Fordham, C. 2012. A spatial and temporal analysis of the changes in alien macrophyte communities and a baseline assessment of the macroinvertebrates associated with Eurasian water-milfoil in the Vaal river. Unpublished MSc Dissertation Rhodes University, South Africa.
- Funk, J.L., Cleland, E.E., Suding, K.N. and Zavaleta, E.S. 2008. Restoration through reassembly: plant traits and invasion resistance. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **23**(12): 695-703.
- García-Llorente, M., Martín-López, B., González, J.A., Alcorlo, P. and Montes, C. 2008. Social perceptions of the impacts and benefits of invasive alien species: implications for management. *Biological Conserv*ation **141**: 2969–2983.
- Gassmann, A., Cock, M.J., Shaw, R. and Evans, H.C. 2006. The potential for biological control of invasive alien aquatic weeds in Europe: a review. *Hydrobiologia*, **570**(1): 217-222.
- Getsinger, K.D. and Dillon, C.R. 1984. Quiescence, growth and senescence of *Egeria densa* in Lake Marion. *Aquatic Botany* **20**(3-4): 329-338.

- Gopal, B. and Goel, U. 1993. Competition and allelopathy in aquatic plant communities. *The Botanical Review* **59**(3): 155-210.
- Gossett, D.R. and Norris, Jr., W.E. 1971. Relationship between nutrient and nitrogenous phosphorus in tissues of the aquatic macrophyte, *Eichhornia crassipes* (Mart.) Solms. *Hydrobiologia* **38**(1): 15-28.
- Green, E.K. and Galatowitsch, S.M. 2002. Effects of *Phalaris arundinacea* and nitrate addition on the establishment of wetland plant communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **39**(1): 134-144.
- Gross, P., Hawkins, B.A., Cornell, H.V. and Hosmane, B. 2005. Using lower trophic level factors to predict outcomes in classical biological control of insect pests. *Basic and Applied Ecology* **6**(6): 571-584.
- Grotkopp, E., Rejmanek, M. and Rost, T. L. 2002. Toward a causal explanation of plant invasiveness: seedling growth and life-history strategies of 29 pine (*Pinus*) species. *The American Naturalist* **159**(4): 396–419.
- Gu, B. 2006. Environmental conditions and phosphorus removal in Florida lakes and wetlands inhabited by *Hydrilla verticillata* (Royle): implications for invasive species management. *Biological Invasions* **8**(7): 1569-1578.
- Haller, W.T. and Sutton, D.L. 1975. Community structure and competition between *Hydrilla* and *Vallisneria*. *Hyacinth Control Journal* **13**: 48-50.
- Hammer, D.A. and Knight, R.K .1994. Designing constructed wetlands for nitrogen removal. Water Science and Technology **29**(4): 15-27.
- Haramoto, T. and Ikusima, I. 1988. Life cycle of *Egeria densa* (Planch.), an aquatic plant naturalized in Japan. *Aquatic Botany* **30**(4): 389-403.

- Harley, K.L.S., Kassulke, R.C., Sands, D.P.A. and Day, M.D. 1990. Biological control of water
   lettuce, *Pistia stratiotes* [Araceae] by *Neohydronomus affinis* [Coleoptera:
   Curculionidae]. *Entomophaga* 35(3): 363-374.
- Heard, T.A. and Winterton, S.L. 2000. Interactions between nutrient status and weevil herbivory in the biological control of water hyacinth. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **37**(1): 117-127.
- Henry-Silva, G.G., Camargo, A.F.M. and Pezzato, M.M. 2008. Growth of free-floating aquatic macrophytes in different concentrations of nutrients. *Hydrobiologia* **610**(1): 153-160.
- Hill, B.H. 1979. Uptake and release of nutrients by aquatic macrophytes. *Aquatic Botany* **7**: 87-93.
- Hill, M.P. 2003. The impact and control of alien aquatic vegetation in South African aquatic ecosystems. *African Journal of Aquatic Science* **28**(1): 19-24.
- Hill, M.P. and Coetzee, J.A. 2017. The biological control of aquatic weeds in South Africa: current status and future challenges. *Bothalia*, in press.
- Hoagland, D. R. and Arnon, D.I. 1938. Growing plants without soil by the water culture method. California Agricultural Experimental Station, University of California. College of Agriculture p.p. 29-32
- Hofstra, D.E., Clayton, J., Green, J.D. and Auger, M. 1999. Competitive performance of *Hydrilla verticillata* in New Zealand. *Aquatic Botany* **63**(3): 305-324.
- Holland, J.N., Cheng, W. and Crossley Jr, D.A. 1996. Herbivore-induced changes in plant carbon allocation: assessment of below-ground C fluxes using carbon-14. *Oecologia* **107**(1): 87-94.

- Holle, B.V. and Simberloff, D. 2005. Ecological resistance to biological invasion overwhelmed by propagule pressure. *Ecology* **86**(12): 3212-3218.
- Holling, C.S. 1973. Resilience and stability of ecological systems. *Annual Review of Ecology* and Systematics **4**: 1-23.
- Hood, G.H. and Naiman, R.J. 2000 Vulnerability of riparian zones to invasion by exotic vascular plants. *Plant Ecology* **148**(1): 105–114.
- Horvitz, C.C. and Schemske, D.W. 2002. Effects of plant size, leaf herbivory, local competition and fruit production on survival, growth and future reproduction of a neotropical herb. *Journal of Ecology* **90**(2): 279-290.
- Howard-Williams, C. and Davies, J. 1988. The invasion of Lake Taupo by the submerged water weed *Lagarosiphon major* and its impact on the native flora. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology* **11**: 13-19.
- Hull-Sanders, H.M., Clare, R., Johnson, R.H. and Meyer, G.A., 2007. Evaluation of the evolution of increased competitive ability (EICA) hypothesis: loss of defense against generalist but not specialist herbivores. *Journal of chemical ecology*. **33:** 781.
- Hussner, A., Stiers, I., Verhofstad, M.J.J.M., Bakker, E.S., Grutters, B.M.C., Haury, J., van Valkenburg, J.L.C.H., Brundu, G., Newman, J., Clayton, J.S. and Anderson, L.W.J. 2017.
  Management and control methods of invasive alien freshwater aquatic plants: A review. *Aquatic Botany* 136: 112-137.
- ISSG (The Invasive Species Specialist Group) 2006. *Global invasive species database* [online] Available at: http://www.issg.org/database/species/ecology.asp?si=403 [Accessed October 26 2013].

IUCN (The international Union for the Conservation of Nature) 2013 100 Worst Invasive

Species. [online] Available at <u>http://www.iucngisd.org/gisd/100\_worst.php</u> [Accessed December 2014]

- Jarić, I. and Cvijanović, G. 2012. The tens rule in invasion biology: measure of a true impact or our lack of knowledge and understanding? *Environmental Management* **50**: 979
- James, C.S., Eaton, J.W. and Hardwick, K. 2006. Responses of three invasive aquatic macrophytes to nutrient enrichment do not explain their observed field displacements. *Aquatic Botany* **84**(4): 347-353.
- Janes, R.A., Eaton, J.W. and Hardwick, K. 1996. The effects of floating mats of *Azolla filiculoides* Lam. and *Lemna minuta* Kunth on the growth of submerged macrophytes. *Hydrobiologia* **340**(1-3): 23-26.
- Janse, J.H. and Van Puijenbroeck P.J.T.M. 1998. Effects of eutrophication in drainage ditches. *Environmental Pollution* **102**: 547-552.
- Jeger, M.J. and Xu, X-M. 2015. Modelling the dynamics of a plant pathogen and a biological control agent in relation to flowering pattern and populations present on leaves. *Ecological Modelling* **313**: 13-28.
- Jeschke, J.M., Aparicio, L.G., Haider, S., Heger, T., Lortie, C.J., Pysek, P. and Streyer, D.L. 2012. Support for major hypotheses in invasion biology is uneven and declining. *NeoBiota* **14**: 1 – 20.
- Jewell, W.J. 1971. Aquatic weed decay: dissolved oxygen utilization and nitrogen and phosphorus regeneration. *Water Pollution Control Federation* **43**(7): 1457-1467.
- Jones, C.G., Lawton, J.H. and Shachak, M. 1994. Organisms as ecosystem engineers. *Oikos* 69: 373-386
- Julien, M.H., Bourne A.S. and Chan R.R. 1987. Effects of adult and larval Cyrtobagous salviniae

on the floating weed Salvinia molesta. Journal of Applied Ecology 24(3): 935-944.

- Kandori, I., Hirao, T., Matsunaga, S. and Kurosaki, T. 2009. An invasive dandelion unilaterally reduces the reproduction of a native congener through competition for pollination. *Oecologia* **159**(3): 559-569.
- Kasselmann, C. 1995. Aquarienpflazen. Egen Ulmer GMBH and Co., Stuttgart, Germany. p.p.472. (in German).
- Kay, S.H. and Hoyle, S.T. 2011 Mail order, the internet and invasive aquatic weeds. *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management* **39:** 88-91.
- Keane, R.M. and Crawley, M.J. 2002. Exotic plant invasions and the enemy release hypothesis. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **17**(4): 164-168.
- Kelly, R., Leach, K., Cameron, A., Maggs, C.A. and Reid, N. 2014. Combining global climate and regional landscape models to improve prediction of invasion risk. *Diversity and Distributions* **20**(8): 884-894.
- Kennedy, T.A., Naeem, S., Howe, K.M., Knops, J.M., Tilman, D. and Reich, P. 2002. Biodiversity as a barrier to ecological invasion. *Nature* **417**(6889): 636-638.
- Kennedy, T.L., Horth, L.A. and Carr, D.E. 2009 The effect of nitrate loading on the invasive macrophyte *Hydrilla verticillata* and two common, native macrophytes in Florida. *Aquatic Botany* **91**(3): 253-256.
- Kessler, A. and Baldwin, I.T. 2001. Defensive function of herbivore-induced plant volatile emissions in nature. *Science* **291**(5511): 2141-2144.
- Kolar, C. S. and Lodge, D. M. 2001. Progress in invasion biology. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **16**(4): 199-204.
- Lacoul, P. and Freedman, B. 2006. Environmental influences on aquatic plants in freshwater ecosystems. *Environmental Reviews* **14**: 89-136.

- Law, R. and Morton, R.D. 1996. Permanence and the assembly of ecological communities. *Ecology* **77**(3): 762-775.
- Levine, J.M., Vila, M., D'Antonio, C.M., Dukes, J.S., Grigulis, K. and Lavorel, S. 2003. Mechanisms underlying the impacts of exotic plant invasions. *Proceedings of the Royal Society, Biological Sciences* **270**:775–781.
- Levine, J.M., Adler, P.B. and Yelenik, S.G. 2004. A meta-analysis of biotic resistance to exotic plant invasions. *Ecology letters* **7**(10): 975-989.
- Lodge, D.M. 1991. Herbivory on freshwater macrophytes. Aquatic Botany 41(1): 195-224.
- Longhi, D., Bartoli, M. and Viaroli, P. 2008. Decomposition of four macrophytes in wetland sediments: Organic matter and nutrient decay and associated benthic processes. *Aquatic Botany* **89**(3): 303-310.
- Lotka, A. J. 1924. *Elements of Mathematical Biology*, (reprinted 1956) Dover Publications, New York.
- Louda, S.M., Keeler, K.H. and Holt, R.D. 1990. *Herbivore Influences On Plant Performance And Competitive Interactions*. Academic Press Inc. San Diego, California. pp. 413-444.
- Louda, S. M., Pemberton, R. W., Johnson, M. T. and Follett, P. A. 2003. Nontarget effects the Achilles' heel of biological control? Retrospective Analyses to Reduce Risk Associated with Biocontrol Introductions. *Annual Review of Entomology* **48**(1): 365–396.
- Lu, Q., He, Z.L., Graetz, D.A., Stoffella, P.J. and Yang, X. 2010. Phytoremediation to remove nutrients and improve eutrophic stormwaters using water lettuce (*Pistia stratiotes* L.) *Environmental Science Pollution Research* **17**(1): 84-96.

- Ludwig, J.A. and Tongway, D. 1997. Chapter: The conservation of water and nutrients within landscapes. In: Landscape Ecology Function and Management: Principles from Australia's Rangelands. CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, Australia. p.p. 13-22
- Madeira, P.T., Coetzee, J.A., Center, T.D., White, E.E. and Tipping, P.W. 2007. The origin of *Hydrilla verticillata* recently discovered at a South African dam. *Aquatic Botany* **87**: 176–180.
- Mackey, A.P. and Swarbrick, J.T. 1997. The biology of Australian weeds. 32. *Cabomba* caroliniana Gray. *Plant Protection Quarterly* **12**: 154-165.
- Madsen, J. 1991. Resource allocation at the individual plant level. Aquatic Botany 41: 67-86.
- Madsen, J.D., Getsinger, K.D., Stewart, R.M. and Owens, C.S. 2002. Whole lake fluridone treatments for selective control of Eurasian watermilfoil: II. Impacts on submersed plant communities. *Lake and Reservoir Management* **18**(3): 191-200.
- Mangan, R. and Baars, J. 2013. Use of life table statistics and degree day values to predict the colonisation success of *Hydrellia lagarosiphon* Deeming (Diptera: Ephydridae), a leaf mining fly of *Lagarosiphon major* (Ridley) Moss (Hydrocharitaceae), in Ireland and the rest of Europe. *Biological Control* **64**(2): 143:151.
- Maron, J.L. and Crone E. 2006. *Herbivory: effects on plant abundance, distribution and population growth*. Proceedings of the Royal Society, *Biological Sciences* **273**(1601): 2575-2584.
- Martin, G.D. and Coetzee, J. A. 2011. Pet stores, aquarists and the internet trade as modes of introduction and spread of invasive macrophytes in South Africa. *Water SA* 37(3): 371 380.

- Mazzeo, N., Rodríguez-Gallego, L., Kruk, C., Meerhoff, M., Gorga, J., Lacerot, G., Quintans, F., Loureiro, M., Larrea, D. and García-Rodríguez, F. 2003. Effects of *Egeria densa* Planch. beds on a shallow lake without piscivorous fish. *Hydrobiologia* **506**(1-3): 591-602.
- McCallum, H. 2008. *Population Parameters: Estimation For Ecological Models* Blackwell Science Ltd. Oxford. pp. 14-48
- McConnachie, A.J., Hill, M.P. and Byrne, M.J. 2004. Field assessment of a frond-feeding weevil, a successful biological control agent of red waterfern, *Azolla filiculoides*, in southern Africa. *Biological control* **29**(3): 326-331.
- McCreary, N.J. 1991. Competition as a mechanism of submersed macrophyte community structure. *Aquatic Botany* **41**(1-3): 177-193.

McEvoy, P. 1996. Host specificity and biological pest control. *BioScience* **46**(6): 401-405.

- McGregor, P.G. and Gourlay, H. 2002. Assessing the prospects for biological control of *Lagarosiphon (Lagarosiphon major* (Hydrocharitaceae)). *DOC Science Internal Series* 57. Department of Conservation, Wellington, NZ. pp. 8-12
- McLelland, J.W. and Valiela, I. 1998. Changes in food web structure under the influence of increased anthropogenic nitrogen inputs to estuaries. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **168:** 259-271.
- McNaughton, S.J. 1983. Compensatory plant growth as a response to herbivory. *Oikos* **40**(3): 329-336.
- Menge, B.A. and Sutherland J.P. 1976. Species diversity gradients: Synthesis of the roles of predation, competition and temporal heterogeneity. *The American Naturalist* **110**: 351-369.

- Midgley, J.M., Hill, M.P. and Villet, M.H. 2006. The effect of water hyacinth, *Eichhornia crassipes* (Martius) Solms-Laubach (Pontederiaceae), on benthic biodiversity in two impoundments on the New Year's River, South Africa. *African Journal of Aquatic Science* **31**(1): 25–30.
- Mitchell, D.S. 1978. Aquatic weeds in Australian inland waters. Australian Government Publishing Service. Canberra
- Mitchell, D.S. 1985. Surface-floating aquatic macrophytes. In: *The Ecology And Management Of African Wetland Vegetation* Vol. 6 Geobotany. Denny, P. (eds) Springer Netherlands. pp. 109-124.
- Mony, C., Koschnick, T.J., Haller, W.T. and Muller, S. 2007. Competition between two invasive Hydrocharitaceae (*Hydrilla verticillata* (L.f.) (Royle) and *Egeria densa* (Planch)) as influenced by sediment fertility and season. *Aquatic Botany* **86**(3): 236-242.
- Moore, G.R. and Hill, M.P. 2012. A quantitative post-release evaluation of biological control of water lettuce, *Pistia stratiotes L*. (Araceae) by the weevil *Neohydronomus affinis* Hustache (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) at Cape Recife Nature Reserve, Eastern Cape Province, South Africa. *African Entomology* **20**(2): 380-385.
- Moorhouse, T.P. and Mcdonald, D.W. 2015. Are invasives worse in freshwater than terrestrial ecosystems? *Water Interdisciplinary Reviews* **2**(1): 1-54
- Morris, K., Bailey, P.C., Boon, P.I. and Hughes, L. 2003. Alternative stable states in the aquatic vegetation of shallow urban lakes. II. Catastrophic loss of aquatic plants consequent to nutrient enrichment. *Marine and Freshwater Research* **54**(3): 201-215.
- Morris, K., Harrison K, A., Bailey P. C. E., Boon P. I., 2004. Domain shifts in the aquatic vegetation of shallow urban lakes: the relative roles of low light and anoxia in the catastrophic loss of

the submerged angiosperm *Vallisneria americana*. *Marine and Freshwater Research* **55**: 749-758.

- Moulton, M.P. and Pimm, S.L. 1983. The introduced Hawaiian avifauna: biogeographic evidence for competition. *American Naturalist* **121**(5): 669-690.
- NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT: BIODIVERSITY ACT (NEMBA). 2014. Alien Invasive Species Regulations, 2014. *Government Gazette: Republic of South Africa* **590**: 1-32
- Netten, J.J.C., Arts, G.H.P., Gylstra, R., Van Nes, E.H., Scheffer, M. and Roijackers, R.M.M. 2010. Effect of temperature and nutrients on the competition between free-floating *Salvinia natans* and submerged *Elodea nuttallii* in mesocosms. *Fundamental and Applied Limnology* **177**(2): 125–132.
- Neuenschwander, P., Julien, M.C., Center, T.D. and Hill, M.P. 2009. Chapter 17: *Pistia stratiotes* L. (Araceae). In: *Biological Control Of Tropical Weeds Using Arthropods*. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge, UK. p.p. 332-347
- Nichols, S. A. and Shaw, B. H. 1986. Ecological life histories of the three aquatic nuisance plants, *Myriophyllum spicatum, Potamogeton crispus* and *Elodea canadensis*. *Hydrobiologia* **131**(1): 3–21.
- Nolzen, H., Biggs, R. and Peterson, G. 2013. Regime shift database submerged to floating plants. [online] available at <u>http://www.regimeshifts.org/item/87-submerged-to-floating-plant</u> [accessed Jan 1 2017].
- Noy-Meir, I. 1982. Stability Of Plant-Herbivore Models And Possible Applications To Savanna. In *Ecology Of Tropical Savannas Vol. 24 of Ecological Studies* Huntley, B.J. (eds) Springer Berlin Heidelberg. p.p. 591-609.

- Oberholster, P.J and Ashton, P.J. 2008. *State of the Nation Report: An overview of the current status of water quality and eutrophication in South African rivers and reservoirs* Parliamentary Grant Deliverable. Pretoria: Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR).
- Odume, O.N., Palmer, C.G., Arimoro, F.O. and Mensah, P.K., 2016. Chironomid assemblage structure and morphological response to pollution in an effluent-impacted river, Eastern Cape, South Africa. *Ecological Indicators*. **67**: 391-402.
- Olff, H. and Ritchie, M.E. 1998. Effects of herbivores on grassland plant diversity. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **13**(7): 261-265.
- Oliver, J.D. 1993. A review of the biology of Giant Salvinia (*Salvinia molesta* Mitchell). *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management* **31**: 227-231.
- Padilla, D.K. and Williams, S.L. 2004. Beyond ballast water: aquarium and ornamental trades as sources of invasive species in aquatic ecosystems. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* **2**(3): 13-138.
- Pantone, D.J., Williams, W.A. and Maggenti, A.R. 1989. An alternative approach for evaluating the efficacy of potential biocontrol agents of weeds. 1. Inverse linear model. *Weed Science* **37**(6): 771-777.
- Palmer, W.A., Heard, T.A. and Sheppard, A.W. 2010. A review of Australian classical biological control of weeds programs and research activities over the past 12 years, *Biological Control* **52**(3): 271-287.
- Pearson, D. E. and Callaway, R. M. 2003. Indirect effects of host-specific biological control agents. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **18**(9): 456–461.

- Pennington, T.G. and Sytsma, M.D. 2009. Seasonal changes in carbohydrate and nitrogen concentrations in Oregon and California populations of Brazilian *Egeria (Egeria densa*). *Invasive Plant Science and Management* **2**(2): 120-129.
- Pinto, S. M. and Ortega, Y.K. 2016. Native species richness buffers invader impact in undisturbed but not disturbed grassland assemblages. *Biological Invasions* **18**: 3193:3204
- Pistori, R.E.T., Camargo, A.F.M. and Henry-Silva, G.G. 2004. Relative growth rate and doubling time of the submerged aquatic macrophyte *Egeria densa* Planch. *Acta Limnoogica Brasiliensia* **16**(1): 77-84.

Plagányi, É.E. 2007. `. Food and Agriculture Organization Technical Paper (No. 477). p.p. 3-37

- Pokorny, M.L., Sheley, R.L., Zabinski, C.A., Engel, R.E., Svejcar, T.J. and Borkowski, J.J. 2005. P`lant functional group diversity as a mechanism for invasion resistance. *Restoration Ecology* **13**: 448–459.
- Pokorný, J. and Rejmánková, E., 1983. Oxygen regime in a fishpond with duckweeds (Lemnaceae) and Ceratophyllum. *Aquatic Botany*. **17(**2): 125-137.
- Prach, K., Bartha, S., Joyce, C. B., Pyšek, P., van Diggelen, R. and Wiegleb, G. 2001. The role of spontaneous vegetation succession in ecosystem restoration: A perspective. *Applied Vegetation Science* **4**:111–114.
- Pratt, P.D., Rayamajhi, M.B., Van, T.K., Center, T.D. and Tipping P.W. 2005. Herbivory alters resource allocation and compensation in the invasive *Melaleuca quinquenervia*. *Ecological Entomology* **30**(3): 316-326.
- Price, P.W. 2000. Host plant resource quality, insect herbivores and biocontrol. In Spencer,
   N.R., editor. (Ed.) *Proceedings of the X International Symposium on Biological Control of Weeds*, 4–14 July 1999. Montana State University. Bozeman, Montana. p.p. 551–567

- Rabalais, N.N. 2002. Nitrogen in aquatic ecosystems. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment **31**(2): 102-112.
- Raghu, S., Dhileepan, K. and Scanlan, J.C. 2007. Predicting risk and benefit *a priori* in biological control of invasive plant species: A systems modelling approach. *Ecological Modelling*.
   208: 247-262.
- Rattray, M. R., Howard-Williams, C. and Brown, J. M. A. 1994. Rates of early growth of propagules of *Lagarosiphon major* and *Myriophyllum triphyllum* in lakes of differing trophic status. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* **28**(3): 235-241.
- Reddy, K. R. and W. F. De Busk. 1985. Nutrient removal potential of selected aquatic macrophytes. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **14**:459-462.
- Reddy, K.R., Patrick, W.H. and Lindau, C.W. 1989. Nitrification-denitrification at the plant root-sediment interface in wetlands. *Limnology and Oceanography* **34**(6): 1004-1013.
- Richards, C.L., Bossdorf, O., Muth, N.Z., Gurevitch, J. and Pigliucci, M. 2006. Jack of all trades, master of some? On the role of phenotypic plasticity in plant invasions. *Ecology Letters* **9**(8): 981-993.
- Richardson, D.M., Pysek, P., Rejmanek, M., Barbour, M.G., Panetta, D.F. and West, C.J. 2000. Naturalization and invasion of alien plants: concepts and definitions. *Diversity and distributions* **6**: 93-107
- Ripley, B.S., Muller, E., Behenna, M., Whittington-Jones, G.M. and Hill, M.P. 2006. Biomass and photosynthetic productivity of water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*) as affected by nutrient supply and mirid (*Eccritotarus catarinensis*) biocontrol. *Biological Control* **39**(3): 392-400.

- Sax, D.F. 2002. Native and naturalized plant diversity are positively correlated in scrub communities of California and Chile. *Diversity and Distributions* **8**(4): 193-210.
- Sax, D.F., Stachowitz, J.J., Brown, J.H., Bruno, J.F., Dawson, M.N., Gaines, S.D., Grosberg, R.K.,
  Hastings, A., Holt, R.D., Mayfield, M.M., O'Connor, M.I. and Rice, W.R. 2007. Ecological and evolutionary insights from species invasions. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 22(9): 465.
- Scheffer, M. 2009. Alternative stable states and regime shifts in ecosystems. In: *The Princeton Guide to Ecology*. Levin, S.A., Carpenter, R.S., Godfray, H.C.J., Kinzig, A.P.,Loreau, M., Losos, J.B., Walker, B. and Wilcove, B.S. (eds). Princeton University Press, Princeton. pp. 359-406.
- Schefffer, M. and Carpenter, S.R. 2003. Catastrophic regime shifts in ecosystems: linking theory to observation. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **18**(12): 648-656.
- Scheffer, M., Carpenter, S., Foley, J.A., Folke, C. and Walker, B. 2001. Catastrophic shifts in ecosystems. *Nature* **413**(6856): 591-596.
- Scheffer, M., Szabó, S., Gragnani, A., van Nes, E.H., Rinaldi, S., Kautsky, N., Norberg, J., Roijackers, R.M.M., Franken, R.J.M. 2003. Floating plant dominance as a stable state. PNAS **100**(7): 4040-4045.
- Scheller, R.M., Sturtevant, B.R., Gustafson, E.J., Ward, B.C. and Mladenoff, D.J. 2010. Increasing the reliability of ecological models using modern software engineering techniques. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* **8**(5): 253-260.
- Schmitz, D.C. 2007. Florida's invasive plant research: Historical perspective and the present research program. *Natural Areas Journal* **27**(3): 251-253.
- Schmitz, D.C. and Schardt, J. 2015. Successful invasive plant management in Florida. *Aquatics* **37**: 4-7.

- Scholes, R. J. 2003. Convex Relationships in Ecosystems Containing Mixtures of Trees and Grass. *Environmental and Resource Economics* **26**:559-574.
- Scholes, B., Biggs, R., Rocha, J.C., Luvuno, L. and Peterson, G. 2017. Bush Encroachment. Regime Shifts Database [online] available at: https://www.regimeshifts.org [accessed Jan 2017].
- Schooler, S.S. 2008. Shade as a management tool for the invasive submerged macrophyte, *Cabomba caroliniana. Journal of Aquatic Plant Management* **46**: 168-171.
- Schooler, S., Julien, M. and Walsh, G.C. 2006. Predicting the response of *Cabomba caroliniana* populations to biological control agent damage. *Australian Journal of Entomology* **45**(4): 327-330.
- Schroder, A. Persson L., De Roos A.M. 2005. Direct experimental evidence for alternative stable states: a review. *OIKOS* **110**: 3-19
- Schultz, R. and Dibble, E. 2012. Effects of invasive macrophytes on freshwater fish and macroinvertebrate communities: the role of invasive plant traits. *Hydrobiologia* **684**(1): 1-14.
- Schwarz, A.M. and Howard-Williams, C. 1993. Aquatic weed-bed structure and photosynthesis in two New Zealand lakes. *Aquatic Botany* **46**(3-4): 263-281.
- Schwinning, S. and Weiner, J. 1998. Mechanisms determining the degree of size asymmetry in competition among plants. *Oecologia* **113**(4): 447-455.
- Sendzimir, J., Magnuszewski, P., Balogh, P. and Vari, A. 2007. Anticipatory modeling of biocomplexity in the Tisza River Basin: first steps to establish a participatory adaptive framework. *Environmental Modelling and Software* **22**(5): 599-609.

- Shardendu-Ambasht, R.S. 1991 Relationship of nutrients in water with biomass and nutrient accumulation of submerged macrophytes of a tropical wetland. *New Phytologist* **117**: 493–500.
- Sharip, Z., Schooler, S., Hipsey, M. R. and Hobbs, R. 2012. Eutrophication, agriculture and water level control shift aquatic plant communities from floating-leaved to submerged macrophytes in Lake Chini, Malaysia. *Biological Invasions* **14**: 1029–1044.
- Shilla, D., Asaeda, T., Fujino, T. and Sanderson, B. 2006. Decomposition of dominant submerged macrophytes: implications for nutrient release in Myall Lake, NSW Australia. *Wetlands Ecology and Management* **14(**5): 427–433.
- Smart, R.M., Barko, J.W. and McFarland, D.G. 1994. *Competition between Hydrilla verticillata and Vallisneria americana under different environmental conditions*. Technical Report-A-94-1. US Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station. Aquatic Plant Control Research Program. Vicksburg, Mississippi.

Smith, R. 2017. The potential of *Hydrellia egeriae* rodrigues (diptera: ephydridae) as a biocontrol agent for *Egeria densa* planch. (Hydrocharitaceae) in South Africa

Unpublished MSc Dissertation Rhodes University, South Africa.

- Smith, V.H., Tilman, G.D. and Nekola, J.C. 1999. Eutrophication: impacts of excess nutrient inputs on freshwater, marine, and terrestrial ecosystems. *Environmental pollution* **100**(1): 179-196.
- Spencer, D.F. and Ksander, G.G. 2000. Interactions between American pondweed and monoecious *hydrilla* grown in mixtures. *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management* **38:** 5-13.
- Spitters, C.J.T. 1983. An alternative approach to the analysis of mixed cropping experiments,
  1: Estimation of competition effects. *Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science* **31**: 111
- Stiers, I., Njambuya, J. and Triest, L. 2011a. Competitive abilities of invasive Lagarosiphon major and native Ceratophyllum demersum in monocultures and mixed cultures in relation to experimental sediment dredging. Aquatic Botany **95**(2): 161-166.
- Stiers, I., Crohain, N., Josens, G., and Triest, L. 2011b. Impact of three aquatic invasive species on native plants and macroinvertebrates in temperate ponds. *Biological Invasions* **13**(12): 2715-2726.
- Suding, K.N. and Hobbs, R.J. 2009. Threshold models in restoration and conservation: a developing framework. *Trends in ecology and evolution* **24**(5): 271-279.
- Suding, K.N., Gross, K.L. and Houseman, G.R. 2004. Alternative states and positive feedbacks in restoration ecology. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **19**(1): 46-53.
- Sutton, G.F., Compton, S.G. and Coetzee, J.A. 2016. Naturally occurring phytopathogens enhance biological control of water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*) by *Megamelus scutellaris* (Hemiptera: Delphacidae), even in eutrophic water. *Biological Control* **103**: 261-268.
- Szabo, S., Scheffer, M., Roijackers, R., Waluto, B., Braun, M., Nagy, P. T. and Zambrano, L.
  2010. Strong growth limitation of a floating plant (*Lemna gibba*) by the submerged macrophyte (*Elodea nuttallii*) under laboratory conditions. *Freshwater Biology* 55(3): 681–690.
- Tavechio, W.L.G. and Thomaz, S.M. 2003. Effects of light on the growth and photosynthesis of *Egeria najas* Planchon. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology* **46**(2): 203-209.

- Téllez, T.R., López, E.M.D.R., Granado, G.L., Pérez, E.A., López, R.M. and Guzmán, J.M.S. 2008. The water hyacinth, *Eichhornia crassipes*: an invasive plant in the Guadiana River Basin (Spain). *Aquatic Invasions* **3**(1): 42-53.
- Tilman, D. 1988. *Plant Strategies And The Dynamics And Structure Of Plant Communities*. Princeton University Press. Princeton, New Jersey. p.p. 184-212
- Tipping, P.W., Bauer, L., Martin, M.R. and Center, T.D. 2009. Competition between *Salvinia* minima and *Spirodela polyrhiza* mediated by nutrient levels and herbivory. *Aquatic* botany **90**(3): 231-234.
- Titus, J.E. and Adams, M.S. 1979. Coexistence and the comparative light relations of the submersed macrophytes *Myriophyllum spicatum* L. and *Vallisneria americana* Michx. *Oecologia* **40**(3): 273-286.
- True-Meadows, S., Haug, E.J. And Richardson, R.J. 2016. Monoecious hydrilla—A review of the literature. *Journal of Aquatic Plant Management* **54**: 1–11.
- Van Ginkel, C.E. 2011. Eutrophication: Present reality and future challenges for South Africa. *Water SA* **37**(5): 693-701.
- Van Leteren, J.C., Bale J., Bigler F., Hokkanen H.M.T. and Loomans A.J.M. 2006. Assessing risks of releasing exotic biological control agents of arthropod pests. *Annual Review of Entomology* **51**:609-634.
- Van, T.K., Wheeler G.S. and Center T.D. 1999. Competition between *Hydrilla verticillata* and *Vallisneria americana* as influenced by soil fertility. *Aquatic Botany* **62**: 225-233.
- Van Wilgen, B.W., Richardson, D.M., Le Maitre, D.C., Marais, C. and Magadlela, D. 2001. The economic consequences of alien plant invasions: examples of impacts and approaches to sustainable management in South Africa. *Environment, Development and Sustainability* **3**(2): 145-168.

- Vermaat, J.E., Santamaria, L. and Roos, P.J. 2000. Water flow across and sediment trapping in submerged macrophyte beds of contrasting growth form. *Archiv für Hydrobiologie* **148**(4): 549-562.
- Vila, M. and Weiner, J. 2004. Are invasive plant species better competitors than native plant species? Evidence from pair-wise experiments. *Oikos* **105**(2): 229-238.
- Vila, M., Espinar, J.L., Hejda, M., Hulme, P.E., Jaros\_ık, V. and Maron, J.L. 2011. Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* **14**: 702–708.
- Villamagna, A.M. and Murphy, B.R., 2010. Ecological and socio-economic impacts of invasive water hyacinth (*Eichhornia crassipes*): a review. *Freshwater biology*. **55** (2): 282-298.
- Vitousek, P.M., Aber J.D., Howarth R.W., Likens G.E., Matson P.A., Schindler D.W., Schlesinger W.H. and Tilman D.G. 1997. Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: sources and consequences. *Ecological Applications* **7**(3): 737-750.
- Walker, B. and Meyers, J.A. 2004. Thresholds in ecological and social–ecological systems: a developing database. *Ecology and Society* **9**(2): 3.
- Walker, B.H. 1993. Rangeland ecology: understanding and managing change. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment* **22**: 2-3.
- Walmsley, R.D. 2000. Perspectives on eutrophication of surface waters: Policy/research needs in South Africa. WRC report No. KV129/00. Water Research Commission, Pretoria, South Africa.
- Weiner, J. and Thomas, S. 1986. Size variability and competition in plant monocultures. *Oikos* **47**(2): 211-222.

- Wells, R.D. and Clayton, J.S. 1991. Submerged vegetation and spread of *Egeria densa* Planch. in Lake Rotorua, central North Island, New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* **25**(1): 63-70.
- Wersal, R.M. and Madsen, J.D. 2011. Influences of water column nutrient loading on growth characteristics of the invasive aquatic macrophyte *Myriophyllum aquaticum* (Vell.) Verdc. *Hydrobiolo*gia **665**(1): 93.
- Westphal, M.I., Browne, M., MacKinnon, K. and Noble, I. 2008. The link between international trade and the global distribution of invasive alien species. *Biological Invasions* **10**(4): 391-198.
- Wheeler, G.S. and Center, T.D. 2001. Impact of the biological control agent *Hydrellia pakistanae* (Diptera: Ephydridae) on the submersed aquatic weed *Hydrilla verticillata* (Hydrocharitaceae). *Biological Control* **21**(2): 168-181.
- White, T. C. R. 1984. The abundance of invertebrate herbivores in relation to the availability of nitrogen in stressed food plants. *Oecologia* **63**(1): 90–105.
- Williams, J. R. 1954. The biological control of weeds. In: *Report of the Sixth Commonwealth Entomological Congress*, London, U.K. p.p. 94-98

Williamson, M. and Fitter, A. 1996. The varying success of invaders. *Ecology* 77(6): 1661-1666.

- Winston, R.L., Schwarzländer, M., Hinz, H.L., Day, M.D., Cock, M.J.W and Julien, M.H. 2014.
   *Biological Control of Weeds: A World Catalogue of Agents and Their Target Weeds*, 5th
   edition. USDA Forest Service, Forest Health Technology Enterprise Team, Morgantown,
   West Virginia. FHTET-2014-04. pp.838
- Wright, J.P. and Jones, C.G. 2006. The concept of organisms as ecosystem engineers ten years on: progress, limitations, and challenges. *BioScience* **56**(3): 203-209.

Xie, Y., Wen, M., Yu, D. and Li, Y. 2004. Growth and resource allocation of water hyacinth as

affected by gradually increasing nutrient concentrations. Aquatic Botany 79: 257–266.

- Xie, Y., An, S. and Wu, B. 2005. Resource allocation in the submerged plant *Vallisneria natans* related to sediment type, rather than water-column nutrients. *Freshwater Biology* **50**(3), 391–402.
- Yarrow, M. Marín, V. H., Finlayson, M., Tironi, A., Delgado, L. E. and Fischer, F. 2009. The ecology of *Egeria densa* planchon (Liliopsida: Alismatales): A wetland ecosystem engineer. *Revista Chilena de Historia Natural* **82**(2): 299–313.
- Young, T.P. 2000. Restoration ecology and conservation biology. *Biological Conservation* **92**(1): 73-83.

# Appendices

## APPENDIX A

Mean ( $\pm$ S.E.) recorded levels of Nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>) and Ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>) in the water of each mesocosm containing *Egeria densa* and *Pistia stratiotes*.

10%	Nutrient and BC treatment									
E. densa	Very low		Low		High		Very High			
	+ BC	-BC	+ BC	-BC	+ BC	-BC	+ BC	-BC		
Mean (±S.E.)	2.56	3.47	2.61	1.05	2.61	1.05	2.82	0.75		
NITRATE (mg/l)	(±0.66)	(±0.83)	(±0.49)	(±0.26)	(±0.49)	(±0.26)	(±0.77)	(±0.24)		
Mean (±S.E.)	0.1	0.06	0.10	0.007	0.10	0.007	0.21	0.009		
AMMONIUM (mg/l)	(±0.03)	(±0.02)	(±0.04)	(±0.03)	(±0.04)	(±0.03)	(±0.11)	(±0.03)		

50%	Nutrient and BC treatment								
E. densa	Very low		Low		High		Very High		
	+ BC	-BC	+ BC	-BC	+ BC	-BC	+ BC	-BC	
Mean (±S.E.)	7.02	1.27	7.94	1.37	5.35	1.64	11.64	5.07	
NITRATE (mg/l)	(±2.12)	(±0.28)	(±3.00)	(±0.28)	(±1.16)	(±0.28)	(±1.86)	(±1.67)	
Mean (±S.E.)	0.14	0.06	0.07	0.06	0.06	0.07	0.38	0.55	
AMMONIUM (mg/l)	(±0.07)	(±0.03)	(±0.03)	(±0.02)	(±0.02)	(±0.02)	(±0.09)	(±0.16)	

90%	Nutrient and BC treatment								
E. densa	Very low		Low		High		Very High		
	+ BC	-BC	+ BC	-BC	+ BC	-BC	+ BC	-BC	
Mean (±S.E.)	24.73	11.95	27.14	9.79	10.96	14.05	21.60	17.70	
NITRATE (mg/l)	(±4.56)	(±2.38)	(±5.97)	(±2.20)	(±1.93)	(±1.92)	(±1.08)	(±2.30)	
Mean (±S.E.)	0.04	0.20	0.05	0.09	0.06	0.03	0.31	0.32	
AMMONIUM (mg/l)	(±0.02)	(±0.13)	(±0.02)	(±0.05)	(±0.02)	(±0.02)	(±0.12)	(±0.11)	

#### APPENDIX B.

#### i)

Weekly levels of ammonium and nitrate recorded in mesocosms containing 10% *Egeria densa* and 90% *Pistia stratiotes* under four different initial nutrient treatments (A = 'very low', B = 'low', C = 'high', D = 'very high'), and subjected to presence (+BC) and absence (-BC) of the biological control agent, *Neohydronomus affinis*, on *P. stratiotes*.





Weekly levels of ammonium (Amm) and nitrate (Ni) recorded in mesocosms containing 50% *Egeria densa* and 50% *Pistia stratiotes* under four different initial nutrient treatments (A = 'very low', B = 'low', C = 'high', D = 'very high'), and subjected to presence (+BC) and absence (-BC) of the biological control agent, *Neohydronomus affinis*, on *P. stratiotes*.



## iii)

Weekly levels of ammonium (NH4) and nitrate (NO3) recorded in mesocosms containing 90% *Egeria densa* and 50% *Pistia stratiotes* under four different initial nutrient treatments (A = 'very low', B = 'low', C = 'high', D = 'very high'), and subjected to presence (+BC) and absence (-BC) of the biological control agent, *Neohydronomus affinis*, on *P. stratiotes*.





## Appendix C – distribution map of Egeria densa in South Africa (Smith 2017)

Appendix D. Sediment analyses for Jameson Dam, EC, South Africa.

Measurement:	pН	Na	К	Са	Mg	С	N
Unit:	KCI	Cmol/kg	Cmol/kg	Cmol/kg	Cmol/kg	%	%
Value recorded:	3.9	0.25	0.09	1.99	1.38	1.61	0.11